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NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING AND AGENDA

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
TUESDAY, DECEMBER 12, 2023
9:00 A.M.

Las Vegas Convention Center — Board Room
3150 Paradise Road
Las Vegas, Nevada 89109

BOARD OF DIRECTORS:

Commissioner Jim Gibson, Chair Commissioner Michael Naft
Mayor Pamela Goynes-Brown, Secretary Mayor Michelle Romero
Mr. Scott DeAngelo, Treasurer Ms. Mary Beth Sewald
Councilman Cedric Crear Mr. Steve Thompson
Mayor Carolyn Goodman Councilman Steve Walton
Mr. Brian Gullbrants Councilman Brian Wursten

Ms. Jan Jones Blackhurst

THIS PUBLIC MEETING IS PROPERLY NOTICED AND POSTED AT THE FOLLOWING LOCATIONS:

Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority (LVCVA) — 1st Floor Administration Offices
3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, NV 89109

LVCVA Website: www./vcva.com/agenda
Nevada Public Notice Website:_Attps.//notice.nv.qgov/

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (BOARD) MAY:

CONSIDER AGENDA ITEMS OUT OF ORDER,;
COMBINE TWO OR MORE AGENDA ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION; AND
REMOVE OR DELAY DISCUSSION ON ANY AGENDA ITEM AT ANY TIME.

AGENDA

OPENING CEREMONIES
Call to Order

Roll Call
Pledge of Allegiance

COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC

The first public comment period is limited to comments on items on the agenda. Items raised under this portion of the
agenda cannot be deliberated or acted upon until the notice provisions of the Nevada Open Meeting Law have been met.
If you wish to speak to the Board at this time, please step up to the podium and clearly state your name and spell your first
and last name for the record. COMMENTS ARE LIMITED TO THREE (3) MINUTES IN LENGTH.
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APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND MINUTES

Approval of the Agenda.
For possible action.

Approval of the Minutes from the November 14, 2023, Regular Meeting of the Board.
For possible action.

BOARD APPOINTMENT

Pursuant to NRS 244A.603(1)(g)(2), the following nominee has been submitted by the Nevada Resort Association for the
term ending June 30, 2025.

In accordance with NRS 244A.603, only elected Board Members may vote on
the possible appointment of the following nominee:

Ann Hoff — MGM Resorts International

For possible action.

Oath of Office will be administered to the newly appointed Member of the Board.

OFFICER VACANCY - ELECTION

In accordance with NRS 244A.605(4) and LVCVA Board Policy 1.03.2, when a vacancy occurs in an officer position, the
vacancy must be filled by the Board at its first regularly scheduled meeting following the vacancy. The officer elected to
fill a vacancy shall serve out the unexpired term of his or her predecessor.

e Vice Chair

For possible action.

Oath of Office will be administered to the newly elected Officer of the Board.

COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS

Pursuant to Board Policy 1.04(5), members of the Board’s Committees are selected by the Board Chair, after first
soliciting the other Board Members' interest in serving in the various capacities and considering their relevant
expertise, and subject to ratification by the Board.

The Board shall consider and vote to ratify the Board Chair’s selection of Committee Members and Chairs.
For possible action.

PRESENTATIONS

Presentations by the LVCVA Staff

LVCVA staff will deliver presentations on Operations, Marketing and Sales achievements, People and Culture,
and General Government highlights.

This is an informational item and does not require Board action.

LVCVA STAFF REPORTS AND REQUESTED ACTIONS

1. Special Events Update
Representatives from the Las Vegas Super Bowl Host Committee will provide an event update to the
Board of Directors.

This is an informational item and does not require Board action.
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2. Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
That the Board review the fiscal year (FY) 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report, including
independent auditors’ reports.

This is an informational item and does not require Board action.

COMMITTEES

3. Policy Committee Report and Recommendations
The Policy Committee met on November 29, 2023, to discuss items A and B below.

The Policy Committee Chair will present a report and give the Committee’s recommendations, if
any, to the Board.

Iltem A. Review and Approval of Proposed Amendments to Board Policies
That the Board review and approve the proposed amendments to Board Policies as
recommended by the Policy Committee.

For possible action.

Iltem B. Policy Committee Charter Review and Evaluation of Committee
That the Board review and approve the proposed revisions to the Policy Committee Charter as
recommended by the Policy Committee.

For possible action.

COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC

This public comment period is for any matter that is within the jurisdiction of the Board. Items raised under this portion of
the agenda cannot be deliberated or acted upon until the notice provisions of the Nevada Open Meeting Law have been
met. If you wish to speak to the Board at this time, please step up to the podium and clearly state your name and spell
your first and last name for the record. COMMENTS ARE LIMITED TO THREE (3) MINUTES IN LENGTH.

ADJOURNMENT

Persons are invited to submit written remarks for all matters, both on and off the agenda. Written remarks presented for inclusion in the
Board’'s minutes must be flat, unfolded, on paper of standard quality, and 8% by 11 inches in size. Written remarks shall not exceed five
(5) pages in length. The LVCVA will not accept for filing any submission that does not comply with this rule. On a case-by-case basis,
the Board may permit the filing of noncomplying [sic] written remarks, documents, and related exhibits pursuant to NRS 241.035(1)(e).

To submit ideas to the LVCVA, please visit https://www.lvcva.com/who-we-are/meetings-and-minutes/

The Board’'s meeting rooms are accessible to persons with disabilities. If special arrangements are required, please contact the
Customer Safety Department at: 702-892-7400, which is a 24-hour Dispatch Control Center, or contact Silvia Perez in the Board Office

at: 702-892-2802 or sperez@Ilvcva.com

Members of the Board may participate in this meeting via telephone conference call.

For information or questions regarding this agenda please contact:
Silvia Perez, Executive Assistant to the Board
3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, Nevada 89109

702-892-2802 or sperez@lvcva.com

Supporting materials for this meeting are available at 3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, NV 89109 or by contacting Silvia Perez at 702-

892-2802 or sperez@Ivcva.com



https://www.lvcva.com/who-we-are/meetings-and-minutes/
mailto:sperez@lvcva.com
mailto:sperez@lvcva.com
mailto:sperez@lvcva.com

MINUTES

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors
November 14, 2023
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The Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors (Board) of the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority
(LVCVA) was held on November 14, 2023, at the Las Vegas Convention Center, 3150 Paradise Road, Las
Vegas, Nevada 89109. This meeting was properly noticed and posted in compliance with the Nevada Open
Meeting Law.

Board of Directors (Board)
Present unless otherwise noted

Commissioner Jim Gibson, Chair Ms. Jan Jones Blackhurst

Mr. Anton Nikodemus, Vice Chair Commissioner Michael Naft

Mayor Pamela Goynes-Brown, Secretary Mayor Michelle Romero

Mr. Scott DeAngelo, Treasurer Ms. Mary Beth Sewald

Councilman Cedric Crear.............coevveninnnn. absent  Mr. Steve Thompson

Mayor Carolyn Goodman.............cocveveneennneen. virtual ~ Councilman Steve Walton

Mr. Brian Gullbrants Councilman Brian Wursten......................... virtual

Steve Hill, CEO/President

Caroline Bateman, General Counsel

Ed Finger, Chief Financial Officer

Brian Yost, Chief Operating Officer

Kate Wik, Chief Marketing Officer

Lisa Messina, Chief Sales Officer

Lori Nelson-Kraft, Senior Vice President of Communications
Nadine Jones, Senior Vice President of People & Culture

LVCVA Executive Staff present

OPENING CEREMONIES = CALL TO ORDER
Chair Jim Gibson called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.

Caroline Bateman, General Counsel, acknowledged that all Board members were present, except for Members
Cedric Crear and Jan Jones Blackhurst.

Member Jones Blackhurst entered the meeting at 9:13 a.m.
The Pledge of Allegiance was performed.

COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC
There were no comments from the floor by the public.
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APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND MINUTES

APPROVAL OF Chair Gibson indicated that Agenda ltems 4 and 5 would be heard together. Vice Chair

THE AGENDA  Anton Nikodemus moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting

AND MINUTES  members, to approve the November 14, 2023 Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors
agenda including an amendment for Agenda ltems 4 and 5 to be heard together, and
to_approve the minutes of the October 10, 2023 Regular Meeting of the Board of
Directors.

PRESENTATIONS

Presentations by the LVCVA Staff

Lori Nelson-Kraft provided information on an upcoming end-of-year reception honoring the year’s Hospitality
Hero Award winners. Ms. Nelson-Kraft shared videos recognizing James “Brewster’” Thompson, Security
Officer at Park MGM, and Brittany Tullis, Flight Attendant at Southwest Airlines, as the quarterly recipients of
the Hospitality Hero Award. Chair Gibson presented the awards to the recipients.

Steve Hill, Chief Executive Officer (CEO)/President acknowledged Vice Chair Nikodemus’s recent acceptance
of a position with the Howard Hughes Corporation and corresponding departure from MGM Resorts
International and the LVCVA Board, recognized Vice Chair Nikodemus for his leadership during his tenure on
the LVCVA Board, and presented Mr. Nikodemus with a plaque on behalf of the Board.

Chair Gibson commended Vice Chair Nikodemus on his work during his tenure on the LVCVA Board and
congratulated him on his new position.

Brian Yost, Chief Operating Officer, delivered a presentation on Las Vegas Convention Center (LVCC) building
updates including SEMA SHOW 2023, 2023 Wedding MBA Convention, International Pool | Spa | Patio Expo,
SnowJam Las Vegas, and MJBizCon 2023.

Mr. Yost provided an update on the LVCC South Hall renovation project including installation of escalators,
painting, and floor preparation.

Mr. Yost introduced and shared background information about Darren Davis, the LVCVA’s new Senior Vice
President of Guest Experience.

Lisa Messina, Chief Sales Officer, highlighted LVCVA Business Sales department efforts, providing detailed
metrics on the performance of sales and leads as compared to the previous year. Ms. Messina shared
information on LVCVA activities during the 2023 Imex America tradeshow.

Ms. Messina congratulated Mr. Hill for recently being recognized by Smart Meetings magazine as a 2023
Catalyst Award winner.

Ms. Messina shared a video showcasing the efforts of Sales Staff in hosting the UFI Global Congress in its first
conference in the United States, and thanked John Schreiber, Vice President of Business Sales for his efforts.

Kate Wik, Chief Marketing Officer, congratulated the Las Vegas Aces on their second consecutive WNBA
Championship and shared a recap video demonstrating the LVCVA’s amplification of the celebrations including
coordinating a marquee takeover and social media coverage.

Ms. Wik highlighted LVCVA marketing efforts as related to Pride Month, including partnering with the LGBTQ
dating app Taimi to drive awareness for October Pride events in Las Vegas. The LVCVA hosted TikTok
celebrities The Old Gays and other social media influencers to attend and highlight events on their social media
channels. Ms. Wik shared the social media coverage results from these partnerships.
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Ms. Wik discussed the international marketing efforts of the Global Leisure and Public Relations teams
including participation in several meetings during Brand USA’s Travel Week U.K. & Europe 2023, and World
Travel Market London.

Ms. Wik provided information on, and shared a spot from, the LVCVA’s new Fall advertising campaign for
Laughlin.

Nadine Jones, Senior Vice President of People & Culture, recognized LVCVA Security Officers Andrew Angel,
Jacob Smith, and Keith Vierra, and Cop Security Staff Martin Curry and Devin Morgan for their lifesaving efforts
during a medical emergency on the Las Vegas Convention Center (LVCC) campus.

Lori Nelson-Kraft, Senior Vice President of Communications, highlighted the attached Quarterly
Accomplishments Report.

Mr. Hill shared a video honoring the life and contributions of Don Laughlin.

Mr. Hill outlined the evolving responsibilities of Ed Finger, Chief Financial Officer (CFO), and notified the Board
of potential plans to transition Mr. Finger into a new position within the LVCVA, with the permission of the
Compensation Committee and the Board. Mr. Hill noted that Mr. Finger’s potential title would be Chief Strategy
Officer, and noted that the CFO position would be posted.

Mr. Hill expressed excitement for the upcoming Formula 1 (F1) Las Vegas Grand Prix, acknowledged the
challenges presented by the preparations for the event, and noted that those inconveniences should not be as
disruptive in the event’s future years.

Mr. Hill acknowledged Jill Whitfield, Database Marketing Manager, for overseeing concierge services for the
LVCVA'’s hundreds of customers that were invited to the F1 Las Vegas Grand Prix. Mr. Hill thanked LVCVA
Staff, the [Clark] County Commission, the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, Clark County Fire
Department, Regional Transportation Commission, and Las Vegas resort partners for their efforts in bringing
the F1 Las Vegas Grand Prix to fruition.

Mr. Hill recognized Terry Miller of Miller Project Management, Hunt-Penta staff, and those involved with
construction efforts related to the F1 Las Vegas Grand Prix.

Mr. Hill thanked the workforce of the resort corridor for continuing to provide world class service to Las Vegas
customers while enduring challenges related to construction for the F1 Las Vegas Grand Prix.

Mr. Hill reflected on several accomplishments achieved in the past few years and the upcoming large-scale
events and thanked those involved in those endeavors.

Chair Gibson commended Mr. Hill and LVCVA leadership staff for its efforts, expressed excitement for the
upcoming F1 Las Vegas Grand Prix, and provided information on a recent interview with Doug Bowman
regarding the F1 Las Vegas Grand Prix.

LVCVA STAFE REPORTS AND REQUESTED ACTIONS

ITEM 1. Special Events Update
Nick Johnson, Project Management Chief with Nevada Department of Transportation
(NDOT) presented an update on major construction projects in the Las Vegas valley including
the Interstate-515 and Charleston Interchange Project, Centennial Bowl Project, and the
Interstate-15 North Phase 3 Project.

Ryan Wheeler, Senior Project Manager at NDOT, provided background information about
himself and his experience, and presented detailed information on the Interstate-
15/Tropicana Project configurations as related to the upcoming F1 Las Vegas Grand Prix
and Super Bowl LVIII events.
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ITEM 2.

Chair Gibson thanked Mr. Johnson and Mr. Wheeler for their efforts.

Peter Guzman, Co-Chair of the Super Bowl Host Committee’s (SBHC) Community Affairs
Subcommittee (Subcommittee), provided information on the members of the Subcommittee
and the entities that they represent, and the National Football League’s (NFL) Corporate
Responsibility Programs.

Tony Gladney, Co-Chair of the Subcommittee, presented information on the NFL Green
Program which includes community greening projects such as tree planting, community
gardens, habitat, and waterway restoration. Mr. Gladney provided information on completed
and scheduled projects and initiatives in Nevada as part of the NFL Green Program,
supported by the San Manuel Band of Mission Indians and Verizon Wireless.

Mr. Gladney discussed the NFL Business Connect Program and its Diversity Certification
Assistance Program and Capacity Building Workshops.

Mr. Gladney provided information on the 251 anniversary of the NFL Green’s signature Super
Kids — Super Sharing program, the SBHC and NFL’s partnership with GENYOUth’s mission
to end student hunger, and the SBHC and NFL’s partnership with Signs of Hope to combat
human trafficking in Las Vegas.

Shaundell Newsome, Co-Chair of the Subcommittee, discussed the partnership between the
SBHC, NFL Foundation, United Way of Southern Nevada, and the University of Nevada Las
Vegas’s (UNLV) Sports Research and Innovation Initiative, to allow 44 interns the opportunity
to receive hands-on, paid experience in large-scale event execution.

Mr. Newsome shared a video of a Las Vegas community advocate being presented with
tickets to Super Bowl LVIII as part of the Subcommittee’s Corporate Social Responsibility
Program and provided information on community events in the week leading up to Super
Bowl LVIII.

Chair Gibson thanked the Co-Chairs for their presentation.
This was an information item and did not require Board action.

Request to Approve LVE Event Funding: US Bowling Congress Women’s
Championships 2025

Lisa Motley, Senior Director of Sports and Special Events, discussed the Board’s previous
approval of several United States Bowling Congress (USBC) events in Las Vegas between
2024 and 2039. Ms. Motley noted that the proposed 2025 event was not part of that
authorization, as it was scheduled to take place in another city. Ms. Motley provided that
construction activity in the original host city would prevent it from hosting the 2025 USBC
Women’s Championship s and Category B Events. Ms. Motley discussed the expected
attendance and estimated economic impact from the proposed event and requested that the
Board considers: 1) Approving an expenditure in the amount of $545,000 to Las Vegas Events
(LVE) to fund the USBC Women’s Championships and Category B Events in April-June 2025
at South Point Tournament Bowling Plaza and other Las Vegas Bowling Centers; and 2)
Authorizing any residual unexpended balances from this authorization to revert to available
general funds.

Fiscal Impact
FY 2025: $545,000 Expenditure



Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority
Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors
November 14, 2023

Minutes

Page 5 of 11

ITEM 3.

ITEM 4.

Vice Chair Nikodemus moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting
members, to: 1) Approve an expenditure in the amount of $545,000 to LVE to fund the
USBC Women’s Championships and Cateqgory B Events in April-June 2025 at South
Point Tournament Bowling Plaza and other Las Vegas Bowling Centers; and 2)
Authorize any residual unexpended balances from this authorization to revert to
available general funds.

Mr. Hill announced the upcoming promotion of Ms. Motley to Vice President of Sports and
Special Events.

Owner’s Representative Agreement, Amendment #13 — Miller Project Management

Mr. Yost discussed Miller Project Management’s (MPM) previous involvement in LVCVA
projects including the Riviera Hotel demolition, the Phase Two Expansion Project, the
expansion of the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department Convention Center Substation,
and the Loop Campus Wide People Mover. Mr. Yost acknowledged MPM’s demonstrated
ability to oversee major construction projects for the LVCVA and noted that the proposed
$12.1M request is roughly two percent of the total contract price for the Phase Three
Renovation Project. Mr. Yost stated that MPM'’s initial contract was negotiated with
construction professionals on the Las Vegas Convention Center District (LVCCD) Committee
prior to the Phase Two Expansion Project and requested that the Board considers authorizing
the CEO/President to execute Amendment #13 with Miller Project Management, in the
amount of $12,100,000, for Owner Representative services for the design and construction
of the LVCCD Phase Three Renovation project.

Fiscal Impact
FY 2024: $2,728,740 LVCCD Capital Fund expenditure

FY 2025: $5,244,660 LVCCD Capital Fund expenditure
FY 2026: $3,893,520 LVCCD Capital Fund expenditure
FY 2027: $233,080 LVCCD Capital Fund expenditure
Total:  $12,100,000

Treasurer DeAngelo moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting
members, to authorize the CEO/President to authorize the CEO/President to execute
Amendment #13 with Miller Project Management, in the amount of $12,100,000, for
Owner Representative services for the design and construction of the LVCCD Phase
Three Renovation project.

Award of RFP #24-4783 - Riviera Hotel 10-Acre Parcel Site Preparation Project — Las
Vegas Paving

Mr. Finger informed the Board of a previous fill effort for the 10-acre site currently on sale by
the LVCVA and explained that the end result of the effort did not allow for the potential buyer’s
intended mixed-use project. Mr. Finger provided that third-party efforts assisted MPM with
determining specifications for the scope of work for a Request for Proposals (RFP). Mr. Finger
described the scope of the work including limited excavation, refill, and compaction. Mr.
Finger noted that the LVCVA has contractually agreed to the specified work with the potential
buyer, subject to the Board’s approval, and the potential buyer would be contractually required
to close the transaction when the LVCVA delivers the land as specified in the scope of work.
Mr. Finger indicated that Las Vegas Paving was the lowest responsive and responsible bidder
and outlined the anticipated timeline of the work’s completion.
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ITEM 5.

ITEM 6.

Mr. Finger thanked the Board for hearing Agenda Items 4 and 5 together and clarified that
Agenda Item 5 requests approval to enable the CEO/President to amend the purchase and
sale agreement for the 10-acre parcel to include a specific performance remedy for the buyer,
in the event that the LVCVA does not complete the work contemplated in Agenda Item 4. Mr.
Finger clarified that Agenda Item 5 does not increase the LVCVA'’s financial obligation beyond
that requested in Agenda Item 4, rather it contractually allows the buyer to have a third-party
force the work’s completion, either through action or payment.

Mr. Finger requested that the Board considers: 1) Awarding RFP #24-4783, Riviera Hotel Site
(Site) Preparation Project for the excavation, fill, and compaction of the Site, to Las Vegas
Paving in an amount not to exceed $6,469,500; and 2) Authorizing the Chief Executive Officer
(CEO)/President to execute any necessary agreements for the Project.

Fiscal Impact
FY 2023: $6,469,000 — LVCCD Capital Projects Fund

Member Michelle Romero provided that Agenda Item 4 contemplates awarding an RFP for
the excavation, fill and compaction of the former Riviera parcel site to Las Vegas Paving. Ms.
Romero indicated that she has family members who work for Las Vegas Paving, and that the
independence of judgment of a reasonable person in her situation may be materially affected
regarding the proposed award and expenditure by her family's employment with Las Vegas
Paving and she would therefore abstain from deliberating or voting on Agenda Item 4.

Vice Chair Nikodemus moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting
members with the exception of Member Romero who abstained, to: 1) Award RFP #24-
4783, Site Preparation Project for the excavation, fill, and compaction of the Site, to
Las Vegas Paving in_an _amount not to exceed $6,469,500; and 2) Authorize the
CEO/President to execute any necessary agreements for the Project.

Sale of 10-Acre Parcel on Las Vegas Boulevard to 65SLVB LLC — Amendment to
Purchase and Sale Agreement

Mr. Finger requested that the Board considers authorizing the CEO/President to execute an
amendment to the Purchase and Sale Agreement with 65SLVB to include the LVCVA's
agreement to specific performance related to excavation and compaction work on the former
Riviera 10-acre parcel.

Fiscal Impact
FY 2023: $6,469,000 — LVCCD Capital Projects Fund

Vice Chair Nikodemus moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting
members, to authorize the CEO/President to execute an amendment to the Purchase
and Sale Agreement with 65SLVB to include the LVCVA’s agreement to specific
performance related to excavation and compaction work on the former Riviera 10-acre

arcel.

Las Vegas Monorail Insurance Policies

Mr. Finger provided that the net annual insurance cost for the Las Vegas Monorail has
modestly decreased, with slightly improved liability coverages and that the LVCVA produced
$5.2M in net income from the Monorail during the current year. Mr. Finger noted that the $1M
of costs in Agenda Item 6 are included in the revenue analysis and requested that the Board
considers authorizing him to execute the following insurance policies for the Las Vegas
Monorail: 1) Liability insurance with Westchester, a Chubb Company (Chubb) in the amount
of $701,288 for the policy period from December 10, 2023, through December 10, 2024; and
2) Property insurance with American International Group, Inc. (AlIG) in the amount of $325,812
for the policy period from January 1, 2024, through January 1, 2025.
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ITEM 7.

ITEM 8.

Fiscal Impact
FY 2024: $474,377

FY 2025: $552,723

Vice Chair Nikodemus moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting
members to authorize the Chief Financial Officer to execute the following insurance
policies for the Las Vegas Monorail: 1) Liability insurance with Chubb in the amount of
$701,288 for the policy period from December 10, 2023, through December 10, 2024:
and 2) Property insurance with American International Group, Inc. (AIG) in the amount
of $325,812 for the policy period from January 1, 2024, through January 1, 2025.

Financial System Software Agreements — Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Mr. Finger informed the Board that the cumulative licensing fees of the LVCVA'’s Financial
Software System have exceeded the CEO’s Signature Authority and that the current annual
license costs are about $50,000 per year. Mr. Finger provided that the proposed agenda item
allows the CEO/President to spend up to $75,000 per year and that the Board approved the
cost of a new financial system in the 2024 capital budget. Mr. Finger requested that the Board
considers: 1) Authorizing the CEO/President to extend and/or renew software license
agreements with Tyler Technologies, Inc. (Tyler), in the amount of $75,000 per year, until the
LVCVA’s current financial accounting software is no longer needed or is replaced; and 2)
Authorizing any residual unexpended balances from this authorization to revert to available
general funds.

Fiscal Impact
Annually - $75,000 Expenditure

Vice Chair Nikodemus moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting
members to: 1) Authorize the CEO/President to extend and/or renew software license
agreements with Tyler in the amount of $75,000 per year, until the LVCVA’s current
financial accounting software is no longer needed or is replaced; and 2) Authorize any
residual unexpended balances from this authorization to revert to available general
funds.

Multi-Function Copier Devices & Service Solutions - Canon Solutions America, Inc.
Mr. Finger clarified that Agenda Item 8 requests the approval of the five-year renewal of the
LVCVA’s campus-wide printer/copier contract and requested that the Board considers: 1)
Authorizing him to execute agreements with Canon Solutions America, Inc. (Canon), in the
amount of $370,000, for the lease of multi-function copier devices for the period from January
1, 2024, through December 31, 2028; and 2) Authorizing any residual unexpended balances
from this authorization to revert to available general funds.

Fiscal Impact
FY 2024: $37,000 Expenditure

FY 2025: $74,000 Expenditure
FY 2026: $74,000 Expenditure
FY 2027: $74,000 Expenditure
FY 2028: $74,000 Expenditure
FY 2029: $37,000 Expenditure

Vice Chair Nikodemus moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting
members to: 1) Authorize the CFO to execute agreements with Canon in the amount of
$370,000, for the lease of multi-function copier devices for the period from January 1,
2024, through December 31, 2028; and 2) Authorizing any residual unexpended
balances from this authorization to revert to available general funds.
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ITEM 9.

ITEM 10.

ITEM 11.

Quarterly Budget and Statistical Report
Mr. Finger presented the LVCVA’s Budget and Statistical Report for the quarter ending
September 30, 2023, to the Board for its information and review.

This was an informational item and did not require Board action.

Contracts Report

Ms. Bateman provided the Contracts Report, which serves to notify the Board, pursuant to
Board Policies (1.04 and 5.01) and NRS Chapters 332 and 338, of the following: 1)
Contractual commitments, change orders, or amendments to contracts executed under the
CEOQO’s Signature Authority that exceed $50,000; 2) Contractual commitments and
amendments to contracts related to the LVCCD projects as executed under the delegated
authority of the CEO/President; and 3) Public Works contracts awarded by the LVCVA.

Fiscal Impact
TBD

This was an informational item and did not require Board action.

Amendment to Clark County Self-Funded Interlocal Medical and Dental Benefits Plan
Agreement

Ms. Jones outlined that the proposed amendment serves to include additional coverage
benefits, to adopt an increase to the plan rates of 5% to the Preferred Provider Organization
(PPO) and to the Exclusive Provider Organization (EPO) plans, and to add a bargaining unit
from the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department. Ms. Jones requested that the Board
considers approving and authorizing the Board Chair to sign an amendment to the Interlocal
Agreement for the Health, Accident, and Life Benefit Program among Clark County, the
LVCVA, the Clark County Water Reclamation District, the University Medical Center of
Southern Nevada, the Las Vegas Valley Water District, the Clark County Regional Flood
Control District, the Regional Transportation Commission of Southern Nevada, the Southern
Nevada Health District, Henderson District Public Libraries, Mount Charleston Fire Protection
District, the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, the Moapa Valley Fire Protection
District, and the Eighth Judicial District Court to include additional coverage benefits and
eligible parties, to adopt an increase to Self-Funded Plan rates, and to add the Las Vegas
Metropolitan Police Department's Police Protective Association Civilian Employees
(“PPACE”) bargaining unit to the Self-Funded PPO and the EPO Medical and Dental Benefits
Plans.

Fiscal Impact
5% PPO rate increase - $77,000 for 2024 plan year

5% EPO rate increase - $51,000 for 2024 plan year
FY24 — $3.1 million total spend PPO

$2.0 million total spend EPO

FY25 - $3.4 million total spend PPO

$2.2 million total spend EPO

Vice Chair Nikodemus moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting
members to approve and authorize the Board Chair to sign an amendment to the
Interlocal Agreement for the Health, Accident, and Life Benefit Program among Clark
County, the LVCVA, the Clark County Water Reclamation District, the University
Medical Center of Southern Nevada, the Las Vegas Valley Water District, the Clark
County Regional Flood Control District, the Regional Transportation Commission of
Southern Nevada, the Southern Nevada Health District, Henderson District Public
Libraries, Mount Charleston Fire Protection District, the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department, the Moapa Valley Fire Protection District, and the Eighth Judicial District
Court to include additional coverage benefits and eligible parties, to adopt an increase
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to Self-Funded Plan rates, and to add the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department’s
PPACE bargaining unit to the Self-Funded PPO and the EPO Medical and Dental
Benefits Plans.

Marketing Committee Report and Recommendations

Marketing Committee Chair Scott DeAngelo stated that the Marketing Committee (Committee) met on
October 12, 2023 and provided details the Committee meeting’s participants.

Item A.

Marketing Committee Charter Review and Approval

Item B.

Marketing Committee Chair DeAngelo confirmed that the Committee reviewed its own
performance under its Charter and confirmed that it had fulfilled its duties under its Charter.
Committee Chair DeAngelo stated that the Committee had no recommended changes to

the Committee Charter and confirmed that the Committee recommends approval of the finding
that the Committee fulfilled its annual duties under its Charter, and the finding that the
Committee Charter does not require any changes.

Vice Chair Nikodemus moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting
members to approve the findings that the Committee fulfilled its annual duties under
its Charter and that the Committee Charter does not require any changes.

Fiscal Year 2024 Marketing Updates

Committee Chair DeAngelo summarized the updates presented by LVCVA Staff including
current marketing efforts focusing on the business and multicultural segments.

Ms. Wik provided a recap of the launch of the new business advertising campaign including
research strategy, challenges, and repositioning of the previous narrative. Ms. Wik shared the
spots “Not Invited” and “Off Site” from the LVCVA’s new business segment advertising
campaign.

Ms. Wik highlighted the launch of the new campaign during the IMEX trade show, along with the
launch of the LVCVA’s new booth design during that show.

Ms. Wik discussed the media plan as related to the new campaign including placements in
pertinent meetings and c-suite publications such as Smart Meetings, Meetings Group, The Wall
Street Journal, and The Economist.

Ms. Wik thanked LVCVA Staff for its efforts in executing the new business campaign, and
thanked resort property partners for allowing the LVCVA to film on their properties.

Ms. Wik highlighted the strategy points as related to the new multicultural campaign including
the growing diversity of the U.S. population and its spending power, and the current favorable
position of Las Vegas in welcoming the changing makeup of the U.S. population. Ms. Wik
detailed the diversity in the population of Las Vegas, its diverse industries, and its core value
of inclusivity.

Ms. Wik discussed the focus on individuals that represent the diversity of the Las Vegas
community and shared video clips highlighting Chef Natalie Young and Neon Bender Oscar
Gonzalez.

Ms. Wik thanked Grey Group and the LVCVA's internal digital team for their efforts.

Committee Chair DeAngelo thanked Ms. Wik, LVCVA Marketing Staff, Grey Group, and R&R
Partners for their efforts and indicated that this presentation was informational only.



Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority
Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors
November 14, 2023

Minutes

Page 10 of 11

13.

Member Jan Jones Blackhurst described the ads as “extraordinary” and commented on the
potential for them to be utilized for economic development initiatives.

This was an informational item and did not require Board action.
Audit Committee Report and Recommendations

Audit Committee Chair Naft stated that the Audit Committee met on November 9, 2023, to discuss
Agenda Items A-C.

Item A. Internal Audit Reports
Audit Committee Chair Naft summarized the audits, findings, and managements responses as
reported by Mr. Finger, Angela Go, Senior Director of Audit Services, and Suchete Atre of BDO.

Audit Committee Chair Naft provided that the first audit was a building partner audit and noted
that BDO assessed the completeness and accuracy of the revenue reports provided to the
LVCVA by Cox Nevada Telcom. Chair Naft reported that there were three reported findings related
to the completeness of the revenue reporting of discounts and approval of discounts and that
management accepted all the recommendations. Chair Naft indicated that the Committee
directed a reporting back of the actual changes to the revenue policies that result from this internal
audit.

Audit Committee Chair Naft provided that the second audit was an employee reimbursement audit
and that the Audit Services Department assessed ambassador requests for reimbursements for
proper completion, approval, business purposes, and accuracy of reimbursable amounts and
reported three findings related to unallowable costs and missing documentation. Audit
Committee Chair Naft indicated that management accepted all the recommendations and that
the Audit Committee requested a report back highlighting the actual changes to the travel and
entertainment policies that result from this internal audit.

Audit Committee Chair Naft provided that Mr. Finger reported on the safety and security
performance audit, which included a third-party professional review of the LVCVA’s Customer
Safety Department and its policies, training, and equipping of personnel. Chair Naft reported that
the effort led to the identification of necessary updates to key policies including use of force
policies. Chair Naft referenced the Board'’s recent approval of an increased scope of the project
to include the development and implementation of a revised training curriculum to include
enhanced field training and officer structure within the department. Chair Naft noted that the status
of the project would be presented at the Audit Committee’s Spring 2024 meeting.

This was an informational item and did not require Board action.

Item B. Proposed 2024 Audit Plan
Chair Naft stated that the Audit Services Department presented the proposed 2024 audit plan
that was developed based on quantitative and qualitative risk factors. Chair Naft confirmed that
the Audit Committee approved the calendar year 2024 audit plan and recommended its approval
to the Board.

Audit Committee Chair Naft moved, and it was carried by unanimous vote of the voting
members to approve the calendar year 2024 audit plan.

Audit Committee Chair Naft thanked BDO and Ms. Go for their audit efforts.
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COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC

Edwin Thomas (ET) Snell shared his intent to raise awareness about the number of deaths on Interstate-15
between Barstow and Las Vegas. Mr. Snell expressed concern regarding the throwing of items on to the F1 Las
Vegas Grand Prix racetrack and encouraged the implementation of serious consequences if this occurs. Mr.
Snell proposed the creation of a five-lane highway and offered his services to assist with that project.

ADJOURNMENT
Chair Gibson adjourned the meeting at 10:53 a.m.

Respectfully submitted, Date Approved:  Qecember 12, 2023

Silvia Perez James B. Gibson
Executive Assistant to the Board Chair
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HEAR, HEAR

LVCVA had a seat at the table for a

Senate subcommittee hearing

On August 25th, Steve Hill joined leaders in the hospitality and sports
communities to give testimony and discuss the impact of sports and
events on the local economy. US Senator Jacky Rosen, chair of the Sen-
ate Commerce Subcommittee on Tourism, Trade, and Export Promo-
tion, led a subcommittee hearing comprising Hill, CEO and President
of MGM Resorts International Bill Hornbuckle, President and CEO of
the Vegas Chamber and LVCVA board member Mary Beth Sewald, and
President of the Las Vegas Raiders Sandra Douglass Morgan. Douglass

. . L . . Panelists Bill Hornbuckle, Sandra Douglass Morgan,
Morgan noted that since its opening in 2021, Allegiant Stadium has wel- Mary Beth Sewald, and Steve Hil

comed more than three million visitors from over 120 countries.

A new pack of K-g unit
trading cards hits the floor

This year, two new members joined LVCVAs K-9 unit, allowing
longtime favorites Cooper and Pierce their well-deserved retire-
ment. Our swaps gave us the opportunity to redesign our team’s
trading cards to introduce Bear and Reba, our new yellow and fox
red Labs certified in explosives detection and update the bios for
black Labs Wells and Bo. Wells and Bo are both Auburn Vapor
Wake Dogs, able to detect explosives on a body in motion. This is
how keen their senses of smell are: Auburn Dogs can detect a dash
of Kool-Aid in an Olympic-size swimming pool and a single blade
WEDDED BLI S S of grass in an area the size of several football fields. Ask their han-

dlers, Officers Marq Finezza, Alberto Iturrios, Kevin Kline, and K9
Supervisor Wood y Chan for a card when you see them, and you
can even learn their hobbies, like serving as unoficial greeter at
September 2023 “Wedding Month” the dog park (Bear), chasing ball and starring on TV (Reba), and
Pilates and ballet (Wells). With their skills, they may even be able
to autograph them for you.

Clark County Commissioner declared

On September 23, 1953, the London Daily Herald proclaimed Las
Vegas the Wedding Capital of the World—a moniker we've claimed
ever since. LVCVA supported the County ClerK’s 70th Anniversary
Celebration on Sept. 3 at Caesars Palace declaring September 2023 as
Wedding Month. We utilized one of five Extra TV segments to delve
into the allure of tying the knot in Las Vegas—a choice that nearly

i W
e
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80,000 couples make annually. The segment showcased unique wed- fa o " e
ding venues all over the city, from the Rose Rooftop at Resorts World \ e .L%:.:?:Tﬁ'.
. e i e \ LRy P43 o i
to Luxor’s Titanic exhibit staircase—seen by millions of viewers. As . R i el b g ot
. ! ey o b ditieak: et Dl ek mie:
part of our efforts, the LVCVA digital engagement team sent a cus- b LT en e e, e

tomer eblast targeting over 15K subscribers from the UK—opened by
43% (nearly 10% higher than the benchmark).

3 LVCVA HIGHLIGHTS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS | ©2023 LVGVA



Ubges

VISITORS AUTHORITY

NEW & NOTEWORTHY

Our team at the Boston hand-off

WELCOME, NAACP

BOSTON HANDS OFF
THE NATIONAL CONVENTION
HOST DUTIES TO LAS VEGAS

The NAACP is the largest and
oldest civil rights organization in
the country and for the first time

in 115 years, its annual National

Convention will meet in Las
Vegas. Our team attended the
Boston convention with MGM and

Mandalay Bay, which will host

the 115th convention next year.

Las Vegas was revealed as the
2024 location and our team gave

a welcome on behalf of MGM and
the city of Las Vegas. History is
made at the National Convention,
during which members vote
on resolutions that inform the

NAACP’s policy plans. Watson

says they selected Las Vegas
because they Rnew it would be

a great draw for the more than

10,000 attendees they
expect next year.

All-Star Reception

We turned the city orange for the WNBA

Before our Las Vegas aces became the first repeat WNBA champions in 21 years in early Octo-
ber, we ensured the WNBA All-Star Weekend in July in Las Vegas was memorable by turning
the city orange—the league’s official logo color. Our activations included welcome messages
at Harry Reid International Airport, marquee takeovers along the Strip and the High Roller,
Eiffel Tower, Luxor, and The Sphere. Las Vegas and our Aces are breaking attendance records,
too: The Aces had the highest increase in average game attendance across the league, averaging
a league-high 9,551 fans per game. They also hosted the highest-attended game this season,
drawing a crowd of 17,406 against Phoenix to finish up the regular season in September.

HOOP DREAMS

Millions of viewers saw our latest

NBA Summer League marketing

This year, Las Vegas hosted our 17th NBA Summer League, which reached
more than 500,000 viewers on ESPN and millions on Las Vegas social
channels. Our marketing team collaborated with the NBA to create a
social media backdrop of the Welcome to Las Vegas sign with a basketball
hoop, and The Sphere celebrated the season by morphing into a 366-foot-
tall basketball. The LVCVA is sponsoring the first-ever NBA In-Season
Tournament, the annual competition for all 30 teams in December. Expect
more super-sized stunts as the tournament nears.

The Sphere as basketball: a publicity layup-

LVGVA HIGHLIGHTS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS | ©2023 LVGVA 4
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CAMPAIGNS: BY THE NUMBERS

59 MILLION

The number of impressions generated by
our “Why Would You” campaign through
cinema, connected TV, digital video,
streaming audio, and display.

" AAKRY REID (NTenmtm

8.75 MILLION

airline seats arrived at Harry Reid International Airport this quarter,
the most of any quarter in the history of Las Vegas.

768K

NUMBER OF ROOM NIGHTS ORIGINATED
AND FACILITATED THIS QUARTER BY DESTINATION
SALES

62
MILLION

The impressions for our
“Meanwhile in Vegas” summer
campaign, from July to August.
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132 MILLION ¢ g50

Impressions our “Live in Vegas” entertainment

campaign generated across digital video, streaming the fluorescent lamps replaced
audio, and display. We produced spots with with LEDs in the South
local radio personalities in LA, Phoenix and Hall meeting rooms, saving
San Diego in both Spanish and English. 159K kWhs annually—

enough watt hours to power
a refrigerator for 40 days.
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WSJ: LVCC IS NO. 1IN THE US
THE JOURNAL'S LIST SCORED 30 TOP CONVENTION CENTERS

The Wall Street Journal conducted a study of the top convention centers in the United States and the Las Vegas
Convention Center was No. 1 on the list of 30 venues. Two other Vegas convention centers also cracked the top of
the list: The Venetian Convention & Expo Center (No.3) and Mandalay Bay Convention Center (No. 7).

WSJ ranked their list according to what they reported road warriors were after: both a venue that facilitates
dealmaking and a city with “robust and affordable” options for those who want to mix business and pleasure.

The journal noted LVCC’s proximity to the Strip and Harry Reid International Airport and its “sweeping
entertainment opportunities” Last year, LVCC generated $1.3 billion in direct economic output from the 56
conventions we hosted, including spending at restaurants, casinos, and shopping centers by attendees.

_ame .ullul-l
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MARKETPLACE

Viva Vegas

Our Spanish-language channel takes on TikTok

In August, the LVCVA timed our launch of @VegasEnEspanol to coincide
with Colombian reggaeton superstar Karol G’s performance and the launch
of Hispanic Heritage Month. The TikTok channel, which features 100%
Spanish content, generated over half a million views in only one week. Two
months in, the new handle is extending our reach into the important LATAM
market, with about a quarter of views coming from Mexico. By the quarter’s
end, several posts had attracted over 9 million, including behind-the-scenes
video with a Cirque du Soleil acrobat doing multiple flips after launching
from a seesaw—which had over 12 million views by mid-October. According
to business and data intelligence platform Statista, the average view of a me-
ga-influencer’s TikTok post was around 330K last year, putting @VegasEnEs-

panol firmly in mega territory.

vegasenespanol ©
L 2% Vegns

2 folswing  297.6K Folowss  1.8M |lw=s

Alguna we 1o hes prequntaco oue ostd pasardo en Las veoos

Australia Week
in Vegas

Prepare for a new national pastime as rugby rolls in

For the first time ever, the National Rugby League Telstra Premier-
ship season will kick off in the U.S., with a 2024 season opening
double-header at Allegiant Stadium only three weeks after the Su-
per Bowl. In fact, the games will also be the first ever regular sea-
son games played outside of Australia and New Zealand. For those
who aren’t as familiar with the other thunder from Down Under,
the NRL is planning an “Australia Week” to showcase it to a U.S.
audience. LVCVA worked with the NRL and Allegiant Stadium to
announce the season schedule, which Sports Business Journal re-
ported had already surpassed 12,000 tickets sold with four months
still to go until the event.

Right to the Heart

Our new online campaign, The Heart of Vegas, showcases the peo-
ple who make Vegas unique. In September, our digital marketing
team launched three segments on visitlasvegas.com dedicated to
highlighting the people behind the city’s entertainment, culinary
and art scenes. Our first three segments featured neon blower Os-
car Gonzalez, Chef Natalie Young and magician Shin Lim. The
team dives into their work and their contributions to the rich
community that only Vegas can offer.

77 LVCVA HIGHLIGHTS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS | ©2023 LVCVA
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HAPPENING

ON FEEH-& 2024 HERE

From left: County Commission Chair and LVCVA Board Chair Jim Gibson; NFL EVP Peter O'Reilly and Steve Hill discuss the coming events.

Host with the Most

'The Las Vegas Super Bowl LVIII Host Committee announced a winning lineup of community events

In alate August, The Las Vegas Super Bowl LVIII Host Committee held
a press conference in partnership with the NFL. At the conference,
chairman of the board of Allegiant Air Maury Gallagher gave kudos to
the LVCVA. “One of the things that makes this town so good at what
it does is the LVCVA and the leadership of Steve Hill and his team,” he
said. Steve Hill joined NFL Executive Vice President Peter O'Reilly and
Sam Joffray, Presidentand CEO of the Las Vegas Super Bowl LVIII Host
Committee, to discuss the impact Super Bowl LVIII will have on the
destination and announce the lineup of community-driven initiatives.

Las Vegas leaders expressed their commitment to ensuring the com-
munity remains at the center of official Super Bowl events, from the
Super Kids-Super Sharing donation project, which will gather new
and gently used sports equipment and school supplies for local kids in
need, to Taste of the NFL, the Super Bowl’s largest philanthropic culi-
nary experience, with all proceeds going toward ending student hun-
ger. The Super Bowl LVIII Business Connect program, aimed at es-
tablishing a platform for diverse local businesses to subcontract with
NFL vendors, has already accepted more than 200 minority, woman,
disabled, LGBTQ+ and veteran-owned businesses to date.

FROM THE RESEARCH DESK

Mid-year results reveal the evolving Vegas visitor

In August, LVCVA's Research Center published its 2023 Mid-Year Las Vegas Visitor Snapshot. Among its

highlights: Las Vegas visitors are repeat customers, with 83% having been here before versus only 17% first

timers. Las Vegas exceeded the expectations of 42% of visitors, ahead of the 36% of the same time last year.

Significantly, 86% reported that they were “very satisfied” with their trip, up from 78% in the first half of 2022.

Visitor gaming spending reflected the booming numbers reported by the Nevada Gaming Control Board,

which has reported the two highest quarterly revenues in gaming in the last two years. Among those who

gamble, Vegas visitors had an average $815 gaming budget, up from $692 the same time last year.

LVCVA HIGHLIGHTS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS | ©2023 LVCVA 8
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SELLING LAS VEGAS

LVCC SALES
BY THE NUMBERS

NEW SHOWS SIGNED

In the third quarter of 2023, the Convention Center Sales team signed new shows:

LVCC
Envista......... 2025
Shoptalk........... 2025, 2026
Trace3............. 2024, 2025

SALES FOR THE DESTINATION
Google Cloud Next, Mandalay Bay.....2024
Autodesk University, Venetian....2026
Laserfiche, Mandalay Bay......... 2024, 2025
American Staffing Association, Mandalay Bay.....2027
ROOM NIGHTS
Leads: 4,772, up 23% September YTD from the same period last year

Lead room nights: 5 million, up 92% September YTD from the same period last year

Converted room nights: 1.1 million, up 56% September YTD from the same period last year

O LVCVA HIGHLIGHTS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS | ©2023 LVGVA
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SELLING LAS VEGAS

OH, CANADA

Our successful mission to Canada’s premier meeting and convention sales event

The Western Canada Sales Mission in August brought together 18 key stakeholders, including MGM Resorts
International, Fontainebleau Las Vegas, Resorts World, The Mirage, The Strat, M Resort, Plaza, Virgin Hotel,
Rio, Sahara, Tropicana, and The Venetian, as well as two major airlines, WestJet, and Air Canada.

We hosted a series of four travel trade and media events, providing a platform for the LVCVA and our share-
holders to meet 340 travel professionals, strengthening our relationships with key players in the Canadian
travel market. These events allow us to share whats new in the destination and keep Vegas top of mind with
top selling travel agents and travel professionals.

RECORD-BREAKING WEBINAR

Domestic Leisure Sales introduced Vegas to the highest-ever
number of US-based affiliate travel agents

Only two years ago, Expedia Group tested a new rewards program for US-based travel advisors enrolled in
its Travel Agent Affiliation Program on in a pilot test. The program, which gives the agents points on eligible
bookings that they can use to claim gift cards, was so successful, Expedia rolled it out to all US advisors. Our
Domestic Leisure Sales team hosted a record-breaking travel agent affiliate program webinar, with a record
2900 registered and over 1,000 in attendance. They used the 45-minute presentation time to. educate the
group on new hotels, restaurants, shows, and attractions as well as F1 and how to engage with the LVCVA
through our Learn and Earn program.

CO-0OP CAMPAIGNS
Global Leisure Sales took their show on the road
Our Global Leisure Sales groups executed two co-op campaigns this quarter, one in Korea in collaboration

with Mode Tours and one in Canada with the Canadian Automobile Association. As of the end of Q3, the
campaigns have collectively generated 892K impressions.

captiontk

LVCVA HIGHLIGHTS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS | ©2023 LVCVA 10



Mw_
%stmmu AND
VISITORS AUTHORITY

THE HUB

We worked with Harry Reid International Airport to welcome Avianca in style
Aviancal_ | 74
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NOW BOARDING

New flights add seats—and possibility

Brand-new airline Northern Pacific has begun service, flying once weekly between Ontario and Las Vegas, targeting weekenders traveling from Cali-
fornia. The new 220-mile trip shortens the trip to one hour, versus four by car. Its the first route in an ambitious plan by the new airline to connect US
states with Pacific Rim routes. using Anchorage, AK as a hub. And it is just one route that the LVCVA has worked with Harry Reid International Airport
to launch. Avianca also began service to Las Vegas, inaugurating seasonal service from San Salvador in mid-July. Global Leisure Sales supported the
airline’s launch by hosting three destination presentations for 550 travel professionals. Avianca’s seasonal, nonstop service adds more than 4,000 seats per
week between July and September. Last year, Las Vegas welcomed nearly 150K visitors from South America, a 183% increase from 2021.

We inaugurated 11 new routes during the quarter, eight of them previously unserved. Notably, New York La Guardia to Las Vegas is our largest
previously unserved domestic route. Combined, these new routes will generate more than 200,000 inbound airlines seats annually.

SAFETY FIRST

A tabletop exercise brought agencies together for Loop safety

As the Boring Company recently began tunneling its second Westgate
tunnel, the LVCVA hosted a three-day tabletop exercise with public safety
agencies and resort partners to prepare for emergency scenarios. Director
of Environmental Health, Safety and Fire Prevention Ruben White, said
that the contingency planning included Clark County Fire Department, Las
Vegas Fire Department, Las Vegas Metro Police Department, LVCVA, Re-
sorts World, Wynn, and the Boring Company. The event, which we hosted
in South Hall, evaluated agency responses and determined areas for staging
and triage in our existing tunnels. Fire and Metro identified opportunities
to streamline their radio communication—further evidence that you can
never do too much safety planning.

One of the Vegas Loop's Teslas emerges from the tunnel

11 LVGVA HIGHLIGHTS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS | ©2023 LVGVA
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MEET ME IN VEGAS

DESIGNED BY LVCVA

Our tireless Event Design team creates Vegas magic everywhere they go. If
you ever need to coax a nine-foot-tall camel from Henderson to the front of
the Sahara to greet 2,000 event attendees in nightlife conditions, LVCVA has
a department for that. Our Event Design team did just that for Routes World
last year, which also featured a rock band that took requests from audience
texts, as well as belly dancers, henna painters, tarot card readers and acrobats.
Routes World brings together the decision-makers from airlines, airports and
destinations, and is the biggest event for route development in the world. For
the recent Routes World 2023, they created a booth of six floor-to-ceiling LED
screens that brought a larger-than-life Vegas to Istanbul. The team has execut-
ed or participated in over 835 events in the eight years since the department’s
inception—an average of 104 events per year. Next time you see an exciting
LVCVA event, chances are our Event Design team is behind it. And if you see
any rogue camels, you know who to call.

Director of Event Design Marla Laughlin; this year's Routes World booth in Istanbul

MEET ME
IN VEGAS

NEW AND IMPROVED AT LVCC

ORDERING ON DEMAND
We added OnDemand, our QR-based
ordering and delivery service, to early
morning service in Starbucks and Dunkin’
Express to sell coffee and pastries to exhibitors
and ease high volume and long lines.

GREENING THE LVCC
All public spaces within the Las Vegas Convention
Center have now been equipped with dual
stream receptacles, moving the property
forward in becoming a green building.

AIR QUALITY INSPECTION
LVCC completed our Clark County Department
of Environmental Services (Air Quality) and
Southern Nevada Health District Restricted
Waste audits and inspections with no violations

The walls and stairs are up in South Hall

CONSTRUCTION
UPDATE

Our construction is on schedule since LVCC broke ground for our renova-
tion of South Hall, says Vice President of Facilities Randy Shingleton. The
staircase has been installed in the new prefunction space, as have the stairs
to the elevated conference rooms in the commons area. The new board room
dais has been poured and drywall installed. Shingleton anticipates that we'll
receive our Temporary Certificate of Occupancy (TCO) by December and
move administrative office space by February to make way for additional
meeting space in Central Hall. “The new space will be something we can all
be proud of and will kickoff the legacy building renovation that will follow
starting in March of 2024,” he says.

LVGVA HIGHLIGHTS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS | ©2023 LVGVA 12
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FROM THE ARCHIVES

LIGHTS OUT AND AWAY WE GO!

Las Vegas has waited four decades fbr another F1 starting grid

As Vegas looks forward to our coming Formula 1 Grand Prix, we look back at the last. The 1982 Caesars Palace Grand Prix
was the last F1 race here, held on a circuit in Caesars’ parking lot. The track was just wide enough for drivers to overtake
each other, and the 75-lap race was won by Michele Alboreto, driving a Tyrrell-Ford. John Watson finished second in a
McLaren-Ford, with Eddie Cheever third in a Ligier-Matra. This was the last F1 race for 1978 World Champion Mario
Andretti, and the first year since the World Championship began in 1950 that a country hosted three rounds in the same
season. On Nov. 18, Las Vegas and the Formula 1 Grand Prix meet again, racing over 50 laps on a circuit built to reach

>«

speeds expected to match Monza, F1’s “Temple of Speed”
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OUT AND ABOUT

HEROES AMONG US

Two new Hospitality Heroes join our roster

Handling the guest experience at Bellagio may seem easy on a calm day—but it's how Guest Experience
Manager Ariel Anderson responds when there’s a problem that secured her win as a Hospitality Hero. Her
colleagues that nominated her describe her as handling service lapses with genuine compassion and care,
turning frustrated guests into brand loyalists.. Her commitment to service extends beyond guests: She also
leads Bellagio’s employee recognition program, which honors star employees for their hard work. Our other
honoree is Pat Rue, a day-one engineering manager at The Venetian Resort Las Vegas. Not only is he key
in ensuring the resort’s iconic rooftop firework shows go off without a hitch, he also oversees the resort’s
dispatch center, which fields more than 200,000 engineering calls a year. The LVCVA congratulates our two
new Hospitality Heroes.

Clockwise from top right: Pat Rue; Rue is honored at our Board meeting; Ariel Anderson’s coworkers celebrate her win; Ariel Anderson

LVGVA HIGHLIGHTS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS | ©2023 LVGVA 14
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OUT AND ABOUT

LVCVA Lifesavers

This year, we teamed up with nonprofit blood
services provider Vitalant to hold our first
blood drive. Ambassadors donated enough

blood to save the lives of up to 45 patients.

Steve Hill donates in our first blood drive

Joining the Team

LVCVA and DETR partner for job placement

The LVCVA started a new partnership, with the Nevada Depart-
ment of Employment, Training and Rehabilitation, offering indi-
vidual computer lab cubicles for applicants to apply for our roles.
In two separate LVCVA-only job fairs, we made 32 on-the-spot
offers for on-call Facility Services Event Staff and Traffic Atten-
dants and eight offers for on-call Traffic Attendants and Perimeter
Security. Both our partnership with DETR and on-the-spot offers
are new, says Rico Ramirez, LVCVA’ Senior Diversity Recruiter.
“We’ve done on-the-spot job offers at some other career fairs but
with not with this amount of success,” he says.

Leading Ladies

The 16th annual Women’s Leadership Conference
draws LVCVA Ambassadors

LVCVA sent 12 of our leaders to the annual Women’s Leadership
Conference at MGM Grand. The conference gives women leaders
two days to focus solely on their own leadership skills and profes-
sional lives. The conference is a product of a small group of diverse
women leaders in Las Vegas and members of the MGM Resorts
International Corporate Diversity team as a place for women of
color to share their workplace and life challenges and to network,
and has evolved to serve thousands of women and men. Among
the conference’s highlights: a keynote by Col. Nicole Malachows-
ki, USAF (Ret.), the first woman pilot on the Thunderbirds Air
Demonstration Squadron.

15 LVGVA HIGHLIGHTS & ACCOMPLISHMENTS | ©2023 LVGVA
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COMMUNITY INITIATIVES

CAPITOL PROJECT

State leaders flew in to DC to advocate for Nevada’s priorities

Our DC sales office hosted the opening reception for the Vegas Chamber’s annual “DC Fly In” in September
on its spectacular office rooftop that overlooks the White House. The event offered a glimpse into the LVC-
VA's east coast sales efforts on behalf of the destination.

More than 200 business and political leaders from Nevada participated in the annual event to advocate and
raise awareness for the State’s business, governmental, and economic priorities among federal leaders. CEO
Steve Hill also participated in a panel discussion “Leveraging Tourism and Major Events for Economic De-
velopment” He was joined by Tom Burns, of the Governor’s Office on Economic Development, Tina Quig-
ley from the Las Vegas Global Economic Alliance, and Betsy Fretwell, former City of Las Vegas manager.
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OUR PEOPLE

STRENGTH IN NUMBERS
538 APPLICATIONS RECEIVED
17 FULL-TIME AMBASSADORS HIRED
6 PROMOTIONS

DE&I AND CORE VALUES UPDATE

Beginning July 17, we invited Ambassadors to fill out a Core Values survey. Their anonymous results, collect-
ed by our consultant, Korn Ferry, will inform our work in improving our organization for all Ambassadors.
During the several weeks of the survey, 71% of our workforce participated in answering. We are in the pro-
cess of working with all Ambassadors on discussing the organization’s results.

FACILITY SERVICES
BY THE NUMBERS

A Millennium - Our Facility Services department recently unveiled
a gallery spotlighting our Service Workers, Custodians, Service
Support Technicians, Leads and Supervisors by seniority. Collectively,
the department has approximately 1,000 years of service.

i 111
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ACCOLADES

OUR ORGANIZATION, OUR BUILDING,
OUR DESTINATION, AND OUR AMBASSADORS
ARE BEING RECOGNIZED.

Our sports marketing team’s work on the NCAA Women’s Bowling Championship is currently a finalist for the
Northstar Travel Sports Award.

Chief Sales Officer Lisa Messina is a Visionary! She was named a winner in the 2023 Prevue Visionary Awards,
given annually to acknowledge the forward-thinking destinations, hotels/resorts, cruise lines and airlines in the meetings
and incentives industry by Prevue Meetings & Incentives.

Rebecca Deluca has been named Chair-Elect of the MPI (Meeting Professionals International) Foundation
Global Board of Trustees for 2024.

Meetings Today has voted the LVCVA a winner in their annual Best of Meetings Today Awards as best destination

marketing organization.

Our LVCVA visitor website, visitlasvegas.com, is a platinum winner in the tourism websites category for the 2023
MarCom Awards, the international award for excellence in marketing and communication. Our award was chosen from
6,500 print and digital entries from dozens of countries.

Rebecca Deluca, VP of
Deslinatan Sales,
named Chair-Elect MPI
Foundation's Glebal
Board of Trustea

Sma rtmeetings

1S10Ndry R
v awards "Platinum Choice Nominae’

WINNER
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MILESTONES

This year, we honor 52 Ambassadors who have reached significant tenure. We thank them for their years of

25 YEARS

dedication to the LVCVA.

20 YEARS

15 YEARS

10 YEARS

23.

10 YEARS

5 YEARS

1. Richard Covelski, Custodian

2. Mary Grypeos, Graphics Supervisor

3.Jill Reynolds, Research Analyst

4. Michael Smith, Building Engineer

5. Todd Young, Building Engineer

6. Stephen Zahn, Ext Engineering Supervisor
7. Veronica Avila, Custodian

8. Juan Cervantes, Service Worker

9. Marla Laughlin, Dir. of Event Design

10. Rosario Ramiscal, Lead Custodian

11. Teri Sundberg, Security Officer

12. Richard Brooks, Security Officer

13. Kevin Duffley, Custodian

14. Joshua Finnan, Surveillance Investigator
15. Felix Gonzalez, Custodian

16. Osato Ighodaro, Electrician

17. Akeem Johnson, Building Engineer

18. Angel Lugo, MechanicWelding Supervisor
19. Richard Mason, Electrician

20. Jesse Mendiola, Building Engineer

21. Victor Palochak, Svcs. Support Technician
22. Silvia Perez, Exec. Assistant to the Board
23. Gary Perko, Security Officer

24. Angelica Romero, Custodian

25. Lawrence Roney, Sr. Dir. of

Information Technology

26.Francisco Salinas, Service Worker

27. William Tsang, Services Manager

28. Katherine Vosburgh, Event Design Coordinator
29. Alberto Chavez, Lead Service Worker

30. Jesus Gonzalez, Service Worker

31. Carla Hampton, Contracts Administrator
32. Kelli Luchs, Archivist

33. Heather Manning, Advertising and

Digital Engagement Coordinator

34. Christopher Marsh, Sr. Mgr.

of Telecommunications

35. Jim McMichael, National Sales Manager

36. Joel Peterson, Sales Executive

37. Aurelio Quirino, Lead Custodian

38. Merlin Sarmiento, Covention Services Mgr.

39. David Van Ausdale, HVAC Technician

40. Heather Wisniewski, Facility Support Technician
41. Kil Yi, Services Worker

42. Marisa Allegra, Sales Coordinator

43. Cori Calhoun, Controller

44. Marc Chapin, A/V Technician

45. Jessica Gonzalez, Facility Support Technician
46. William Irwin, Security Officer

47. Tri Nguyen, A/V Technician

48. Anthony Perez, Security Officer

49. Johnathon Rodriguez, Custodian

50. Edward Sowinski, Perimeter Security Officer
51. Angela Sylvester, Facility Support Technician
52. Lisa Toy, Information Technology Coordinator
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING
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MEETING
DATE: DECEMBER 12, 2023 ITEM NO. 1
TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

) BR'AN YOST (—Do‘cuSigned by:
FROM: CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER Priam (4‘)5{
SUBJECT: SPECIAL EVENTS UPDATE

RECOMMENDATION
Representatives from the Las Vegas Super Bowl Host Committee will provide an event
update to the Board of Directors.

This is an informational item and does not require Board action.

FISCAL IMPACT

None
DocuSigned by:
[Ex‘uw Kl
STEVE HILL
BOARD
ACTION: CEO/PRESIDENT

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND

Representatives from the Las Vegas Super Bowl Host Committee will present the Board with
an update on preparation efforts related to Super Bow! LVIII, which will take place in February
of 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING
AGENDA DOCUMENTATION

MEETING

DATE: DECEMBER 12, 2023 ITEM NO. 2

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

) ED FlNGER l,——DocuSigned by:
FROM: CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER —
SUBJECT: ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT (ACFFi) FISCAL YEAR
" ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

RECOMMENDATION

That the Board of Directors review the fiscal year (FY) 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial
Report, including independent auditors’ reports.

This is an informational item and does not require Board action.

FISCAL IMPACT

None
DocuSigned by:
[Ex‘uw Hill
STEVE HILL
BOARD CEO/PRESIDENT
ACTION:

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND

Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 354.624 requires each local government to provide for an
annual independent audit of all of its funds and account groups. The statute also requires
the audit to be submitted to the Board of Directors (Board), and the opinions and findings of
the auditor presented at a meeting of the Board.

Submitted herewith is the June 30, 2023, ACFR, including independent auditor’s reports as
required. This report is being submitted within NRS guidelines and without qualification. The
Chief Financial Officer will provide a briefing on the FY 2023 financial results.

A representative from Eide Bailly, LLP will be available to discuss the auditor’s reports.
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November 28, 2023
To the Board of Directors and the citizens of Clark County, Nevada:

We are pleased to present this Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the Las Vegas Convention and
Visitors Authority (LVCVA) for the year ending June 30, 2023. Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) requires the LVCVA
to issue a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) and audited in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America by a firm of licensed certified public accountants.

The Finance Department prepared these financial statements and assumes responsibility for the completeness
and reliability of the information presented in this report. To provide a reasonable basis for making these
representations, the Finance Department maintains a comprehensive internal control framework that is designed
to provide reasonable assurance that the LVCVA’s assets are protected from loss, theft, or misuse. The concept of
reasonable assurance recognizes that, based on management’s estimates and judgments, the cost of maintaining
internal controls should not exceed the benefits. We believe the LVCVA’s internal controls adequately safeguard
assets and provide reasonable assurance of the proper recording of financial transactions.

Eide Bailly, LLP, a public accounting firm licensed and qualified to perform audits of local governments within the
State of Nevada, has audited the LVCVA’s basic financial statements. The goal of the independent audit was to
provide reasonable assurance that the basic financial statements of the LVCVA, as of and for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2023, are free of material misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the basic financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. The independent auditors concluded, based upon the audit, that the LVCVA’s basic financial
statements as of and for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, are fairly presented, in all material respects, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP). The independent auditor's
report is presented on the first three pages of the financial section of this document.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report. It provides

an analytical overview of the LVCVA’s operations for fiscal year (FY) 2023. This letter of transmittal is intended to
complement the MD&A and other information contained in this report and should be read in conjunction with it.

REPORTING ENTITY

The LVCVA was created to directly drive tourism to Southern Nevada, through ownership and operation of the Las
Vegas Convention Center (LVCC), and through marketing, sales, and advertising programs in cooperation with our
resort and industry partners. The LVCVA’s mission statement is:

“To attract visitors by promoting Las Vegas as the world's most desirable destination for
leisure and business travel.”

The LVCVA is a unique destination marketing organization in that it also owns and operates a convention center.
The LVCVA is also a government agency, established by Nevada state law, primarily funded by room tax, and
governed by an autonomous board of directors. The LVCVA’s 14-member board of directors serves on behalf of a
broad cross-section of stakeholders within the local tourism, business, and public sectors.




Marketing and Sales

The LVCVA's core purpose as the destination marketing organization is to drive visitation across both leisure and
business segments for Southern Nevada, including Las Vegas, Boulder City, Laughlin, and Mesquite. The LVCVA's
marketing programs include coordinated efforts among our resort and mission partners, in conjunction with
internal teams and external marketing partners of the LVCVA. Through tailored marketing and sales strategies for
each of the unique Southern Nevada destinations, efforts are designed to maximize demand through multi-
channel advertising, digital marketing, events, sponsorships, and destination sales for each of the unique Southern
Nevada destinations. The LVCVA partners with key transportation agencies and McCarran International Airport
to ensure accessibility to and within the destination. The LVCVA’s sales teams directly sell not only the LVCC but
also distribute leads to individual properties and business partners to drive both leisure and business travel in
Southern Nevada. The overall marketing effort is driven by destination-specific research and industry trends as
insights to enable more effective business strategies and market optimizations.

Las Vegas Convention Center

In addition to marketing and selling the destination, the LVCVA operates
the Las Vegas Convention Center (LVCC) to generate business travel for
meetings and conventions. While leisure travel makes up the majority
of visitors, business travel is a vital component of our market and
historically represents about one in six visitors to Southern Nevada.

The newly expanded LVCC is one of the busiest convention facilities in
the world: a 4.6 million square foot facility located within a short
distance of more than 100,000 guest rooms. The center is well-known among industry professionals for its
versatility. In addition to approximately 2.6 million square feet of exhibit space, 200 meeting rooms handle seating
capacities ranging from 20 to 2,500. Grand lobbies and registration areas link exhibit halls and meeting rooms and
allow simultaneous set-up, break-down, and exhibiting of multiple events.

The Wall Street Journal (WSJ) conducted a study of the top convention centers in the United States, ranked the
top 30 convention centers, and named the LVCC the No. 1 convention center in the United States. During fiscal
year 2023, the LVCC hosted 83 events, down 7.7% from fiscal year 2022, mostly related to show rotation. LVCC
convention attendance increased 26% over fiscal year 2022; however, it is still below peak pre-pandemic levels.

The LVCC Loop is an underground tunnel system that provides fast and convenient transportation for convention
and trade show attendees, connecting each of the hall sets across the nearly 200-acre LVCC campus. Built by Elon
Musk’s The Boring Company, the LVCC Loop has three passenger stations that offer convenient access between
LVCC exhibition hall blocks, parking lots, and the Las Vegas Monorail. The Loop is also connected to Resorts World,
Westgate, and Encore hotels, with the latter two schedule to become operational in fiscal year 2024.

ECONOMIC CONDITION

Tourism is the largest industry and economic driver in Southern Nevada. Las Vegas is the home of 18 of the 20
largest hotels in the United States. Southern Nevada has a hotel room inventory exceeding 160,000, with over
150,000 of those rooms located in the Las Vegas metropolitan area.




The LVCVA received record room tax and General Fund revenues in fiscal year 2023, marking significant growth
compared to the previous year. The LVCVA’s room tax collections of $354.0 million increased 20.4% from the
previous record-setting FY 2022 amount of $294.0 million and were 23.6% higher than the pre pandemic $286.4
million in FY 2019.

Las Vegas is performing well economically, with total higher visitor spending despite lower overall visitation
compared to pre-pandemic levels. Visitation increased in the calendar year 2022 by 20.5%, from 32.2 million to
38.8 million. In calendar year 2022, occupancy increased from 66.8% to 79.2%, and average daily room rates (ADR)
increased by 24.5%. June 2023 saw occupancy levels at 85.5% and ADR at $165.21, which is an increase of 3.4%
and 1.7% from the previous June. In calendar year 2019, visitation was 42.5 million, ADR was $132.62, and
occupancy was 88.9%.

Occupancy and visitation continue to increase, with August 2023 monthly visitation increasing 4.0% compared to
August 2022. Hotel occupancy reached 80.3%, a 3.5 point increase, and ADR approached $159, a 7% increase,
both compared to the prior year.

Las Vegas is known for continually reinventing itself to deliver on the brand promise of being the premier
destination in the world. The Fontainebleau Las Vegas, across from the LVCC, is scheduled to open in December
2023 with 3,900 rooms. The MSG Sphere, a 17,500-seat performance venue near the Venetian completed
construction and opened at the end of September 2023.

MAJOR INITIATIVES IN FISCAL YEAR 2023

Las Vegas Convention Center District

The LVCVA is currently executing Phase Three of the LVCCD project, consisting of the renovation, modernization,
and addition to the existing facility to create consistency with the Phase Two expansion. The Phase Three
architectural design phase resumed last fiscal year. The estimated budget for Phase Three of the LVCCD project is
$600 million. Construction began in fiscal year 2023, with the most significant work scheduled to occur between
January 2024 and December 2025.

Transportation Services
The Las Vegas Monorail moved more than 4.7 million passengers, and generated over $25 million in revenue,
growing 42% and 25%, respectively, above FY 2022.

The Las Vegas Loop continues its construction of the fare-generating portion of the system, with the Resorts World
station complete and operating, and the Westgate and Encore spurs nearing completion, all resorts with close
proximity to the LVCC. Local governments have approved 68 miles of tunnel and 93 stations for the Las Vegas
Loop. Although privately owned, this connected transportation system will support convention transportation to
and from the LVCC. The LVCC portion of the Loop moved over 1,000,000 passengers in its first two years of
operation.

Marketing
\m During the fiscal year, a new advertising campaign highlighted Las Vegas as a

= T grown-up destination, an escape from routine and obligations. LVCVA also
g continued the campaign of “The Greatest Arena on Earth,” as Las Vegas
il WA T ey continues to add unique sporting events to its future calendar, surrounded by
£5 - & the backdrop of the Las Vegas Strip.
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The LVCVA also continued to drive the return of meetings and conventions
through the “Vegas Means Business” campaign, and carried out successful
diversity, wedding, and extended destination campaigns throughout the year.




LONG-TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

The LVCVA finance staff maintain a long-term operational and capital financial planning model, updating long-
term operating forecasts to ensure alignment with the LVCVA’s strategic objectives, including the enhancement
of the global Las Vegas brand as a destination for serious business as well as fun. The primary objectives of the
advertising programs are to promote long-term brand awareness that drives domestic and international visitation
for leisure activities. Additionally, business-focused programs emphasize the importance of the meetings and
convention industry, which results in long-term facility leases for tradeshows and meetings. The LVCCD embodies
the long-term strategy of protecting existing business and competitive advantages and attracting future business
for Las Vegas.

The LVCVA believes it is important to maintain a balance between planning for recurring resources to sustain core
operations and strategic financial planning for a multi-year capital program. Analysis of future intended outlays
and anticipated revenues enabled an assessment of overall financial implications, including additional funding
requirements, to be readily identified. A comprehensive, long-range pro forma, forecasting sources and uses of
funds through FY 2049 was created. The pro forma includes conservative growth assumptions for revenues and
operating activities, as well as requirements to meet debt obligations, including all new debt requirements for all
phases of LVCCD. The analysis was used to estimate the level of funding required to support the LVCCD program,
without sacrificing our commitment to the core mission.

Incorporated into the current model includes the following events. The LVCVA entered into a contract to sell 10
surplus acres along Las Vegas Boulevard for $125 million, with additional site excavation and compaction of the
site reducing the net proceeds of the sale by approximately $10 million, which is expected to close in fiscal year
2024. Current plans are to utilize the proceeds for Phase Three construction. In August 2023, the LVCVA issued
$150 million in revenue bonds to be used for Phase Three construction. The remaining funding for Phase Three is
programed to come from LVCCD revenues and pay-as-you-go transfers.

DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Debt Policy
The LVCVA is committed to complying with all federal and other regulatory requirements regarding the issuance

and ongoing management of its debt. The LVCVA’s debt policy establishes the requirements and procedures for
ensuring compliance with federal laws relating to issuance and post-issuance monitoring of tax-exempt bonds and
taxable direct-pay bonds. The policy sets coverage and reserve goals and is also intended to define compliance
practices including compliance actions, records management, disclosure requirements, and process continuity
within the Finance Department and the executive management of the LVCVA.

ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS AND BUDGETARY CONTROLS

The annual budget serves as the financial plan of the LVCVA. The planning and preparation begin each December.
The tentative budget is filed by April 15 with the Nevada Department of Taxation and the Clark County Clerk, as
required by Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS). Between April 15 and approval of the budget, which is no sooner than
the third Monday in May and no later than the last day in May, the public has the opportunity to review the
tentative budget document and submit any comments for inclusion on the agenda. A public hearing provides the
public an opportunity to submit additional comments on the proposed budget to the Board.

The final budget is fully implemented on July 1 in the LVCVA's accounting system. The statutory level of budgetary
control is at the function level; in reality, control is maintained at the line-item level through the use of a purchase
order and encumbrance system. An encumbrance is recorded in the accounting system when a purchase order is
issued.



Budget variance reports are distributed to the Board on a regular basis. Adjustments to the overall budget are
accomplished through an augmentation process, which requires adoption by a majority vote of the Board at a
regular meeting to increase appropriations above levels originally approved. This formal resolution procedure
adheres to the process prescribed by NRS.

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) has bestowed the
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting on the LVCVA’s Annual Comprehensive Financial
Report (ACFR) for the years ending 1984-2022. The LVCVA will submit the FY 2023 ACFR to the GFOA for reward
consideration.

The preparation of this report involved the dedicated work of staff in the Finance Department, with the support
and cooperation of every division. We welcome inquiries concerning this report and the finances of the LVCVA.

Respectfully submitted,

TemOdtl

Steve Hill Ed Finger, CPA
CEO/President Chief Financial Officer
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

PRINCIPAL OFFICIALS
As of June 30, 2023

The Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority is governed by a Board of Directors consisting of fourteen members. Eight
members are elected officials of either Clark County or one of its incorporated cities. The Las Vegas Metro Chamber of
Commerce (CC) and Nevada Resort Association (NRA) nominate three each of the remaining six members. Seven of eight
elected officials are selected periodically by their respective governing bodies; their terms on the Board are coterminous with
The eighth elected official, from one of the other incorporated cities, serves a two-year term,
commencing on July 1 of each odd-numbered year. The six remaining members serve a two-year term and can be re-

their terms of office.

appointed to additional two-year terms. As of June 30, 2023, members of the board included:

JIM GIBSON
Chair
Commissioner
Representing Clark County
Term: Jan 2021 — Dec 2024

CEDRIC CREAR
Councilman

Representing City of Las Vegas

Term: Jan 2023 - Nov 2024

. g

MICHAEL NAFT
Commissioner
Representing Clark County
Term: Jan 2021 - Dec 2023

ANTON NIKODEMUS
Vice Chair
Representing resort hotel
Nominated by NRA
Term: Jul 2021 - Jun 2025

CAROLYN G. GOODMAN
Mayor
Representing City of Las Vegas
Term: Jul 2019 — Nov 2024

MICHELLE ROMERO
Mayor
Representing Henderson
Term: Jan 2023 — Dec 2026

STEVE WALTON
Councilman
Representing Boulder City
Term: Dec 2022 — Nov 2026

PAMELA GOYNES-BROWN
Secretary
Mayor
Representing North Las Vegas
Term: Aug 2018 — Nov 2024

BRIAN GULLBRANTS
Representing resort hotel
Nominated by NRA
Term: Jan 2022 - Jun 2025

MARY BETH SEWALD

Representing other commercial

Nominated by CC

Term: Jul 2021 —Jun 2025

BRIAN WURSTEN
Councilman

Representing City of Mesquite
Term: Jul 2021 —Jun 2025

SCOTT DEANGELO
Treasurer
Representing general business
Nominated by CC
Term: Jul 2020 —Jun 2024

JAN JONES-BLACKHURST
Representing resort hotel
Nominated by CC
Term: Jul 2021 —Jun 2025

STEVE THOMPSON
Representing resort hotel in
central business district
Nominated by NRA
Term: Jul 2020 —Jun 2024
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
SENIOR EXECUTIVE STAFF
As of June 30, 2023

The LVCVA Board of Directors serves as a policy-making body and employs a President to serve as Chief Executive Officer. On
June 30, 2023, the LVCVA senior executive team consisted of:

Steve Hill
Chief Executive Officer/President

Ed Finger Lisa Messina
Chief Financial Officer Chief Sales Officer

Kate Wik Brian Yost

Chief Marketing Officer Chief Operating Officer

Caroline Bateman
General Counsel
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CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Board of Directors
Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority
Las Vegas, Nevada

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority (the “LVCVA”) as
of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the LVCVA’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the Las Vegas Convention and Visitor’s Authority, as of June
30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for
the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the
LVCVA and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Adoption of New Accounting Standard

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Authority has adopted the provisions of GASB
Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, for the year ended June
30, 2023. This adoption did not result in a restatement of net position as of July 1, 2022. Our opinions
are not modified with respect to this matter.

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com
9139 W. Russell Rd., Ste. 200 | Las Vegas, NV 89148-1250 | T702.304.0405 | F702.304.0415 | EOE



Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the LVCVA’s ability to
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the LVCVA’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the LVCVA’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis and Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios, Schedule
of Proportionate Share of the PERS Net Pension Liability, Schedule of Contributions to PERS Pension
Plan, Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances — Budget and Actual — General
Fund, on pages 5-16 and 59-67 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the LVCVA’s basic financial statements. The individual fund information and the
schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,
are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
GAAS. In our opinion, the individual fund information and the schedule of expenditures of federal
awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other
information comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not
cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and
the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.



Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 28,
2023, on our consideration of the LVCVA's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the LVCVA’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the LVCVA’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

CZM LEFP

Las Vegas, Nevada
November 28, 2023
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

As management of the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority (the LVCVA), we offer readers of the LVCVA’s financial
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the LVCVA’s financial performance for the fiscal year (FY) ending June 30,
2023. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information furnished
in the letter of transmittal, which can be found on pages i to v of this report.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Total government-wide revenues increased by approximately $94.6 million. This increase is mainly due to the
significant growth in room tax, $57.5 million or 17% higher than the previous year. After the FY 2020 COVID-19
pandemic, Southern Nevada’s economy had a strong rebound, led by the recovery in the travel and tourism industry.
After FY 2022 reached an all-time high in room tax revenues, FY 2023 surpassed FY 2022’s record. Facility charges
for services increased $10.4 million or 13%, compared to the prior year, as convention attendance continues its
recovery from the effects of COVID-19 pandemic.

Total government-wide expenditures increased $46.3 million from FY 2022. In the post-pandemic era, tourism and
consumer spending recovered at a remarkable pace. The LVCVA invested heavily in advertising and marketing to
capture interest and keep Las Vegas top-of-mind for consumers. Despite the large, planned increase in expenditures
in these sectors, total government-wide revenues exceeded expenditures by $48.3 million, while General Fund
ending balance increased $42.1 million, as compared to the budgeted decrease of $38.2 million.

Phase Three of the renovation project for Las Vegas Convention Center District (LVCCD) is currently in progress, as
scheduled, renovating and modernizing the facility. Improvements in Phase Three include a new main lobby, a
climate-controlled walkway between halls, and upgrades to exhibit halls, meeting rooms, restrooms, and
technology. This multi-year project is budgeted at $600.0 million and is expected to be completed in FY 2026.

The LVCVA issued two series of bonds during the fiscal year, with a par value totaling $150.0 million. These revenue
bonds were issued for the LVCCD expansion and renovation project, consisting of $136.8 million of non-taxable and
$13.2 million of taxable bonds, carrying a blended true interest cost of 4.19%.

FY 2023 ending net position totaled $437.7 million, a $151.4 million increase from the previous year. This includes
an increase in restricted net position of $168.8 million, primarily due to the issuance of $150.0 million bonds for
LVCCD Phase Three project, in addition to the required set-asides for July annual debt payments. Unrestricted net
position decreased $20.7 million, ending with a deficit balance of $92.2 million. This decrease is primarily due to an
increase in pension liabilities, partially offset by the overall increase in net position resulting from the significant
increase in revenues.

Although the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report is comprised of various sections, the LVCVA's basic financial statements
are presented in four components:

(
(

(
(

1
2
3
4

)
)
)
)

Government-wide financial statements
Governmental fund financial statements
Proprietary fund financial statements

Notes to the financial statements
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Annual Comprehensive Financial Report

Additional Reports of the

Introductory Section Financial Section Statistical Section )
Independent Auditors

General information on the

Independent Auditors' Trend data and non- Independent Auditors'
government structure,

Reports financial data Reports

services, and environment

Management's Discussion
and Analysis
Government-wide Financial

Statements
Governmental Fund Financial
Statements

Proprietary Fund Financial
Statements
Notes to the Financial

Statements
Required Supplementary
Information
Individual Fund Financial
Schedules

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These two financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the LVCVA’s finances in a manner
similar to private-sector business, using the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting.

The Statement of Net Position is, in substance, the balance sheet. It includes not just current assets and liabilities and deferred
outflows and inflows of resources, but also capital assets and long-term debt. All funds are included in this statement. Over
time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator as to whether the financial position of the LVCVA
is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities is the operating statement for the LVCVA, as a whole. It is based on full accrual accounting rather
than the traditional modified accrual. Depreciation and amortization of capital assets is recognized as an expense, as are
compensated absences, post-employment benefits other than pensions (OPEB), an allocated share of Public Employees’
Retirement System (PERS) net pension liability, pollution obligations, and asset retirement obligations. The format of the
statement has an unfamiliar appearance, and it focuses on the net cost of the LVCVA’s individual functions and is intended
to answer the question, “How much did it cost, and how is it being paid?”

GOVERNMENTAL FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Following the government-wide statements is a section containing the fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of
related accounts that is used to maintain control over specific activities. Governmental funds use the current financial
resources measurement focus and modified accrual basis of accounting, which focuses on showing how money flows into
and out of funds and the balances remaining at year end that are available for spending. The LVCVA, like other state and local
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.

PROPRIETARY FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Following the governmental fund financial statements is a section containing the proprietary fund financial statements. The
LVCVA uses an Internal Service Fund to accumulate resources and utilize funds for eventual payment related to OPEB
liabilities. This service benefits governmental rather than business-type functions, and, as such, it is included within the
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Proprietary funds use the accrual basis of accounting,
which focuses on the determination of net position, operating income, changes in net position, and cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data in the government-wide and
fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 25 through 58 of this report.

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain required
supplementary information found on pages 59 through 62, including a schedule of changes in OPEB liability, the LVCVA'’s
proportionate share of the PERS net pension liability, contributions to the PERS pension plan, and General Fund budgeted
and actual revenues, expenditures, and change in fund balance.

CONDENSED COMPARATIVE DATA

ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND NET
POSITION

The LVCVA’s change in net position, on the government-wide basis, increased $151.4 million during the year as follows:

CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Increase (Decrease)
FY 2022 FY 2023 Amount Percent

Net position — beginning S 183,187,256 | S 286,309,948 | $ 103,122,692 56%
Revenues 416,463,609 511,053,430 94,589,821 23%
Expenses 313,340,917 359,645,412 46,304,495 15%
Change in net position 103,122,692 151,408,018 48,285,326 47%
Net position — ending S 286,309,948 | S 437,717,966 | S 151,408,018 53%

The increase in overall net position reflects significant revenue increases from room tax, transportation, and ancillary charges,
as visitor volume and convention attendance increased remarkably in FY 2023. This result is partially offset by increased
expenditures in advertising and marketing to support recovery and growth of tourism.

The LVCVA's assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources consisted of the following:

| CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
Increase (Decrease)
June 30, 2022 June 30, 2023 Amount Percent

Current and other assets S 427,881,725 | § 706,401,296 | S 278,519,571 65%
Capital assets 1,748,939,726 1,749,831,791 892,065 0%

Total assets 2,176,821,451 2,456,233,087 279,411,636 13%
Deferred outflows of resources 42,650,935 75,517,450 32,866,515 77%
Current and other liabilities 81,693,371 73,178,836 (8,514,535) -10%
Long-term liabilities 1,768,570,583 1,956,974,347 188,403,764 11%

Total liabilities 1,850,263,954 2,030,153,183 179,889,229 10%
Deferred inflows of resources 82,898,484 63,879,388 (19,019,096) -23%
Net position

Net investment in capital assets 303,145,255 306,512,453 3,367,198 1%

Restricted 54,579,329 223,364,802 168,785,473 309%

Unrestricted (deficit) (71,414,636) (92,159,289) (20,744,653) -29%

Total net position S 286,309,948 | S 437,717,966 | S 151,408,018 53%
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Net investment in capital assets is net of the debt used to acquire those assets and increased $3.4 million, primarily due to
debt principal payments.

Restricted net position demonstrates legal constraints from debt covenants or other restrictions that limit the LVCVA’s ability
to use those resources. Restricted net position is primarily composed of funds held for future debt service payments.
Restricted net position increased $168.8 million, mainly due the issuance of $150.0 million bonds for LVCCD Phase Three
project, in addition to the required set asides for July annual debt payments.

The unrestricted net position deficit increased $20.7 million, primarily due to an increase in pension liabilities and partially
offset by the overall increase in net position driven by an increase in revenues. The continued deficit in unrestricted net
position exists primarily due to approximately $300.0 million of bonds ($231.3 million outstanding) issued for NDOT projects
that are not assets of the LVCVA. See Note 3 on page 32 for additional information on net position.

REVENUES

Revenues are classified as either general or program. Program revenues are those directly generated by a function or activity
of the LVCVA. For example, the cost of operating and maintaining the Las Vegas Convention Center (LVCC) is reported in the
Operations function, as well as the LVCVA transportation systems of the Las Vegas Monorail, a seven-stop, 3.9-mile elevated
transportation system along the east side of the Las Vegas Strip, with stations at MGM Grand, Bally’s/Paris, Flamingo/Caesars
Palace, Harrah’s/The LINQ, the LVCC, the Westgate, and the Sahara, in addition to the Las Vegas Convention Center Loop
(Vegas Loop), an underground tunnel system which transports visitors to three on-campus stations near the South Hall,
Central Hall, and West Hall. The Vegas Loop, furthermore, has officially opened the Resorts World passenger station.
Revenues are generated as a direct result of the operation of the LVCC facilities in the form of building rental charges,
concession sales, parking fees, Monorail ticket sales, and other charges to users of the facilities; the LVCC portion of the Vegas
Loop is not revenue generating for the LVCVA.

The general revenue classification includes all room taxes and gaming fees and investment income because they are neither
related to charges for program services nor restricted for use by a specific function. Clark County (the County) and the
incorporated cities within the County, which includes Las Vegas, levy room tax on all transient lodging establishments, which
is the LVCVA's primary source of revenue. All revenues that do not qualify as program revenues are reported as general
revenues.

Total government-wide revenues for FY 2023 were $511.1 million, a 23% increase compared to FY 2022.

Increase (Decrease)
FY 2022 FY 2023 Amount Percent
General revenues
Room taxes and gaming fees S 333,499,733 | $ 390,996,728 | § 57,496,995 17%
Interest and investment earnings (4,565,368) 7,847,636 12,413,004 272%
Other 1,524,329 8,970,151 7,445,822 488%
Total general revenue 330,458,694 407,814,515 77,355,821 23%
Program revenues
Operations 82,874,176 93,270,422 10,396,246 13%
Marketing 1,575,194 8,410,272 6,835,078 434%
General government 1,555,545 1,558,221 2,676 0%
Total program revenues 86,004,915 103,238,915 17,234,000 20%
Total revenues S 416,463,609 | S 511,053,430 S 94,589,821 23%

Government-wide room taxes and gaming fees totaled $391.0 million during FY 2023, an increase of $57.5 million. Room tax
is affected by the number of lodging rooms available, occupancy rate, and average daily room rate (ADR). Room inventory in
the County held almost flat, compared to FY 2022, while average occupancy percentage increased from 73.8% to 80.8% in FY
2023. ADR averaged $155.74 in FY 2023, a 9.5% increase over the $142.23 result in FY 2022. Although overall visitation for FY
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2023 was still 3.9% below the FY 2019 high, the increase in both international and domestic travel continued the growth in
room tax revenues from the start of the COVID-19 pandemic in FY 2020, due to increases in both occupancy rate and ADR.
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The majority of room tax revenue and gaming fees was generated in Clark County, at $355.8 million or 91%. The City of Las
Vegas was the second-largest collector of room taxes and gaming fees, at $22.6 million or 6%. The other incorporated cities
of North Las Vegas, Henderson, Boulder City, and Mesquite combined to provide the remaining 3%.
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The room tax rate in Clark County averages 10.5% to 14% on lodging facilities, and such rate can only be modified by the
action of the Nevada State Legislature.
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In general, room tax rates for hotel room rentals in Clark County are as follows:

4% - 5% LVCVA - General Fund
0.5% LVCVA — LVCCD Capital Fund
0.0% - 0.88% Las Vegas Stadium Authority

1.625% Clark County School District - Capital Projects

0% - 2% City/County (collecting entities jurisdiction) - General Fund

1% Clark County - County transportation tax

0.375% State General Fund — a portion of the proceeds are allocated to tourism
2% -3% State of Nevada - education and other state programs

Interest and investment earnings increased $12.4 million, or 272%, over the prior period, primarily due to increased
investment value on June 30, 2023, and higher market interest rates throughout FY 2023. As the LVCVA's investment policy
is to hold investments until maturity, this value is a temporary snapshot in time indicator, but it is not the maturity value of
the investment. Other revenue is significantly up due to a one-time payment of $7 million related to a terminated land sale.

FACILITY OPERATIONS

Increase (Decrease)
FY 2022 FY 2023 Amount Percent
Charges for services S 62,743,443 | S 68,116,214 | S 5,372,771 9%
Expense 69,573,491 80,708,057 11,134,566 16%
Net proceeds/(expense) S (6,830,048)| S (12,591,843)| S (5,761,795) -84%

Program revenues for Operations increased $5.4 million, or 9%, compared to the prior year, mainly due to the increases in
ancillary revenues, including catering and concessions and contractor’s services. While the total number of tradeshows and
events in the LVCVA decreased slightly due to annual show rotation, number of attendees increased approximately 26% in
FY 2023 compared to the previous year. Total expenses to operate the facility were $80.7 million, including depreciation and
amortization, an increase of 16% compared to FY 2022. The increase is primarily due to the actuarial adjustments to both the
public employees’ retirement system (PERS) and other post-employment benefits (OPEB) liabilities, salaries and benefits costs
related to filling vacant positions, and rate increases for power consumption.

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

Increase (Decrease)
FY 2022 FY 2023 Amount Percent
Charges for services S 20,130,733 | $ 25,154,208 | S 5,023,475 25%
Expense 26,615,124 28,887,129 2,272,005 9%
Net proceeds/(expense) S (6,484,391)| S (3,732,921)] § 2,751,470 42%

Transportation services consist of the Las Vegas Monorail and the LVCC Loop. Program charges for services of the Las Vegas
Monorail increased 25%, resulting from increased ridership, as well as a fare increase. The LVCC Loop system is
complementary for users within the campus and does not generate revenues for the LVCVA. Total expenses for
Transportation were $28.9 million, including depreciation and amortization, an increase of 9% compared to FY 2022. The
increase in expenditures is due to increased management fees and other costs associated with the increased usage and
operation of these systems.
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EXPENSES

Total government-wide expenses by function were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)
FY 2022 FY 2023 Amount Percent
General government S 12,702,896 | S 16,378,099 [ S 3,675,203 29%
Marketing:
Advertising 75,768,693 92,491,982 16,723,289 22%
Marketing and sales 13,236,041 24,084,803 10,848,762 82%
Special events grants 25,892,489 23,624,955 (2,267,534) -9%
Operations:
Facility operations 69,573,491 80,708,057 11,134,566 16%
Transportation services 26,615,124 28,887,129 2,272,005 9%
Community support and grants:
Other community support 25,702,631 24,922,739 (779,892) -3%
Interest and fiscal charges 63,849,552 68,547,648 4,698,096 7%
S 313,340,917| S 359,645,412| S 46,304,495 15%

The LVCVA increased advertising, marketing, and sales spending during FY 2023, to support and bolster the recovery and
growth of tourism. Special events grants decreased 9%, compared to the previous year, as the cyclical payments for some
special events decreased in FY 2023, such as Professional Bull Riders and NFL related events.

Operations expenses were $80.7 million in FY 2023, including depreciation and amortization, an increase of 16% compared
to FY 2022. The increase is primarily due to the actuarial adjustments to both the PERS and OPEB liabilities, salaries and
benefits costs related to filling vacant positions, and significant rate increases for power consumption. Transportation costs
increased 9%, compared to FY 2022, due to increased management fees and other costs associated with the higher usage
and operation of the Las Vegas Monorail and the LVCC Loop.

Other community support expenses consist of what is known as the collection allocation, a 10% return of the total room taxes
and gaming fees to the county and incorporated cities for their licensing, collection, and enforcement efforts provided by
Nevada Revised Statutes.

The collection allocation calculation excludes revenues generated from room taxes enabled under Senate Bill 1 (SB1) of the
2016 Nevada Special Legislative Session, which is restricted to the LVCCD expansion and renovation project. Additionally, SB1
imposed a collection allocation cap of $25.0 million on total room taxes and gaming fees, on a modified accrual basis, eligible
to be distributed to the collecting entities. Any funds above the cap are transferred to, and restricted in, the LVCCD Capital
Fund.

The increase in interest and fiscal charges relates directly to the issuance of new bonds and the structure of annual debt
payments.
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OVERALL FINANCIAL POSITION

The LVCVA continued to demonstrate strong financial results in FY 2023, with a $151.4 million improvement in overall net
position. While the LVCVA budgeted a 3.7% increase in room tax and a 1.1% increase in the use of facilities from FY 2022 in
anticipation of a continued, but moderate, growth in domestic travel and convention attendance, FY 2023 exceeded those
estimates with an actualized 20.4% increase in room tax and 12.9% increase in facility use. This increase is due to higher than
anticipated growth in the travel industry in the post-pandemic economy. Citywide, visitor volume increased 8.7% and
convention attendance increased 34.5% in FY 2023 compared to FY 2022. This higher revenue was the main driver behind
the overall improvement in net position.

The LVCVA’s debt coverage ratio remains more than double the 1.5 times minimum coverage required by bond covenants
and exceeds the 3.0 times coverage required by internal policy. Management remains vigilant to maintain fiscal sustainability
through conservative budgeting and continuous monitoring of actual financial results and economic trends at the local, state,
and national levels. Such an approach allows the LVCVA the ability to react swiftly to changing conditions and sustain
operations during challenging periods. The LVCVA is dedicated to the preservation of adequate fund balances to meet
operating cash flow requirements and to satisfy debt service obligations.

FUND ANALYSIS

The General Fund’s ending fund balance increased $42.1 million during FY 2023. The LVCVA originally budgeted a $1.8 million
increase in fund balance; however, higher-than-anticipated revenues, combined with expenditure management, resulted in
a larger increase to fund balance.

In the LVCCD Capital Fund, the LVCVA issued two series of bonds during the fiscal year, with a par value totaling $150.0 million
and an issuance premium of $13.9 million. In addition to the LVCCD Capital Fund SB1 room tax revenue funding, there was a
$55.0 million transfer budgeted from the General Fund for “pay-as-you-go reserves” to the LVCCD Capital Fund, and a $5.6
million transfer budgeted for the excess collection allocation above the $25.0 million distributed to collecting entities in the
original FY 2023 budget, Budget augmentation from higher-than-anticipated beginning fund balance from FY 2022 rollover,
allowed an additional $10.0 million transfer from the General Fund for “pay-as-you-go reserves” to the LVCCD Capital Fund.
Moreover, there was an actualized transfer of $10.5 million from the General Fund to the LVCCD Capital Fund for the excess
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collection allocation. All of these contributed to an increase in fund balance by $211.3 million instead of the original budget
of $170.7 million.

LVCCD Debt Service Fund balance increased $8.9 million, mainly due to the required set asides for July annual debt payments,
which included payments on the new debt issued during the fiscal year.

The fund balance in the Capital Projects Fund increased $21.3 million. This is primarily due to the fund transfer from the
General Fund in support of the capital projects, as part of a mid-year augmentation because of higher-than-anticipated
beginning fund balance from FY 2022 rollover.

The Debt Service Fund’s ending fund balance increased $4.9 million, due the required set asides for July annual debt
payments.

. LVCCD Debt Sevice . . .
General Fund LVCCD Capital Fund Fund Capital Projects Fund  Debt Service Fund
Fund balance - beginning S 84,007,202 S 142,488,226 S 19,914,437 $ 63,027,931 $ 39,825,614
Fund balance - ending 126,086,238 353,810,413 28,829,055 84,297,067 44,768,351
Change | S 42,079,036 $ 211,322,187 S 8,914,618 S 21,269,136 S 4,942,737
Percent change 50.1% 148.3% 44.8% 33.7% 12.4%

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The FY 2023 General Fund budget projected a 3.7% increase in room tax revenues, based on the assumption that the
improving trend in FY 2022 would continue in FY 2023. During the fiscal year, due to more visitors than anticipated, as well
as higher ADR and occupancy rate, actual room tax revenues performed better than budget and ended the year up 20.4%
compared to FY 2022.

The final budget for FY 2023 projected an ending General Fund balance of $45.8 million, or 16.8% of operating expenditures.
The ending General Fund balance actualized at $126.1 million, an improvement of $80.3 million over the final budget, due to
increased revenues, along with managed expenditures.
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The following tables summarize the changes in both revenues and expenditures budget:

GENERAL FUND CHANGES IN BUDGETED REVENUES AND TRANSFERS

Original Budget Revisions Final Budget

Room taxes and gaming fees S 306,200,000 S - S 306,200,000
Charges for service 60,050,800 - 60,050,800
Transportation services 21,000,000 - 21,000,000
Interest and other 12,411,900 - 12,411,900
Transfers in 130,000 - 130,000
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 25,000 - 25,000

| S 399,817,700 $ - $ 399,817,700

GENERAL FUND CHANGES IN BUDGETED EXPENDITURES AND TRANSFERS

| Original Budget Revisions Final Budget

General government S 20,464,500 S - S 20,464,500
Marketing:
Advertising 94,000,000 1,490,000 95,490,000
Marketing and sales 34,564,300 (1,490,000) 33,074,300
Special events grants 27,528,275 - 27,528,275
Operations 71,169,200 - 71,169,200
Community support:
Other community support 25,000,000 - 25,000,000
Transfers out 125,328,878 40,000,000 165,328,878

S 398,055,153 $ 40,000,000 $ 438,055,153

Actual General Fund revenues, transfers in, and proceeds from the sale of capital assets totaled $461.6 million, which was
$61.8 million higher than the final budget, mainly due to the higher room tax revenue than the budgetary estimate. Actual
General Fund expenditures and uses totaled $419.5 million, approximately $18.5 million less than the final budget. Due to
the higher-than-expected revenue result in FY 2022, the LVCVA was able to increase “pay-as-you-go” funding for the Capital
Projects Fund and the LVCCD Capital Fund but simultaneously hold steady on division expenditures. These results are largely
due to conservative budgeting practices, which are based on the strategy of budgeting revenues cautiously while budgeting
expenditures aggressively, as well as adjusting expenditure use during the year, as revenues are received and compared to
the budget to ensure the financial integrity of the LVCVA.

CAPITAL ASSETS

Investment in capital assets, as of June 30, 2023, totaled $1.75 billion (net of accumulated depreciation and amortization), a
slight increase compared to FY 2022. Net capital assets additions totaled $44.4 million, mainly due to the continuation and
the progress of LVCCD Phase Three project. Depreciation and amortization expense for the year was approximately $44.0
million.

Capital asset activity is accounted for in both the Capital Projects Fund and the LVCCD Capital Fund. More detailed information
on capital assets can be found in Note 5 on page 36.
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CAPITAL ASSETS
(net of depreciation and amortization)
Increase (Decrease)
June 30, 2022 June 30, 2023

Amount Percent
Land S 501,372,859 | S 501,372,859 - 0%
Intangibles 100,000 100,000 - 0%
Construction in progress 36,713,201 69,335,502 32,622,301 89%
Buildings 1,127,949,089 1,101,595,434 (26,353,655) -2%
Leased Buildings 787,732 473,387 (314,345) -40%
Leased Software - 458,611 458,611 100%
Transportation Systems 65,881,361 63,069,627 (2,811,734) -4%
Improvements other than buildings 6,605,390 5,337,880 (1,267,510) -19%
Furniture and equipment 9,530,094 8,088,491 (1,441,603) -15%

S 1,748,939,726 | $ 1,749,831,791 | S 892,065 0%

LONG-TERM DEBT

On June 30, 2023, the LVCVA’s debt, including unamortized discounts and premiums, totaled $1.8 billion. Of this amount,
$775.7 million are general obligation bonds additionally secured by specified revenue sources, $952.3 million are revenue
bonds, and $21.2 million are medium-term bonds.

General Obligation Revenue Medium Term Unamortized
Bonds Principal Bonds Principal Bonds Principal Premiums and Total
Balance Balance Balance Discounts

(In Thousands)

Beginning balance S 783,040 $ 815,030 S 21,300 S 78,247 S 1,697,617
Payments/retirements and amortization (7,345) (12,770) (100) (7,501) (27,716)
New issuances - 150,000 - 13,896 163,896
Ending balance IE 775,695 $ 952,260 $ 21,200 $ 84,642 S 1,833,797

In addition, some of the LVCVA’s long-term debt obligations are subject to restrictive debt covenants. The LVCVA has
committed to maintaining adequacy of charges against users of the Las Vegas Convention Center, but not necessarily all users
thereof. The LVCVA is required to set rentals, fees, and other charges to produce a defined term of pledged revenues and
expansion pledged revenues (revenue including the SB1 pledge) to pay, each fiscal year, the annual defined operation and
maintenance expense of the Authority’s facilities, which, together, are 1.25x the annual principal and interest requirements
on the LVCVA’s outstanding bonds, and other amounts required under the related bond resolutions.

In September 2022, the LVCVA issued $136,820,000 Series 2022B Tax Exempt Revenue bonds and $13,180,000 Series 2022C
Taxable Revenue Bonds for the purpose of LVCCD Phase Three project. The 2022B Bonds have true interest cost of 4.19%,
with a final installment date of July 1, 2049. Net proceeds totaled $150,000,151, including a $13,896,125 premium and net
of $715,974 in underwriting fees and other issuance costs. The 2022C Bonds have true interest cost of 4.19%, with a final
installment date of July 1, 2026. Net proceeds totaled $13,110,261, including $69,739 in underwriting fees and other issuance
costs. The 2022B and 2022C Bonds are included in the summary schedule of pledged revenue bonds.

FY 2023 pledged revenues and expansion pledged revenues are $427.3 million and $478.5 million, respectively, which are
inclusive of facility revenues (as defined in bond documents) of $65.9 million. Defined operation maintenance expense is
$65.5 million. The LVCVA coverage ratio on June 30, 2023, is 3.6x (and 4.2x including expansion pledged revenues). As a result
of the sustained growth in travel and tourism along with resilience and strength of the U.S. economy, the LVCVA has budgeted
revenues to comply with the coverage ratios in the bond resolutions for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024.

More detailed information on debt can be found in Note 8 on pages 39 through 44.

15



LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

INTERNAL SERVICE FUND

An Internal Service Fund is used to accumulate resources, through discretionary transfers from the General Fund, and the
eventual allocation of those resources for payments related to post-employment benefits other than pensions, on a cost-
reimbursement basis, as required by NRS 354.543. The LVCVA intends to use these assets for future OPEB funding, and
starting in FY 2023, this fund received $503 thousand in charges for services, which were paid out for retiree benefit costs.
Discretionary net transfers since FY 2013 total $2.3 million. Annual funding considerations include biannual actuarial studies,
among other factors and conditions.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET

Southern Nevada has substantially recovered from the pandemic. Although visitor volume and the convention attendance in
FY 2023 were still behind pre-pandemic levels, they are quickly moving closer to FY 2019 records, and visitor spend exceeds
pre-pandemic levels. Inflationary impacts remain an important consideration in all expenditure categories.

Room tax, the LVCVA’s major source of revenue, is budgeted to be 1.1% lower than FY 2023. This projection was based on
anticipated fiscal year 2022 final room tax numbers at the time of budgeting and assumes a flattening of growth. Additionally,
management has budgeted use of facilities to be 12.5% lower than FY 2023, based on the LVCVA’s schedules of large
tradeshows and events that differ from year to year.

As of the beginning of the 2nd quarter in FY 2024, the economy remains resilient with a healthy travel industry job market,
and low unemployment rate, with interest rate and other consumer pressures creating potential economic pressures.

ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The LVCVA’s financial statements are designed to present users (citizens, taxpayers, customers, and investors) with a general
overview of the LVCVA's finances and to demonstrate accountability. If you have any questions about the report or need
additional financial information, please contact:

LVCVA Chief Financial Officer
3150 Paradise Road
Las Vegas, NV 89109
(702) 892-2990
Or, please visit our website at:
www.lvcva.com/funding-and-finance/
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Statement of Net Position - Governmental Activities

June 30, 2023

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables:
Room taxes and gaming fees receivable
Accounts receivable
Interest
Prepaid and other items
Lease Receivable, current
Lease Receivable, non-current
Capital and intangible assets:
Non-depreciable
Depreciable, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total assets
Deferred outflows of resources:
Deferred charges on refunding
Deferred resources related to pensions
Deferred resources related to post-employment benefits other than pensions
Deferred asset retirement obligation
Total deferred outflows of resources
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Retention payable
Accrued payroll and related items
Due to other governments
Deposits
Unearned revenue
Interest payable
Workers compensation presumptive
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year:
Leases and SBITAs payable
Bonds payable
Compensated absences payable
Due in more than one year:
Leases and SBITAs payable
Bonds payable, net of unamortized discounts and premiums
Compensated absences payable
Post-employment benefits other than pensions
Net pension liability
Pollution remediation obligation
Asset retirement obligation
Arbitrage liability
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred resouces related to leases receivable
Deferred resources related to pension
Deferred resources related to post-employment benefits other than pensions
Total deferred inflow of resources

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:

Debt service

LVCCD capital project

LVCCD debt service

Other purposes
Unrestricted deficit

Total net position

S 78,885,850
531,775,150

63,254,527
17,925,412
1,339,713
10,446,312
921,589
1,852,743

570,808,361
1,179,023,430

2,456,233,087

8,975,204
45,281,049
8,782,451
12,478,746

75,517,450

22,465,722
614,627
3,843,499
6,106,599
497,579
1,520,116
37,767,991
362,707

524,595
38,123,000
3,351,022

336,727
1,795,673,824
2,459,344
29,603,518
68,076,494
1,910,500
16,275,108
640,215

2,030,153,187

2,644,485
33,964,824
27,270,079

63,879,388

306,512,453

43,069,434
151,393,787
28,829,055
72,526
(92,159,293)

S 437,717,962

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Program Revenues

Operating Grants

Net (Expenses)
Revenues and

Charges for and Changes
Function/Program Expenses Services Contributions in Net Position
Governmental activities:
General government S 16,378,099 S 1,558,221 (14,819,878)
Marketing:
Advertising 92,491,982 7,000,000 (85,491,982)
Marketing and sales 24,084,803 1,410,272 - (22,674,531)
Special events grants 23,624,955 - - (23,624,955)
Operations:
Facility operations 80,708,061 68,116,214 - (12,591,847)
Transportation services 28,887,129 25,154,208 - (3,732,921)
Community support and grants:
Other community support 24,922,739 - - (24,922,739)
Interest and fiscal charges 68,547,648 - - (68,547,648)
Total governmental activities S 359,645,416 S 94,680,694 S 8,558,221 (256,406,501)

General revenues:

Room taxes and gaming fees

Interest and investment earnings
Other
Total general revenues
Change in net position
Net position - beginning
Net position - ending

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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390,996,728
7,847,636
8,970,151

407,814,515

151,408,014
286,309,948
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
June 30, 2023

General LVCCD Capital LVCCD Debt Service Capital Projects Total Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Debt Service Fund Funds
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents S 7,057,479 S - S 28,830,149 S - S 42,998,222 S 78,885,850
Investments 92,130,322 335,933,358 389,734 98,648,066 2,517,542 529,619,022
Receivables:
Room taxes and gaming fees 57,368,276 5,886,251 - - - 63,254,527
Accounts 15,517,623 - - 2,407,789 - 17,925,412
Leases 2,774,332 - - - - 2,774,332
Interest 266,033 670,544 95,710 151,278 153,603 1,337,168
Due from other funds 901,933 17,043,788 - 8,451 - 17,954,172
Prepaid and other items 9,376,425 894,045 - 175,842 - 10,446,312
Total assets S 185,392,423 S 360,427,986 S 29,315,593 S 101,391,426 S 45,669,367 S 722,196,795
Liabilities:
Accounts payable S 14,994,319 S 3,629,638 S - S 3,841,765 S - S 22,465,722
Retention payable - 281,116 - 333,511 614,627
Accrued payroll and related items 3,843,499 - - - - 3,843,499
Due to other governments 3,479,459 - - - - 3,479,459
Due to other funds 6,055,326 - 486,538 10,511,293 901,015 17,954,172
Customer deposits 497,579 - - - - 497,579
Unearned revenue 1,520,116 - - - - 1,520,116
Total liabilities 30,390,298 3,910,754 486,538 14,686,569 901,015 50,375,174
Deferred inflows of resources:
Leases receivable 2,644,485 - - - - 2,644,485
Unavailable revenue 26,271,402 2,706,817 - 2,407,789 - 31,386,008
Total deferred inflows of resources 28,915,887 2,706,817 - 2,407,789 - 34,030,493
Fund balances:
Nonspendable 9,376,425 894,045 - 175,842 - 10,446,312
Restricted 72,526 151,393,787 28,829,055 13,020,989 43,069,435 236,385,792
Committed 20,869,130 201,522,581 - 67,565,745 1,698,916 291,656,372
Assigned 27,000,000 - - 3,534,491 - 30,534,491
Unassigned 68,768,157 - - - - 68,768,157
Total fund balances 126,086,238 353,810,413 28,829,055 84,297,067 44,768,351 637,791,124
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and
fund balances S 185,392,423 S 360,427,984 S 29,315,593 S 101,391,425 S 45,669,366 722,196,791
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:
Capital and intangible assets used in the governmental activities are not current financial resources and, therefore, are
not reported in the funds (See Note 2) 1,749,831,791
Certain assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore, are not recorded or are deferred
in the funds:
Room taxes and gaming fees - earned but unavailable 28,978,219
Other revenue - earned but unavailable 2,407,789
Pension and OPEB related deferred outflows of resources, as well as certain amounts related to bond refunding and asset
retirement obligations are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:
Deferred outflows of resources related to charges on refunding 8,975,204
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 45,281,049
Deferred outflows of resources related to post-employment benefits other than pensions 8,782,451
Deferred asset retirement obligation 12,478,746
The internal service fund is used by management to fund the future other post-employment benefit costs. The net position
of the internal service fund is reported with governmental activities. 2,158,673
Certain liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:
Accrued compensated absences (5,810,366)
Due to other governments - other community support (2,627,140)
Post-employment benefits other than pensions (29,603,518)
Net effect of difference in the treatment of long-term debt and related items (See Note 2) (1,872,426,133)
Pollution remediation obligation (1,910,500)
Net pension liability (68,076,494)
Asset retirement obligation (16,275,108)
Presumptive liability, workers compensation (362,707)
Presumptive arbitrage liabilty (640,215)
Pension and OPEB related deferred outflows of resources are not due and payable in the current period, and, therefore,
are not reported in the funds:
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (33,964,824)
Deferred inflows of resources related to post-employment benefits other than pensions (27,270,079)

Net position, governmental activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

LVCCD Debt
General LVCCD Capital Service Capital Projects Total Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Debt Service Fund Funds
Revenues:
Room taxes and gaming fees $ 355,324,940 S 36,529,040 S - S - S - S 391,853,980
Charges for services 69,456,004 - - - - 69,456,004
Interest and investment earnings 968,003 5,031,066 470,582 1,136,997 890,386 8,497,034
Transportation services 25,154,208 - - - - 25,154,208
Intergovernmental revenues (grant) 7,000,000 7,000,000
Federal grant subsidy 1,558,221 - - - - 1,558,221
Other 684,406 7,034,204 - 1,251,541 - 8,970,151
Total revenues 460,145,782 48,594,310 470,582 2,388,538 890,386 512,489,598
Expenditures:
Current:
General government 17,320,029 - - - - 17,320,029
Marketing:
Advertising 92,491,982 - - - - 92,491,982
Marketing and sales 24,735,165 - - - - 24,735,165
Special events grants 23,624,955 - - - - 23,624,955
Operations
Facility operations 42,573,189 - - - - 42,573,189
Transportation services 22,744,302 - - - - 22,744,302
Community support and grants:
Other community support 25,000,000 - - - - 25,000,000
Other
Capital outlay 575,535 26,517,869 - 20,369,402 - 47,462,806
Debt service:
Principal 220,073 - 1,100,000 - 19,115,000 20,435,073
Interest 16,440 - 39,785,226 - 31,421,571 71,223,237
Debt issuance costs - 853,611 - - - 853,611
Total expenditures 249,301,670 27,371,480 40,885,226 20,369,402 50,536,571 388,464,349
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 210,844,112 21,222,830 (40,414,644) (17,980,864) (49,646,185) 124,025,249
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 869,956 76,004,080 49,800,848 39,250,000 55,458,878 221,383,762
Transfers out (170,241,372) (49,800,848) (471,586) - (869,956) (221,383,762)
Proceeds from the sale of assets 30,805 - - - - 30,805
Issuance of capital lease obligation 575,535 - - - - 575,535
Issuance of debt - 150,000,000 - - - 150,000,000
Premium on debt issuance - 13,896,125 - - - 13,896,125
Total other financing sources (uses) (168,765,076) 190,099,357 49,329,262 39,250,000 54,588,922 164,502,465
Fund balances - beginning 84,007,202 142,488,226 19,914,437 63,027,931 39,825,614 349,263,410
Fund balances - ending S 126,086,238 $ 353,810,413 S 28,829,055 S 84,297,067 S 44,768,351 S 637,791,124

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are

different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures and do not report donated capital assets.
However, in the statement of net position, assets with an initial, individual cost that meets LVCVA's
capitalization threshold are capitalized and the cost is allocated over their estimated useful lives

and reported as depreciation and amortization expense.

Capital outlays (asset additions) S
Depreciation and amortization expense, including disposed assets

44,886,102
(43,994,036)

$

288,527,714

892,066

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are
not reported as revenues in the funds. Consists of unavailable revenues from room taxes and

gaming fees and miscellaneous receipts.

The issuance of long-term debt (i.e., bonds and capital leases) provides current financial resources

to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the
current financial resources of the governmental funds. Also, governmental funds report the
effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts

are deferred in the statement of net position and amortized over the term of the related debt.

Issuance of debt

Issuance of lease and SBITA obligations
Premium on debt issuance

Amortization of debt premiums and discounts
Amortization of refunding charges

Accrued interest expense

Lease and SBITA principal payments

Debt principal repayments

(150,000,000)
(575,535)
(13,896,125)
7,501,037
(649,020)
(3,322,823)
526,859
20,215,000

(786,769)

(140,200,607)

Change in expenses reported in the statement of activities that do not require the use of current

financial resources are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds.

Compensated absences

Post-employment benefits other than pensions

Deferred inflows of resources related to post-employment benefits other than pensions
Deferred outflows of resources related to post-employment benefits other than pensions
Net pension liability

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions

Pollution remediation

Asset retirement obligation

Long-term presumptive liability, workers compensation

Arbitrage liability

Due to other governments for collection allocation distribution

(11,315)
4,732,167
(1,735,203)
(518,943)
(53,387,777)
21,062,690
34,681,117
289,000
(1,603,998)
40,009
(640,215)
77,261

2,984,793

The internal service fund is used by management to fund future other post-employment
benefit costs. The change in net position of the internal service fund is reported with
governmental activities.

Change in net position of governmental activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Proprietary Fund




Assets:

Current assets:
Investments
Interest receivable

Total assets

Net position:
Unrestricted

LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Fund
June 30, 2023

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental Activities

Internal Service

Fund
$ 2,156,128
2,545
2,158,673
S 2,158,673




LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Position
Proprietary Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governmental Activities

Internal Service

Fund
Operating revenues:
Charges for services S 503,617
Total operating revenues 503,617
Operating expenses:
Services and benefits 503,617
Total operating expenses 503,617
Nonoperating revenues:
Interest and investment earnings (9,183)
Total nonoperating expenses (9,183)
Change in net position (9,183)
Net position - beginning 2,167,856
Net position - ending S 2,158,673

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
23



LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Statement of Cash Flows
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Governmental Activities

Internal Service
Fund

Cash flows from operating activities:
Charges for services S 503,617
Cash paid for services and benefits (503,617)

Net cash provided by operating activities -

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest on investments S 24,795
Deposits into investments (24,795)

Net cash used in investing activities -

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning s -

Cash and cash equivalents, ending $ -

Noncash investing and financing activities
Change in fair value of investments S (35,015)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

The financial statements of the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority (the LVCVA) have been prepared in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) is the primary source of governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The LVCVA's
significant accounting policies are summarized below, along with a discussion of some of the practices that are unique to
governments.

REPORTING ENTITY

The LVCVA was created in 1955 under the provisions of Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 244A as the Clark County Fair and
Recreation Board. This NRS governs the powers and duties of the Board of Directors (the Board), including the number,
selection, and terms of its members. The LVCVA is subject to State of Nevada (the State or Nevada) laws governing local
governments, including the Local Government Budget and Finance Act. The Board is responsible for establishing policy for
overall operations. The LVCVA is led by the Chief Executive Officer/President. The LVCVA does not include any component
units in its financial statements and is not included as a component unit in any other entity’s financial statements.

The LVCVA has been charged with the promotion of tourism, as well as to own, operate, and promote recreation and
convention facilities within Clark County (the County) for the benefit of the local economy.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Government-wide financial statements display information about the reporting government, as a whole. In order to present
an accurate financial picture, the effects of interfund activity have been eliminated. The purpose of the Statement of Activities
is to provide information to financial statement users about operating results of the LVCVA, in its entirety, over a period of
time. It demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those
that are clearly identifiable with a specific function. Program revenues include charges to customers who purchase, use, or
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function. The LVCVA’s program revenues include, but
are not limited to, charges to customers for facility rentals, commissions from food and beverage sales, parking revenue,
transportation ride tickets, and commissions from electrical, plumbing, and telecommunication services.

Room taxes and gaming fees and other items not restricted for use in a specific program or function are reported as general
revenues.

The Statement of Net Position is intended to present a snapshot of the financial position of the LVCVA, as a whole, as of year-
end. It displays the difference between assets and deferred outflows and liabilities and deferred inflows as net position. Net
position is reported as restricted when constraints have been placed on it by an external party (such as creditors, grantors,
or other governments) or imposed by law through a constitutional provision or enabling legislation. When both restricted
resources and other resources can be used for the same purposes, the LVCVA financial management policy considers
restricted resources to be spent first.

Governmental fund financial statements are used to account for essentially the same functions reported in the government-
wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial
statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources
available at the end of the fiscal year (FY).

A fund is an independent fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. Fund accounting segregates
operations according to their intended purpose and is used to aid management in demonstrating compliance with finance-
related legal and contractual provisions. The minimum number of funds maintained is consistent with legal and managerial
requirements.

Governmental fund types are used to account for general governmental activities. The operating fund of the LVCVA is the
General Fund. The LVCCD Capital Fund is used to account for the construction of new facilities and improvement of the
existing facilities related to the Las Vegas Convention Center District (LVCCD) project. The LVCCD Debt Service Fund accounts
for principal and interest payments on debt, with an additional pledge of legislatively restricted revenues for the LVCCD
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project. The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the acquisition and improvement of routine capital assets and related
improvements. Servicing of all other long-term debt obligations is recorded in the Debt Service Fund.

Proprietary fund financial statements distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. All revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as
nonoperating revenues and expenses. Internal service funds may be used to account for all or a portion of a government’s
risk financing activities. The LVCVA's only proprietary fund is an internal service fund.

MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

Measurement focus is a term used to describe which transactions are recorded within the various financial statements. Basis
of accounting refers to when transactions are recorded, regardless of measurement focus.

Government-wide financial statements are presented on a full accrual basis of accounting with an economic resource
measurement focus, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. An economic resource measurement focus
concentrates on net position. All transactions and events that affect the total economic resources (net position) during the
period are reported. Under the full accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and liabilities are
recorded at the time the obligations are incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash inflows and outflows. Major revenue
sources that may be accrued include room taxes, gaming fees, facility revenues, charges for services, transportation services,
interest and investment earnings, and miscellaneous.

Governmental fund financial statements are presented using a modified accrual basis and the current financial resources
measurement focus. Earned revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are
considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of
the current period, generally within 90 days of year end; however, room tax and gaming fee revenue are considered available
when collected within 30 days of year end. Major revenue sources that may be accrued include room taxes, gaming fees,
facility revenues, charges for services, transportation services, and interest and investment earnings. Liabilities are generally
recorded when an obligation is incurred. However, debt service expenditures and certain other long-term obligation
expenditures are recorded only when payment is due.

Since governmental fund financial statements are presented on a different measurement focus and basis of accounting than
the government-wide financial statements, the statements include reconciliations that explain the differences between the
net change in fund balances of governmental funds using a modified accrual basis and the change in government-wide
governmental activities using a full accrual basis and between total fund balances and net position.

The financial transactions of the LVCVA are recorded in individual funds. The operations of each fund are accounted for with
a separate set of self-balancing accounts comprised of assets and deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred inflows, fund
balance, revenues, expenditures, and other funding sources (uses).

The Balance Sheet and Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance of each major fund, as defined
by GAAP, and any other fund the government determines to have particular importance, are presented separately.

The LVCVA reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund
e Used as the LVCVA’s primary operating fund, it accounts for resources traditionally associated with
governments that are not required to be accounted for in another fund. The most significant sources of
revenue are room taxes and gaming fees, which are assessed on hotels and motels in Clark County. Facility
rentals, concession commissions, contractor commissions, and transportation ride tickets also provide a
large amount of General Fund revenue. The primary expenditures are for advertising, marketing, and
operation of the facilities.
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LVCCD Capital Fund
e Accounts for project costs related to LVCCD Phases Two and Three of the expansion and renovation
project. This fund accounts for transfers from the General Fund and tax revenues enacted and restricted
by the Nevada legislature.

LVCCD Debt Service Fund
e This fund is used to accumulate monies for the payment of principal and interest for debt, which has a
pledge of LVCVA revenues, including those restricted by the Nevada Legislature for Phases Two and Three
of the LVCCD project. Due to the qualitative significance of the project for the destination and related
funding to users of the financial statements, this fund is separately presented as a major fund. The fund
accounts for the following debt activity:

2018 A General Obligation Bonds 2018 B Revenue Bonds
2019 C General Obligation Bonds 2019 D Taxable General Obligation Bonds
2022 B Revenue Bonds 2022 C Taxable Revenue Bonds

Capital Projects Fund
e Accounts for capital expenditures on furniture, equipment, intangibles, and routine improvements or
additions to land and buildings financed by general government resources.
e Accounts for capital grants to other governments, which are for the express purpose of capital
construction activities by other governments.

Debt Service Fund

e Used to accumulate monies for the payment of principal and interest on the following debt:
2010 A (NDOT/BABs) General Obligation Bonds 2014 General Obligation Bonds
2015 General Obligation/Refunding Bonds 2016 C Revenue Refunding Bonds
2017 General Obligation Refunding Bonds 2017 B Revenue Refunding Bonds
2017 C General Obligation Crossover Refunding Bonds 2018 C Revenue Refunding Bonds
2019 B Revenue Bonds 2020 Medium Term Bonds
2021 Revenue Bonds 2022 General Obligation/Refunding Bonds

The LVCVA reports the following proprietary fund:

Internal Service Fund
e Used to accumulate resources, through discretionary transfers from the General Fund, and the eventual
allocation of those resources for payments related to post-employment benefits other than pensions on
a cost-reimbursement basis as required by NRS 354.543.

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as demand deposit accounts, petty cash, cash in ticket vending machines, money
market demand accounts, and certificates of deposit with original maturities of three months or less.

The LVCVA’s investment policy authorizes investments in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, U.S. Agencies, commercial paper,
banker’s acceptances, money market mutual funds, certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements (REPOs), Nevada State
Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP), collateralized investment contracts, and any other investment which
may be authorized by State statute. The LVCVA’s policy also governs the limitations as to the percentage of each type of
investment held and its term to maturity, which cannot exceed ten years.

The LVCVA's investments are generally reported at fair value; however, the LVCVA reports investments at cost if they have a
remaining maturity, at the time of purchase, of one year or less. The LVCVA includes in investment earnings the change in
fair value along with any realized gains or losses.
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RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Transactions between funds that are outstanding at year end are reported as “due to/from other funds” within the fund
financials statements. For government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, receivables and related revenues are
recognized as soon as they are earned, whereas for governmental fund financial statement purposes, receivables and related
revenues are recognized when earned and are both measurable and available. Room taxes and gaming fees receivable, the
LVCVA's major revenue source, are considered measurable and available when they can be collected within 30 days after
year end; other revenues are considered measurable and available when collected within 90 days after year end. Revenues
received after these periods are classified as deferred inflows in governmental fund financial statements.

Receivables are evaluated for collectability at least annually and reported net of any significant amounts not expected to be
collected.

PREPAID ITEMS AND INVENTORY

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items.
Inventory is primarily comprised of promotional items and is recorded at cost, determined using the first-in/first-out (FIFO)
method. In the fund financial statements, the costs of promotional inventory and prepaid items are recorded as expenditures
when consumed rather than when purchased.

CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets, which include property, equipment, leases, subscription software, and intangibles, are accounted for in the
government-wide financial statements. All purchased capital assets are valued at historical cost, net of impairment
adjustments, if any. Donated assets are recorded at their acquisition value on the date contributed. Lease assets are recorded
at the net present value of the future minimum lease payments, plus any payments made to the lessor at or before the
commencement of the lease term and certain direct costs. Additions or improvements and other capital outlays that
significantly extend the useful life of an asset or that significantly enhance the functionality of an asset are capitalized.

Depreciation and amortization on exhaustible assets and intangibles are recorded in the Statement of Activities, while
accumulated depreciation and amortization is reflected in the Statement of Net Position. Depreciation and amortization are
computed on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are not
amortized but, rather, are evaluated at least annually for continued compliance with applicable requirements. Lease assets
are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the underlying asset.

USEFUL LIFE
(YEARS)

Buildings 50
Improvements - improvements other than building include major land improvements, leasehold
improvements, and building improvements. Leasehold improvements are limited to the shorter of useful
life or lease term. 5-20
Furniture/fixtures and the following equipment items: carts, communication equipment (mobile),
forklifts, heavy equipment, set-up equipment, power tools, risers, tables, telephones, test equipment,
turf equipment, typewriters, vacuums, and word processing equipment. 5-15
Equipment items in the following categories: camera equipment, cleaning equipment, copiers, MATV
(communications) equipment, mowers, refuse equipment, mobile sound equipment, tools, turnstiles,

ASSET DESCRIPTION

vehicles, and other equipment. 5-15
Computers, printers, and software 3
Transportation systems 10
Leased buildings 3-5
Subscription software 1-6

Costs for normal repairs and maintenance that do not add to the functionality of assets or materially extend asset useful lives
are expensed as incurred.
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The LVCVA classifies an item as a capital asset when its estimated useful life is at least one year and meets one of the following
thresholds:

e Property and equipment with unit acquisition cost exceeding $10,000.
e Intangibles (e.g., trademarks, patents, logos, easements, and internally generated software) with an acquisition cost
equal to or exceeding $200,000.
LEASES

Lease assets are defined as contracts that convey control of the right to use another entity’s nonfinancial asset (land, building,
vehicle, and/or equipment), as specified in the contract, for a period of time, in an exchange-like transaction.

If LVCVA is a lessee, both a lease liability and a lease capital asset are recognized at the commencement of the lease term,
unless the lease is a short-term lease (12 months or less), or it transfers ownership of the underlying asset. The lease liability
is measured at the present value of payments expected to be made during the lease term (less any lease incentives). The
lease asset is measured at the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, plus any payments made to the lessor
at or before the commencement of the lease term and certain direct costs.

If the LVCVA is a lessor, a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources are recognized at the commencement of the
lease term, with certain exceptions for leases of assets held as investments, certain regulated leases, short-term leases, and
leases that transfer ownership of the underlying asset. The LVCVA does not derecognize the asset underlying the lease. The
lease receivable is measured at the present value of lease payments expected to be received during the lease term. The
deferred inflow of resources is measured at the value of the lease receivable plus any payments received at or before the
commencement of the lease term that relate to future periods.

SUBSCRIPTION BASED INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY ARRANGEMENTS (SBITAs)

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the LVCVA adopted GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology
Arrangements (GASB No. 96). Implementation of this standard established revised accounting and financial reporting for all
SBITAs. A SBITA, which includes software contracts, is defined as a contract that conveys control of the right to use another
party’s (a SBITA vendor’s) information technology (IT) software, as specified in the contract, for a period of time exceeding
12 months, in an exchange-like transaction.

Right to use subscription SBITA assets are recognized at the subscription commencement date and represent LVCVA's right
to use the underlying IT asset for the subscription term. Right to use SBITA assets are measured at the present value of the
subscription payments expected to be made during the subscription term, plus any payments made to the vendor at the
commencement of the subscription term, less any subscription incentives received from the vendor at or before the
commencement of the subscription term, plus any capitalizable initial implementation costs necessary to place the
subscription asset into service. Right to use SBITA assets are amortized over the subscription term using the straight-line
method.

COMPENSATED ABSENCES

It is the LVCVA’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused paid time off (PTO) benefits. Executive,
Management, and Professional employees can accrue up to a maximum of 900 hours of PTO. Annually, accrued hours over
the 900-hour cap are paid at 25% of the employee’s hourly rate. There is no accrual cap for bargaining unit employees’ PTO.
Bargaining unit employees with a minimum PTO balance of 500 hours are allowed to request up to 100 hours of future PTO
accrual to be paid out in the next calendar year, at their current rate of pay. All PTO is accrued within the government-wide
statements when earned by the employee.

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM NEVADA (PERS) DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN

The LVCVA participates in PERS, a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plan (the System) and is required to report
a net pension liability and related amounts in its financial statements. The underlying financial information used to calculate
amounts to be reported in the LVCVA's financial statements is based on PERS financial statements, which are prepared in
accordance with GAAP that apply to governmental accounting for pension plans. This includes measuring net pension liability,
deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position
of the System, and additions to/deductions from the System’s fiduciary net position on the same basis as they are reported
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by PERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and
payable, in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB)

The LVCVA actuarially determined deferred inflows, deferred outflows, liabilities, and expense in the government-wide
financial statements related to LVCVA’s OPEB obligation at a defined measurement date. The LVCVA’s OPEB liability is
measured as a portion of the present value of projected benefit payments to be provided to current active and inactive
employees that are attributed to those employees’ current and past periods of service. These amounts can be reduced by a
plan’s assets when such assets are held by a qualifying trust. These projected benefits are then discounted to their actuarial
present value using defined actuarial methods.

The LVCVA uses an internal service fund to provide funding for the OPEB liability. Transfers to the Internal Service Fund do
not constitute OPEB plan assets for actuarial reporting, as they are not held in a qualified trust. Rather, the funds are an
earmarking of employer assets to reflect the LVCVA’s current intent to apply those assets to the payment of future benefits
and, therefore, do not offset or reduce the recorded OPEB liability.

Benefit payments are recognized by the LVCVA when due and payable, in accordance with benefit terms.

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS AND INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

In addition to assets, the LVCVA also reports deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element
represents a consumption of net assets that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources
(expense/expenditure) until then. Unamortized deferred refunding charges (the difference between the reacquisition price
and the net carrying amount of the defeased debt) qualify for reporting in this category, as do certain deferred costs related
to pensions and OPEB, and the asset retirement obligation related to the monorail.

In addition to liabilities, the LVCVA also reports deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element
represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources
(revenue) until that time. Revenues that are unavailable to satisfy current obligations qualify for reporting in this category, as
do certain deferred amounts related to pensions, OPEB, and leases receivable.

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in
the Statement of Net Position. Bond premiums and discounts are recorded and amortized over the life of the bonds using the
effective interest method; however, bond issuance costs are expensed as incurred and reported as debt service expenditures
(i.e., a component of interest and fiscal charges). For debt refunding transactions resulting in defeasance of debt, the
difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the old debt is reported as either a deferred
outflow or inflow of resources and recognized as a component of interest expense in a systematic and rational manner over
the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter.

For governmental fund types, bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are recognized in the fiscal year
incurred. Bond proceeds and premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources, while discounts
on debt issuance are reported as other financing uses.

Lease liabilities represent LVCVA's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Lease liabilities are recognized
at the lease commencement date based on the present value of future lease payments expected to be made during the lease
term. The present value of lease payments is discounted based on a borrowing rate determined by LVCVA.

SBITA liabilities represent LVCVA's obligation to make subscription payments arising from a software subscription contract.
SBITA liabilities are recognized at the subscription commencement date based on the present value of future subscription
payments expected to be made during the subscription term. The present value of subscription payments is discounted based
on a borrowing rate determined by LVCVA.

Both lease liabilities and SBITA liabilities have been combined in presentation on the Statement of Net Position.
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USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from these estimates.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS ADOPTED DURING FY 2023

Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations, was issued in May 2019. The intent of this Statement is to provide a single
method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated with commitments
extended by issuers, arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations, and related note disclosures. With the issuance
of Statement No. 95, Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative Guidance in May 2020, due to the COVID-
19 pandemic, this statement was implemented in FY 2023, but as the LVCVA currently does not have conduit debt, there is
no effect on the LVCVA financial statements in the reporting fiscal year.

Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020, was issued in January 2020. The intent of this Statement is to provide further guidance and
clarification on previously issued Statements No. 73, No. 74, No. 84, and No. 87. With the issuance of Statement No. 95,
Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative Guidance in May 2020, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, this
statement was implemented in FY 2023, but there is no effect on the LVCVA financial statements in the current fiscal year.
An element of this statement relating to asset retirement obligation was early implemented in FY 2021.

Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements, was issued in March
2020. The intent of this Statement is to improve financial reporting by addressing issues related to public-private partnerships,
as well as availability payment arrangements. This statement was implemented in FY 2023, but, as the LVCVA currently does
not have any public-private or public-public partnerships nor any availability payment arrangements, there is no effect on the
LVCVA financial statements in the reporting fiscal year.

Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, was issued in May 2020. The intent of this
Statement is to provide financial reporting guidance on subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITAs).
The LVCVA adopted GASB No. 96 in FY 2023. This statement requires software subscriptions to be measured using the facts
and circumstances that existed at the beginning of the implementation period. As a result of implementing this standard,
LVCVA recognized a right to use asset and lease liability of $777,892 and $575,535, respectively, as of July 1, 2022. The
difference of $202,357 was expensed as part of the implementation. As a result of these adjustments, there was no effect on
beginning net position. The additional disclosures required by this standard are included in Note 7.

Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022, was issued in April 2022. The intent of this Statement is to provide further guidance and
clarification on previously issued Statements No. 53, No. 87, No. 94, and No. 96, as well as various other clarifications. This
statement was implemented in FY 2023, however there is no effect on the LVCVA financial statements in the reporting fiscal
year.

See Note 3 for the list of accounting pronouncements to be adopted after FY 2023.

NOTE 2. RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The governmental funds balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance — total governmental funds and net
position — governmental activities as reported in the government-wide Statement of Net Position.

One element of that reconciliation explains that “capital and intangible assets used in the governmental activities are not
current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.” The details of this $1,749,831,791 difference are
as follows:

Depreciable and amortizable capital and intangible assets $ 1,595,253,416
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (416,229,986)
Depreciable and amortizable capital and intangible assets, net 1,179,023,430
Non-depreciable and non-amortizable capital and intangible assets 570,808,361
Net adjustment to increase fund balance — total governmental

funds to arrive at net position — governmental activities S 1,749,831,791
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Another element of that reconciliation is long-term debt and related items, including bonds, deferred refunding charges, and
accrued interest that is not due and payable in the current period, as well as related items, and, therefore, are not reported
in the funds.

The details of this $1,872,426,137 difference are as follows:

Bonds payable, due in more than one year S 1,711,032,000

Unamortized bond premiums and discounts 84,641,824
Total bonds payable, net of unamortized discounts and premiums

due in more than one year

1,795,673,824

Bonds payable, due within one year 38,123,000
Lease and SBITA obligation, due within one year 524,595
Lease and SBITA obligation, due in more than one year 336,727
Interest payable 37,767,991
Net adjustment to reduce fund balance - total governmental funds
to arrive at net position - governmental activities S 1,872,426,137

NOTE 3. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY:
BUDGETARY INFORMATION

Budgets for all of the LVCVA’s governmental and proprietary funds are adopted annually and prepared using a presentation
basis consistent with GAAP. Requests for current-year transfers and following-year appropriations are submitted by divisions
and sections for review and approval. As required by NRS, the tentative budget documents are filed with the Nevada
Department of Taxation and the County Clerk by April 15. After April 15 and before the budget hearing, the public has the
opportunity to review the tentative budget document and submit any comments for inclusion on the agenda of the public
hearing. The budget hearing is held no earlier than the third Monday in May and no later than the last day of May. The
approved budget is fully integrated on July 1 with LVCVA’s accounting system. All appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal
year.

NRS 354.626 generally prohibits expenditures in excess of appropriations at the function level, which is the legal level of
budgetary control. Budget transfers are reviewed by the Finance Department for budget availability and conformance with
policies and NRS. Three types of budget transfers are permitted by NRS:

e  Functional budget transfers are defined as transfers within the same function (i.e. general government, marketing,
operations, and community support) and same fund (i.e. General Fund, Capital Projects Fund). Transfers of $250,000
or less can be approved by the Chief Financial Officer; else, the CEQO/President’s approval is required.

e Intrafund budget transfers are defined as transfers between different functions but within the same fund. The
approval level is the same as functional transfers, and the Board is advised of these transfers.

e Interfund or contingency budget transfers are defined as transfers between different funds and require approval of
the Board.

Augmentations to increase total appropriations are accomplished by formal Board action. During the year, funds were re-
appropriated to honor encumbrances that lapsed on June 30, 2022. All amendments made to the original budget were as
prescribed by law.

NET POSITION

The government-wide Statement of Net Position utilizes a net position presentation. Net position is categorized as net
investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted. Net investment in capital assets is total capital assets, less the
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related debt outstanding that applies to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of capital assets. This is adjusted for
unspent debt proceeds, if any.

Restricted assets are assets that have externally imposed (statutory, bond covenant, contract, or grantor) limitations on their
use. Restricted assets are classified and reported by restriction for debt service, capital projects, or purpose. Assets restricted
by purpose relate to net position which use is legally limited by outside parties for a specific purpose. The restriction for debt
service represents assets legally restricted by statute or bond covenants for future debt service requirements of both principal
and interest. The amount restricted for capital projects consists of unspent debt proceeds with third-party restriction for use
on specific projects or programs or legislative mandate for capital use. The government-wide statement of net position
reports $223,364,802 of restricted net position, all of which is restricted externally by third parties.

Unrestricted net position represents financial resources of the LVCVA that do not have externally imposed limitations on their
use. On June 30, 2023, the LVCVA is reporting an unrestricted net position deficiency of $92,159,293 which is primarily related
to the LVCVA’s issuance of $300 million in debt (5231.3 million outstanding at year end) on behalf of the Nevada Department
of Transportation for construction and improvements in the tourism corridor before fiscal year 2023, which are not recorded
as assets of the LVCVA.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS NOT YET ADOPTED

The LVCVA staff is currently evaluating the potential effects, if any, that the following GASB pronouncements will have on the
LVCVA'’s future financial reporting:

Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022, was issued in April 2022. The intent of this Statement is to provide further guidance and
clarification on previously issued Statements No. 53, No. 87, No. 94, and No. 96, as well as various other clarifications related
to Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position, and terminology
used in resource flows statements. In FY 2022 and FY 2023, the LVCVA implemented the portion related to all sections of
Statement No. 99 except Statement No. 53, which will be evaluated for implementation in FY 2024.

Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, an amendment of GASB Statement No. 62, was issued in June
2022. The intent of this Statement is to enhance the requirements for reporting accounting changes and error corrections in
Statement No. 53. The LVCVA will further evaluate Statement No. 100 and will implement this Statement in FY 2024.

Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, was issued in June 2022. The intent of this Statement is to enhance requirements
for reporting liabilities associated with different types of compensated absences. The LVCVA will further evaluate Statement
No. 101 and will implement this Statement in FY 2025.

NOTE 4. CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The LVCVA maintains cash and investments for each of its funds. On June 30, 2023, cash and investments are displayed in the
Statement of Net Position and governmental funds balance sheet as “cash and cash equivalents” and “investments” and in
the Internal Service Fund Statement of Net Position as “cash and cash equivalents” and “investments,” as applicable. Cash-
on-hand consists of both imprest funds for in-person parking and ticket sales, as well as the cash in ticket vending machines
related to the monorail transportation system.

At year end, the LVCVA’s cash, cash equivalents, and investment balances consisted of the following:

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash on hand S 236,760
Deposits in bank 78,649,090
78,885,850

Investments (U.S. Treasuries, U.S. Agencies, and LGIP) 531,775,150

S 610,661,000

At year end, the LVCVA’s carrying amount of deposits was $78,649,090, and the bank balance was $78,885,850. In addition,
the LVCVA had the following investments:
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Investments by Maturities

Accrued

According to Original Cost Fair Value Lessthan1Year  1-5 Years Interest Total Value

U.S. Treasuries $ 199,462,104 S 194,113,990 $ 86,824,960 $ 107,289,030 S 143,760 $ 194,257,750
U.S. Agencies 101,732,736 100,382,720 58,324,700 42,058,020 568,521 100,951,241
Commercial Paper 89,798,109 89,798,109 89,798,109 - - 89,798,109
Certificates of Deposit 10,000,000 9,994,500 9,994,500 - - 9,994,500
LGIP 105,763,232 105,467,142 105,467,142 - 627,432 106,094,574
Total $ 506,756,181 S 499,756,461 S 350,409,411 § 149,347,050 S 1,339,713 $ 501,096,174

NRS, the LVCVA monies must be deposited in federally insured banks, credit unions, or savings and loan associations in the
State. The LVCVA is authorized to use demand accounts, time accounts, and certificates of deposit. NRS specifically requires
collateral for all demand deposits and that collateral for time deposits may be of the same type as those described for
permissible investments. Permissible investments are similar to the LVCVA’s allowable investments described below, except
that NRS allows securities issued by municipalities within the State.

CUSTODIAL CREDIT RISK

For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the LVCVA will not be
able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. At year end,
the LVCVA did not have any significant custodial credit risk.

Per the LVCVA’s investment policy, custodial credit risk for deposits is managed by ensuring that they are fully covered by the
federal depository insurance or collateralized by securities. This is currently accomplished by use of the State’s Pooled
Collateral Program, which monitors collateral maintained by depositories for local government agency deposits. This program
provides for centralized processing and management of all pledging and maintenance of collateral by the State Treasurer’s
Office, rather than each local agency, and eliminates the need for the LVCVA to establish separate custodial agreements with
each financial institution. The State Treasurer requires that acceptable securities pledged as collateral be maintained at 102%
of those entities’ deposits participating in the pool and that the pledged securities be held by a third party for the benefit of
the State Treasurer.

The Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) is an external investment pool administered by the State of Nevada’s Treasurer,
with oversight by the State’s Board of Finance. The LVCVA deposits monies with the State Treasurer to be pooled with monies
of other local governments for investment in the LGIP. The LGIP operates in accordance with all applicable NRS, and the fair
value of its shares is the same as the reported value of the shares. LGIP financial statements may be obtained from the State
Treasurer’s Office, 101 N. Carson Street Suite 4, Carson City, NV 89701.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

NRS and the LVCVA's investment policy limits investment instruments by credit risk. Any LVCVA investment in commercial
paper must be rated P-1 by Moody’s Investor Service and A-1 by Standard and Poor’s. The LVCVA’s money market investments
must be invested in those funds rated by a nationally recognized rating service as AAA or its equivalent and that invest only
in securities issued by the Federal Government, U.S. Agencies, or REPOs fully collateralized by such securities. The LVCVA's
investments in U.S. Agencies, which are implicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government, are allowed per NRS. On June 30,
2023, all investments in Treasury Bills and Commercial Paper were rated A-1, P-1, or better. For all applicable rated federal
agency and treasury note securities, each investment was rated Aaa, AA+, or better, on June 30, 2023. The LGIP does not
have a credit rating.

To mitigate credit risk, the LVCVA’s investment policy limits total investment (which includes overnight accounts included in
cash equivalents). Limits for each category are as follows: U.S. Agencies and U.S. Treasuries to 100%, LGIP to 50%, repurchase
agreements to 40%, and bankers’ acceptances, commercial paper, certificates of deposit, and money market mutual funds
to 25% of the entire portfolio, calculated at the time of investment. As of June 30, 2023, the LVCVA’s investments were
diversified at 38.8% in U.S. Treasuries, 20.1% in U.S. Agencies, 21.1% in LGIP, and 20.0% in Commercial Paper and Certificates
of Deposit.
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The LVCVA’'s investment in U.S. Agencies was comprised of securities issued by the Federal Home Loan Bank (49.1%), the
Federal Farm Credit Bank (39.9%), and the Federal National Mortgage Association (11.0%).

INTEREST RATE RISK

Per the LVCVA's investment policy, exposure to the declines in fair value due to changing interest rates is managed by limiting
the maturities of its investments to ten years or less. Some of the U.S. Agency investments have call options or prepayment
risk, which, if exercised, could shorten the maturity of these investments during periods of interest volatility.

FAIR VALUE DETERMINATION:

GASB defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Additionally, the inputs used to measure fair value are
prioritized based on a three-level hierarchy. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that a government
can access at the measurement date.

e Level 2 inputs are inputs—other than quoted prices included within Level 1—that are observable for an asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.

The LVCVA reports five types of investments: Federal Agency securities, U.S. Treasuries, Commercial Paper, Certificates of
Deposit, and LGIP (as applicable).

Except for LGIP, LVCVA tracks its investments on an investment-by-investment basis and, because of this and the similarity of
the investments, reports them in aggregate based upon recurring third-party values using a market approach with matrix
pricing.

Therefore, these investments, which totaled $394,289,319 on June 30, 2023, are classified as Level 2:

Fund Level 2
General Fund S 41,792,048
Internal Service Fund 1,796,480
Capital Projects Fund 76,726,551
LVCCD Capital Fund 273,974,240
Total S 394,289,319

LGIP is an investment pool with multiple types of investments being reported at fair value, determined by availability of
market pricing. The following is a summary of the estimated fair value by fund:

Fund Total
General Fund S 50,103,409
Internal Service Fund 344,481
Capital Projects Fund 21,889,167
LVCCD Capital Fund 30,222,810
Debt Service Fund 2,517,541
LVCCD Debt Service Fund 389,734

$105,467,142

FOREIGN CURRENCY LOSS

The LVCVA pays some of its foreign office expenses in the currency in which they were made. As a result, the foreign
currency exchange loss in FY 2023 was $65 thousand or 3.0% of the total foreign currency expenses.
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NOTE 5. CAPITAL ASSETS:

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023, was as follows:

Balance at Balance at
Description June 30, 2022 Increases Decreases June 30, 2023
Capital assets not being depreciated or amortized:
Land 501,372,859 - - $ 501,372,859
Intangibles 100,000 - - 100,000
Construction in progress 36,713,201 42,619,748 (9,997,447) 69,335,502
Total capital assets not being
depreciated or amortized 538,186,060 42,619,748 (9,997,447) 570,808,361
Capital assets being depreciated or amortized:
Buildings 1,429,048,373 10,072,028 - 1,439,120,401
Transportation systems 71,180,357 750,000 - 71,930,357
Intangibles 736,688 - - 736,688
Leased buildings 1,102,077 - - 1,102,077
Subscription software - 777,891 - 777,891
Improvements other than buildings 53,863,233 79,583 - 53,942,816
Furniture and equipment 27,536,216 584,298 (477,328) 27,643,186
Total capital assets being
depreciated or amortized 1,583,466,944 12,263,800 (477,328) 1,595,253,416
Accumulated depreciation or amortization:
Buildings (301,099,284) (36,425,683) - (337,524,967)
Transportation systems (5,298,996) (3,561,734) - (8,860,730)
Intangibles (736,688) - - (736,688)
Leased buildings (314,345) (314,345) - (628,690)
Subscription software - (319,280) - (319,280)
Improvements other than buildings (47,257,843) (1,347,093) - (48,604,936)
Furniture and equipment (18,006,122) (2,025,901) 477,328 (19,554,695)
Total accumulated depreciation or amortization (372,713,278) (43,994,036) 477,328 (416,229,986)
Net capital assets being
depreciated or amortized 1,210,753,666 (31,730,236) - 1,179,023,430
Governmental activities
Capital assets, net S 1,748,939,726 S 10,889,512 S (9,997,447) S 1,749,831,791

Depreciation and amortization expense for governmental activities was charged to functions as follows:

General Government S 323,491
Marketing 362,930
Operations 43,307,615

$ 43,994,036
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NOTE 6. INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS:

The following schedule details the amounts due from/to other funds on June 30, 2023:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount
General Fund Debt Service Fund S 901,015
General Fund Capital Projects Fund 918

Capital Projects Fund General Fund 8,451
LVCCD Capital Fund General Fund 6,046,875
LVCCD Capital Fund Capital Projects Fund 10,510,375
LVCCD Capital Fund LVCCD Debt Service Fund 486,538

$ 17,954,172

Interfund balances result mainly from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or
reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, (3) payments between funds are
made, and (4) interest on investments in the two debt service funds is earned and transferred back to the General Fund and
LVCCD Capital Fund.

Transfers (1) move revenues from collecting fund, as required by statute or budget, to the expenditure fund, as required by
that statute or budget, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the collecting funds to the respective debt service
funds as debt service payments become due, and (3) use unrestricted General Fund revenues to finance various programs
within other funds, in accordance with budgetary authorizations.

The transfers from the General Fund to LVCCD Capital Fund and Capital Projects Fund funded the construction of the future
administrative offices and continuing work on the LVCCD Phase Three project. Both the transfers from LVCCD Capital Fund to
LVCCD Debt Service Fund and General Fund to Debt Service Fund finance semiannual debt service payments. For the year
ended June 30, 2023, transfers between funds were as follows:

Transfers Out

Debt Service LVCCD Capital LVCCD Debt

Transfer In General Fund Fund Fund Service Fund
General Fund S 869,956 $ - S 869,956 S - S -
LVCCD Capital Fund 76,004,080 75,532,494 - - 471,586
LVCCD Debt Service Fund 49,800,848 - - 49,800,848 -
Capital Projects Fund 39,250,000 39,250,000 - - -
Debt Service Fund 55,458,878 55,458,878 - - -

S 221,383,762 $ 170,241,372 $ 869,956 $49,800,848 S 471,586

NOTE 7. LEASES:
LVCVA LEASE OBLIGATIONS

To assist with selling the Las Vegas destination throughout the Midwest and Eastern corridor, the LVCVA leased office space
in both Chicago, lllinois and Washington, D.C. The lease in Chicago commenced on July 1, 2015, expiring March 31, 2026. For
FY 2023, the LVCVA paid $7,149 in monthly rent, and the total principal and interest costs were $78,637. In addition, the
LVCVA paid $74,618 in common area maintenance and property tax charges in FY 2023. Monthly lease payments increase 3%
on each anniversary of the commencement date. The lease in Washington, D.C. commenced on January 1, 2015, expiring July
31, 2024. For FY 2023, the LVCVA paid $20,574 in monthly rent for the first six months and $21,089 in monthly rent for the
remaining six months, and the total principal and interest costs were $249,978. In addition, the LVCVA paid $157,636 in
common area maintenance and property tax charges in FY 2023. Monthly lease payments increase 2.5% on each anniversary
of the commencement date. On July 1, 2022, the value of leased office space was $787,731; with $314,345 amortized during
the year, resulting in a net book value on June 30, 2023, of $219,195 and $254,191 for the Chicago office lease and the
Washington, D.C. office lease, respectively, and the accumulated amortization was $159,415 and $469,276 for Chicago and
Washington, D.C., respectively. Lease liabilities represent LVCVA's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.
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Lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of future lease payments
expected to be made during the lease term. The present value of lease payments is discounted based on an implicit borrowing
rate determined by the LVCVA.

In FY 2020, the LVCVA entered into a $382,432 lease for computer equipment. The lease commenced February 1, 2020, and
expired January 31, 2023; therefore, the lease was retired in FY 2023.

The remaining principal and interest payment requirements for the LVCVA's lease obligations, as of June 30, 2023, are as
follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Interest  Total Payments
2024 S 329,237 $§ 15,348 S 344,585
2025 107,562 5,063 112,625
2026 69,063 1,243 70,306

$ 505,862 S 21,654 S 527,516

LVCVA LEASES RECEIVABLE

The LVCVA leases land and other building space to cellular communications companies for the purpose of building and
maintaining cellular towers. The lease for the cellular tower on E. Desert Inn Rd. commenced on January 13, 1995, expiring
January 13, 2028. The lease of the cellular tower within the LVCVA monorail station commenced October 1, 2013, expiring
September 30, 2028. For FY 2023, the LVCVA received $73,946 ($57,060 principal and $16,886 interest) in total lease revenue,
plus an additional $2,094 in variable rent increases.

The LVCVA leases land for purposes of operating a police substation to serve the Las Vegas strip and resort corridor. The lease
commenced in 2007, with a duration of 15 years. An additional 15-year renewal is reasonably certain, the lease extension is
currently being negotiated, and the substation was recently renovated and expanded; thus, the total lease term is 30 years,
expiring November 30, 2037. In FY 2023, the LVCVA received $87,512 ($47,806 principal and $39,705 interest) in total lease
revenue, plus an additional $5,042 in variable rent increases.

The LVCVA leases space within the LVCC monorail station for various use of the premises, including advertising and naming
rights. The lease commenced March 1, 2022, with a duration of two years. An additional eight-year renewal is not reasonably
certain and requires agreement by both parties. In FY 2023, the LVCVA received $600,000 in total lease revenue, plus an
additional $66,926 in operating cost reimbursements.

The LVCVA subleases its office space in Chicago, lllinois. The lease commenced on September 1, 2022, with an expiration of
March 31, 2026. The first nine months of rent were abated, with monthly payments beginning June 1, 2023. In FY 2023, the
LVCVA received $7,750 in total lease revenue.

The LVCVA leases space for purposes of operating a copying, printing, and mailing services. The lease commenced on
December 1, 2022, with an expiration of November 30, 2025. For FY 2023, the LVCVA received $211,050 ($191,200 in principal
and $19,850 in interest) in total lease revenue.

Leases receivable are recorded by LVCVA as the present value of future lease payments expected to be received from the
lessee during the lease term, reduced by any provision for estimated uncollectible amounts. Leases receivable are
subsequently reduced over the life of the lease as cash is received in the applicable reporting period. The preset value of
future lease payments to be received is discounted based on the implied interest rate the LVCVA charges the lessee.

The total remaining principal and interest receipts for the LVCVA's leases receivable, as of June 30, 2023, are as follows:

38



LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total Payments
2024 S 921,589 $ 98,434 S 1,020,023
2025 555,477 68,820 624,297
2026 345,847 46,744 392,591
2027 130,792 38,360 169,152
2028 128,454 32,667 161,121

2029-2033 340,717 112,465 453,182

2034-2038 351,456 35,057 386,513

$2,774,332 $432,547 S 3,206,879

LVCVA SUBSCRIPTION-BASED SOFTWARE OBLIGATIONS

In FY 2023, the LVCVA implemented GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, see
Note 1.

This statement required that software arrangements be recognized and measured using the facts and circumstances that
existed at the beginning of the period of implementation. Accordingly, SBITA liabilities for fiscal year 2023 were measured
using the remaining agreement terms as of July 1, 2022, and based on the present value of future payments expected to be
made during the subscription term. SBITA right-to-use assets were measured based on the SBITAs liabilities at the same date.
The present value of SBITAs is discounted based on an implicit borrowing rate determined by the LVCVA.

The LVCVA has contracted with multiple information technology software vendors for software as a service (SaaS) solution,
human resources and payroll/timecard tracking, digital signage displays, and contract bidding. As of June 30, 2023, the
remaining principal and interest payment requirements for the SBITAs obligation are as follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total Payments
2024 S 195,358 $§ 9,787 S 205,145
2025 76,998 5,262 82,260
2026 40,168 3,332 43,500
2027 42,936 1,564 44,500

S 355,460 S 19,945 S 375,405

NOTE 8. LONG-TERM DEBT:

The LVCVA issues general obligation (GO) and revenue bonds to fund land and other improvements, acquisition, and
construction of capital assets consisting primarily of meeting and exhibit and support facilities at the Las Vegas Convention
Center. Nine of the LVCVA'’s outstanding bonds are GO bonds of the County acting on behalf of the LVCVA. During FY 2023,
two revenue bonds were issued for LVCCD Phase Three project.

The County acts as the guarantor of the LVCVA GO bonds, pursuant to GASB Statement No. 70, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Nonexchange Financial Guarantees. The GO bonds are primarily secured by ad valorem taxes and are
additionally secured by net pledged revenues of the LVCVA, primarily room taxes on hotels and motels in Clark County.
However, repayment of debt service on the GO bonds is not required by the LVCVA to Clark County if ad valorem taxes must
be used. It has been the practice of the LVCVA never to use ad valorem taxes for debt service but, rather, to use only net
pledged revenues derived from operations. In fiscal year 2023, General Fund room taxes and gaming fees of $355.3 million
were 3.9 times the amount necessary to pay the $91.4 million of regular principal and interest payments for all LVCVA debt
service payments. As of June 30, 2023, no ad valorem tax revenues have been allocated to the LVCVA for any purpose,
including to guarantee debt payments. No change in this practice is contemplated in the future. In addition, the LVCVA,
pursuant to legislative directive, previously provided $300.0 million of funding to the NDOT for transportation projects and
issued GO bonds in this regard ($231.3 million principal outstanding on June 30, 2023). The capital assets acquired with this
debt are not assets of LVCVA.
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The LVCVA also pledged additional revenue streams on debt related to the LVCCD Project. In October 2016, during a special
session of the Nevada Legislature, Nevada Senate Bill 1 (SB1) enacted and authorized the LVCVA to use an additional 0.5%
room tax revenues, as well as amounts in excess of an imposed cap of $25.0 million on total non-SB1 room tax and gaming
fees collection allocation, solely for the LVCCD Project. The Board authorized $1,200 million in bonds to be issued for the
LVCCD project and, of that, $1,050.0 million has been issued in six series ($1,048.8 million outstanding on June 30, 2023),
with $150.0 million of authorized bonds issued in fiscal year 2024. These bonds were issued for the LVCCD, and repayments
are accounted for in the LVCCD Debt Service Fund. In FY 2023, the additional SB1 room tax totaled $36.5 million. As of June
30, 2023, the SB1 pledge is utilized to make payments on $1,048.8 million of the outstanding LVCVA debt.

REVENUE BONDS

In 1999, the State passed legislation that allowed the LVCVA to issue revenue bonds secured by and payable from room taxes
and gaming fees, in addition to revenues from the operation of the facility.

New Issuances

In September 2022, the LVCVA issued $136,820,000 Series 2022B Tax Exempt Revenue bonds and $13,180,000 Series 2022C
Taxable Revenue Bonds for the purpose of LVCCD Phase Three project. The 2022B Bonds have true interest cost of 4.19%,
with a final installment date of July 1, 2049. Net proceeds totaled $150,000,151, including a $13,896,125 premium and net
of $715,974 in underwriting fees and other issuance costs. The 2022C Bonds have true interest cost of 4.19%, with a final
installment date of July 1, 2026. Net proceeds totaled $13,110,261, net of $69,739 in underwriting fees and other issuance
costs. The 2022B and 2022C Bonds are included in the summary schedule of pledged revenue bonds.

The following is a summary of terms and balances for revenue bonds payable on June 30, 2023:

$100,705,000 - 2016C Revenue Bonds due in annual installments through FY S 95,090,000
2047. Semi-annual interest from 3 -5%

$71,005,000 - 2017B Revenue Bonds due in annual installments through FY 68,645,000
2041. Semi-annual interest from 3.25 - 5%

$500,000,000 - 2018B Revenue Bonds due in annual installments through FY 499,000,000
2050. Semi-annual interest from 4 - 5%

$80,000,000 - 2018C Revenue Bonds due in annual installments through FY 80,000,000
2049. Semi-annual interest from 4 - 5.25%

$45,230,000 - 2019B Revenue Bonds due in annual installments through FY 40,950,000
2040. Semi-annual interest from 3 -5%

$23,615,000 - 2021 Revenue Bonds due in annual installments through FY 2027. 18,575,000
Semi-annual interest 5%

$136,820,000 - 2022B Revenue Bonds due in annuanual installments through FY 136,820,000
2050. Semi-annual interest 4 - 5.25%

$13,180,000 - 2022C Revenue Bonds due in annuanual installments through FY 13,180,000
2027. Semi-annual interest 3.8 - 4.25%

S 952,260,000
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MEDIUM TERM BONDS

The following is a summary of medium-term bonds payable, as of June 30, 2023:
$21,500,000 - 2020 Medium Term Bonds due in annual installments through FY

2028. Semi-annual interest at 3.01%

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS

The following is a summary of pledged general obligation bonds payable, as of June 30, 2023:

$70,770,000 - 2010A (NDOT/BABs) Bonds due in annual installments through FY  $

2039. Semi-annual interest from 6.55 - 6.75%

$50,000,000 - 2014 General Obligation Bonds due in annual installments

through FY 2044. Semi-annual interest from 2 - 5%

$181,805,000 - 2015 General Obligation Bonds due in annual installments

through FY 2045. Semi-annual interest from 2 - 5%

$21,175,000 - 2017 General Obligation Bonds due in annual installments

through FY 2039. Semi-annual interest from 3 - 5%

$126,855,000 - 2017C General Obligation Bonds due in annual installments

through FY 2039. Semi-annual interest from 3 - 5%

$200,000,000 - 2018A General Obligation Bonds due in annual installments

through FY 2048. Semi-annual interest from 3 - 5%

$132,565,000 - 2019C General Obligation Bonds due in annual installments

through FY 2040. Semi-annual interest from 3 - 5%

$67,435,000 - 2019D General Obligation Bonds due in annual installments

through FY 2045. Semi-annual interest from 3 - 5%

$15,355,000 - 2022 General Obligation Bonds due in annual installments

through FY 2033. Semi-annual interest 1.96%

21,200,000

21,200,000

70,770,000

46,310,000

101,745,000

19,525,000

122,425,000

199,800,000

132,565,000

67,435,000

15,120,000

775,695,000
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The following schedule summarizes all future interest and principal payments, as of June 30, 2023:

General Obligation / | Revenue Bonds | | Medium Term | | All Bonds
Pledged Revenue Bonds

Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2024 $ 15,960,000 $ 31,554,991 $ 18,170,000 $ 43,010,494 $ 3,993,000 S 638,120 $ 38,123,000 $ 75,203,605
2025 16,665,000 30,736,891 18,990,000 42,130,030 4,113,000 517,931 39,768,000 73,384,852
2026 20,130,000 29,827,377 17,505,000 41,250,603 4,236,000 394,129 41,871,000 71,472,109
2027 21,880,000 28,794,992 18,370,000 40,372,156 4,364,000 266,626 44,614,000 69,433,774
2028 22,785,000 27,688,399 16,905,000 39,498,888 4,494,000 135,269 44,184,000 67,322,556
2029-2033 147,175,000 119,323,277 98,445,000 183,588,987 - - 245,620,000 302,912,264
2034-2038 173,455,000 85,586,632 124,445,000 157,564,300 - - 297,900,000 243,150,932
2039-2043 129,980,000 55,140,226 234,955,000 118,821,525 - - 364,935,000 173,961,751
2044-2048 227,665,000 23,788,867 208,330,000 62,641,919 - - 435,995,000 86,430,786
2049-2052 - 196,145,000 8,209,375 - 196,145,000 8,209,375

S 775,695,000  $432,441,652 $ 952,260,000 $737,088,277 $21,200,000 $ 1,952,075 $1,749,155,000 $1,171,482,004

ARBITRAGE REBATE AND DEBT COVENANT REQUIREMENTS

The Federal Tax Reform Act of 1986 imposes a rebate requirement with respect to some bonds issued by the LVCVA. Under
this Act, when a government entity earns interest at a higher rate of return on tax-exempt bond funds than it pays on the
debt, the excess difference may be required to be rebated to the United States Treasury (called “arbitrage”). The rebate is
necessary for interest on the bonds to continue to qualify for exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes.
Rebatable arbitrage is computed as of each installment computation date. As of the most recent such date, the LVCVA has
recorded an FY 2023 liability of $640,215. Future calculations could result in adjustments to this determination.

In addition, certain of the LVCVA’s long-term debt obligations are subject to restrictive debt covenants. The LVCVA has
committed to maintaining adequacy of charges against users of the Las Vegas Convention Center, but not necessarily all users
thereof. The LVCVA is required to set rentals, fees, and other charges to produce a defined term of pledged revenues and
expansion pledged revenues (revenue including the SB1 pledge) to pay the annual defined operation and maintenance
expense of the Authority’s facilitates for each fiscal year, which together are 1.25x the annual principal and interest
requirements on the LVCVA’s outstanding bonds, and other amounts required under the related bond resolutions.

FY 2023 pledged revenues and expansion pledged revenues are $427,296,129 and $478,490,094, respectively, which are
inclusive of facility revenues (as defined by in bond documents) of $65,855,045. Defined Operation maintenance expense is
65,529,992. The LVCVA’s June 30, 2023, coverage ratio is 3.6x (and 4.2x including expansion pledged revenues). Revenues
are sufficient to comply with the coverage ratios in the bond resolutions for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.

DEBT APPROVED BUT NOT YET ISSUED

In 2017, the Oversight Panel for Convention Facilities in Clark County and the LVCVA Board approved the issuance of up to
$900 million of bonds to complete Phase Two of the LVCCD Project. The $900 million has been issued, and Phase Two of the
LVCCD Project has been completed using SB1 resources, transfers from the General Fund, and debt proceeds.

In 2019, the Oversight Panel for Convention Facilities in Clark County and the LVCVA Board approved $300 million in LVCVA
revenue bonds associated with Phase Three of the LVCCD project. The LVCVA issued $150 million of that available
authorization in FY 2023, see New Issuances section in this note, and the final $150 million in early FY 2024. See Note 15 for
additional detail.
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The changes in long-term liabilities for the fiscal year were as follows:

Interest Paid Beginning Ending
During the Balance, Balance,
Year July 1, 2022 Additions Reductions June 30, 2023
BONDS
General Obligation/Pledged Revenue Bonds
2010A General Obligation Bond S 4,721,166 $ 70,770,000 S - $ - $ 70,770,000
2014 General Obligation Bond 1,939,374 47,525,000 - (1,215,000) 46,310,000
2015 General Obligation Refunding Bond 4,298,625 104,425,000 - (2,680,000) 101,745,000
2017 General Obligation Refunding Bond 731,194 20,370,000 - (845,000) 19,525,000
2017C General Obligation Refunding Bond 4,938,900 124,695,000 - (2,270,000) 122,425,000
2018A General Obligation Bond 8,000,000 199,900,000 - (100,000) 199,800,000
2019C General Obligation Bond 5,051,950 132,565,000 - - 132,565,000
2019D General Obligation Bond 2,157,603 67,435,000 - - 67,435,000
2022 General Obligation Bond 200,844 15,355,000 - (235,000) 15,120,000
Revenue Bonds
2016C Revenue Refunding Bond 4,073,625 97,965,000 - (2,875,000) 95,090,000
20178 Revenue Refunding Bond 3,063,675 71,005,000 - (2,360,000) 68,645,000
2018B Revenue Refunding Bond 22,392,000 500,000,000 - (1,000,000) 499,000,000
2018C Revenue Refunding Bond 3,807,213 80,000,000 - - 80,000,000
2019B Revenue Bond 1,951,075 42,445,000 - (1,495,000) 40,950,000
2021 Revenue Bond 1,054,750 23,615,000 - (5,040,000) 18,575,000
2022B Revenue Bond 2,029,069 - 136,820,000 - 136,820,000
2022C Revenue Bond 154,604 - 13,180,000 - 13,180,000
Medium Term Bonds
2020 Bond 641,130 21,300,000 - (100,000) 21,200,000
Unamortized premiums and discounts - 78,246,735 13,896,125 (7,501,037) 84,641,823
Subtotal Bonds 71,206,797 1,697,616,735 163,896,125 (27,716,037) 1,833,796,823
OTHER LIABILITIES
Compensated absences - 5,799,051 3,433,698 (3,422,383) 5,810,366
Lease and SBITA obligations - 812,646 575,535 (526,859) 861,322
Postemployment benefits other
than pensions - 34,335,685 1,712,176 (6,444,343) 29,603,518
Net pension liability - 14,688,717 57,535,318 (4,147,541) 68,076,494
Subtotal other liabilities - 55,636,099 63,256,727 (14,541,126) 104,351,700
$ 71,206,797 $1,753,252,834  $227,152,852 S (42,257,163) $1,938,148,523
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The portion of each long-term liability that is due in FY 2023 is shown below:

Principal Interest
BONDS
General Obligation/Pledged Revenue Bonds
2010A General Obligation Bonds 3,140,000 4,618,268
2014 General Obligation Bonds 1,280,000 1,876,999
2015 General Obligation Bonds 2,815,000 4,161,250
2017 General Obligation Bonds 890,000 687,819
2017C General Obligation Bonds 5,355,000 4,748,275
2018A General Obligation Bonds 100,000 7,995,000
2019C General Obligation Bonds 1,000,000 5,026,950
2019D Taxable General Obligation Bonds - 2,157,603
2022 General Obligation Bonds 1,380,000 282,828
Revenue Bonds
2016C Revenue Bonds 3,030,000 3,926,000
2017B Revenue Bonds 2,480,000 2,942,675
2018B Revenue Bonds 1,000,000 22,342,000
2018C Revenue Bonds 1,540,000 3,768,713
2019B Revenue Bonds 1,570,000 1,874,450
2021 Revenue Bonds 4,315,000 820,875
2022B Revenue Bonds - 6,891,175
2022C Taxable Revenue Bonds 4,235,000 444,606
Medium Term Bonds
2020 Bonds 3,993,000 638,120
38,123,000 75,203,606
OTHER LIABILITIES
Compensated absences 3,351,022 -
Lease and SBITA obligation 524,595 16,440
S 41,998,617 S 75,220,046

The General Fund is normally used to liquidate compensated absences, leases and SBITAs, net pension obligations, and other
post-employment obligations.

NOTE 9. RISK MANAGEMENT:

The LVCVA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, thefts of, damage to, or destruction of assets, errors and
omissions, injuries to employees, and natural disasters. The LVCVA has third-party coverage for property and commercial
liability. For worker’s compensation, the LVCVA is self-insured, with an excess insurance policy. For worker’s compensation,
the LVCVA is self-insured at a relatively low threshold per claim. For claims over the threshold, third-party coverage would
take effect. Settled claims from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage for the past three years.
Incurred but not reported (IBNR) claims have been accrued as a liability based on a variety of actuarial and statistical
techniques.

In FY 2023, the LVCVA incurred claims totaling $29,584, for workers compensation and general liability, combined, and made
claims payments totaling $69,593 for workers compensation and general liability, combined. As of June 30, 2023, the unpaid
retained loss and allocated loss adjustment expense (ALAE) for worker’'s compensation exposures is estimated to be
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$242,387, of which $156,669 is for IBNR claims. The unpaid retained loss and ALAE for general liability claims is estimated to
be $120,320, of which $97,155 is for IBNR claims. The total unpaid retained loss and ALAE, inclusive of both workers
compensation and general liability, as of June 30, 2023, is $362,707.

NOTE 10. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN:
Plan Description

The LVCVA participates in the Public Employees’ Retirement System of Nevada. This is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer,
defined benefit public employees’ retirement system (the System or PERS), which includes both Regular and Police/Fire
members. The System was established by the Nevada Legislature in 1947, effective July 1, 1948. The System is administered
by the Public Employees’ Retirement Board to provide a reasonable base income to qualified employees who have been
employed by a public employer and whose earnings capacities have been removed or substantially impaired by age or
disability. The LVCVA exercises no control over PERS. NRS 286.110 states that “The respective participating public employers
are not liable for any obligations of the system.”

Benefits Provided

Benefits, as required by NRS, are determined by the number of years of accredited service at time of retirement and the
member’s highest average compensation in any 36 consecutive months, with special provisions for members entering the
System on or after January 1, 2010, and July 1, 2015. Benefit payments to which participants or their beneficiaries may be
entitled under the plan include pension benefits, disability benefits, and survivor benefits. Monthly benefit allowances for
members are computed as 2.5% of average compensation for each accredited year of service before July 1, 2001. For service
earned on and after July 1, 2001, this multiplier is 2.67% of average compensation. For members entering the System on or
after January 1, 2010, there is a 2.5% multiplier. For members entering the System on or after July 1, 2015, there is a 2.25%
multiplier.

The System offers several alternatives to the unmodified service retirement allowance, which, in general, allow the retired
employee to accept a reduced service retirement allowance payable monthly during his or her lifetime with various optional
monthly payments to a named beneficiary after his or her death. Post-retirement increases are provided by authority of NRS
286.575-.579.

Vesting

Regular members are eligible for retirement at age 65 with five years of service, at age 60 with 10 years of service, or at any
age with 30 years of service. Regular members entering the System on or after January 1, 2010, are eligible for retirement at
age 65 with five years of service, at age 62 with 10 years of service, or any age with 30 years of service. Regular members
entering the System on or after July 1, 2015, are eligible for retirement at age 65 with five years of service, at age 62 with 10
years of service, at age 55 with 30 years of service, or any age with 33 1/3 years of service. Police/Fire members are eligible
for retirement at age 65 with five years of service, at age 55 with 10 years of service, at age 50 with 20 years of service, or at
any age with 25 years of service. Police/Fire members entering the System on or after January 1, 2010, are eligible for
retirement at age 65 with five years of service, at age 60 with 10 years of service, at age 50 with 20 years of service, or at any
age with 30 years of service. Police/Fire entering the system on or after July 1, 2015, are eligible for retirement at age 65 with
five years of service, at age 60 with 10 years of service, at age 50 with 20 years of service, and at any age with 33 1/3 years of
service. Only service performed in a position as a police officer or firefighter may be counted towards eligibility for retirement
as Police/Fire accredited service.

The normal ceiling limitation on monthly benefits allowances is 75% of average compensation; however, a member who has
an effective date of membership before July 1, 1985, is entitled to a benefit of up to 90% of average compensation. Both
Regular and Police/Fire members become fully vested in benefits upon completion of five years of service.

Contributions

The authority for establishing and amending the obligation to make contributions and member contribution rates is set by
statute. New hires, in agencies that did not elect the Employer-Pay Contribution (EPC) plan before July 1, 1983, have the
option of selecting one of two contribution plans. Contributions are shared equally by employer and employee. Employees
can take a reduced salary and have contributions made by the employer (EPC) or can make contributions by a payroll
deduction matched by the employer. The LVCVA elected the EPC plan.
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The System’s basic funding policy provides for periodic contributions at a level pattern of cost as a percentage of salary
throughout an employee’s working life in order to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when due. The System receives
an actuarial valuation on an annual basis indicating the contribution rates required to fund the System on an actuarial reserve
basis. The actuary funding method used is the Entry Age Normal Cost Method. It is intended to meet the funding objective
and result in a relatively level long-term contributions requirement as a percentage of salary.

Contributions are made are in accordance with the actuarially required rates established by the Nevada Legislature. These
statutory rates are increased/decreased pursuant to NRS 286.421 and 286.450.

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the Statutory Employer/employee matching rate remained 15.50% for Regular and
22.75% for Police/Fire, which was unchanged from fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. The Employer-pay contribution (EPC) rate
was 29.75% for Regular and 44.00% for Police/Fire, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, also unchanged from fiscal year
2022. Contribution to the pension plan from the LVCVA was $8,868,703 for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

The employer-allocated percentage of the net pension liability was based on the total contributions due on wages paid during
the measurement period. Contributions for employer pay dates that fall within PERS fiscal year ending June 30, 2022, are
used as the basis for determining each employer’s proportionate share of the collective pension amounts. The LVCVA’s
allocated portion was calculated at 0.37705%, higher than the 0.16107% allocated portion in the prior year. The LVCVA
recorded a liability of $68,076,494 for its portion of the net pension liability, as of June 30, 2023.

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions as follows:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience S 8,814,781 S 48,632
Change of assumptions 8,744,900 -
Net dlfferenc? betwee'n projected and 830576 i
actual earnings on investments
Change's |n.proport|on and qlfferences between a'ctua'l 22465371 33,916,192
contributions and proportionate share of contributions
LVCVA contributions subsequent to measurement date 4,425,421 -
S 45281049 S 33,964,824

On June 30, 2022, the average expected remaining service life is calculated at 5.70 years.

Deferred outflows for contributions made by the LVCVA to PERS after the measurement date of the net pension liability but
before the end of the LVCVA's fiscal year will be recognized as a reduction to net pension liability in the year ending June 30,
2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized
in expense as follows:

Year end June 30,

2024 S (1,352,819)
2025 (1,498,837)
2026 (1,319,449)
2027 7,365,996
2028 3,695,913
Thereafter -

Included in accounts payable on June 30, 2023, the LVCVA had $1,189,938 payable to PERS, equal to the required contribution
for the month of June 2023, which was subsequently paid in accordance with applicable due dates in July and August 2023.

46



LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Actuarial Assumptions

The System’s net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. For this purpose, certain actuarial valuation
assumptions are stipulated by GASB and may vary from those used to determine the prospective funding contribution rates.

The total pension liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:

Inflation rate 2.50%
Payroll growth 3.50% for Regular and Police/Fire
Investment rate of return 7.25%
Discount rate 7.25%
Productivity pay increase 0.50%

Regular: 4.20% to 9.10%, depending on service
Police/Fire: 4.60% to 14.50%, depending on service, including inflation

Projected salary increases

OnJune 30, 2022, assumed mortality rates and projected life expectancies for selected ages were as follows:

Regular Members

Mortalt Rates | P20 Yeors of it
Age Males Females Males Females
40 0.07% 0.04% 43.4 47.1
50 0.35% 0.24% 33.2 36.7
60 0.72% 0.43% 23.7 26.9
70 1.80% 1.19% 15.2 17.8
80 5.71% 3.75% 8.1 10.0

Police/Fire Members

Mortality Rates EXpec::n::z;f Life
Age Males Females Males Females
40 0.07% 0.05% 442 47.3
50 0.21% 0.15% 33.9 36.9
60 0.57% 0.44% 24 26.9
70 1.76% 1.31% 15.3 179
80 5.65% 3.92% 8.2 10.2

These mortality rates and projected life expectancies are based on the following:

e  For pre-retirement members — Pub-2010 General Employee Amount-Weighted Above-Median Mortality Tables,
projected generationally with the two-dimensional mortality improvement scale MP-2020.

e  For healthy members — Pub-2010 General Healthy Retiree Amount-Weighted Above-Median Mortality Tables with
rates increased by 30% for males and 15% for females, projected generationally with the two-dimensional mortality
improvement scale MP-2020. For ages less than 50, mortality rates are based on the Pub-2010 General Employee
Amount-Weighted Above-Median Mortality Tables.
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e  For disabled members — Pub-2010 Non-Safety Disabled Retiree Amount-Weighted Mortality Tables with rates
increased by 20% for males and 15% for females, projected generationally with the two-dimensional mortality
improvement scale MP-2020.

Actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2022 valuation were based on the results of an experience study for the period
from July 1, 2016, through June 30, 2020.

Valuation of Plan Assets - Investment Policy

The policies which determine the investment portfolio target asset allocation are established by the PERS Board. The asset
allocation is reviewed annually and is designed to meet the future risk and return needs of the System. The PERS Board
adopted the following target allocation policy as of June 30, 2022:

Long-Term Geometric
Expected Real Rate of

Asset Class Target Allocation Return*

Domestic stocks 42% 5.50%

International stocks 18% 5.50%

U.S. Bonds 28% 0.75%

Private markets 12% 6.65%
100%

* As of June 30, 2022, PERS’ long-term inflation assumption was 2.50%.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25%, as of June 30, 2022. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will be made at the rate specified
in statute. Based on that assumption, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position on June 30, 2022, was projected to be available
to make all projected future benefit payments of currently active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected
rate of return on pension plan investments (7.25%) was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine
the total pension liability as of June 30, 2022.

Pension Liability Discount Rate Sensitivity

The following presents the LVCVA’s proportionate share of the net pension liability of the System as of June 30, 2022,
calculated using the discount rate of 7.25%, as well as what the LVCVA’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated
using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.25%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.25%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease (6.25%) Discount Rate (7.25%) 1% Increase (8.25%)

Net Pension Liability - LVCVA portion $104,519,688 $68,076,494 $38,005,391
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

PERS issues a stand-alone Annual Comprehensive Financial Report that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information for the plan. Additional information about the System’s fiduciary net position is available at
www.nvpers.org under Quick Links — Publications or may be obtained by contacting PERS at the following address:

Public Employees Retirement System of Nevada
693 W. Nye Lane

Carson City, NV 89703-1599

(775) 687-4200
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NOTE 11. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (OPEB):

In accordance with NRS, retirees of the LVCVA and their spouses may continue insurance through existing plans, if enrolled
as an active employee at the time of retirement.

PLAN DESCRIPTIONS

The LVCVA’s plan is a non-trust, single-employer, defined benefit post-employment plan (Primary Plan). Active members and
retirees can choose between the Clark County Self-Funded Group Medical and Dental Benefits Plan (CCSF) and the Clark
County Exclusive Provider Organization (EPO) Plan. These program options include healthcare, prescription, dental, vision,
and life insurance benefits. The Primary Plan does not issue a separate financial report; however, additional information may
be obtained by writing or calling Clark County Risk Management, 500 S. Grand Central Pkwy., Las Vegas, NV 89155, (702) 486-
4009.

The LVCVA also provides continuation of medical insurance coverage to retirees and their spouses under the State of Nevada
Public Employees Benefits Program (PEBP), an agent, multiple-employer, defined benefit plan. This plan includes healthcare,
prescription, dental, Medicare Part B, and life insurance benefits and is provided through a third-party insurer. It is
administered by a ten-member governing board with nine members appointed by the State’s Governor, and the last board
member is the Director from the Department of Administration or his/her designee. For participants who enrolled in the PEBP
before September 1, 2008, the LVCVA is responsible for payment of a monthly subsidy, based on the years of service with the
local government, for the life of the retiree. The subsidy requirements are governed by NRS and can only be amended through
legislation. The PEBP issues a publicly-available financial report that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information. The PEBP report may be obtained by writing or calling the Public Employee Benefit Plan, 901
South Stewart Street, Suite 1001, Carson City, Nevada 89701, (800) 326-5496.

EMPLOYEES COVERED BY PLANS

As of the June 30, 2022 actuarial valuation, the LVCVA’s Primary Plan covers 134 retirees and surviving spouses, 47 spouses,
and 339 active employees. The LVCVA also covers 38 PEBP retirees. As of November 1, 2008, PEBP was closed to any new
participants.

FUNDING POLICY

For the Primary Plan, LVCVA premiums are established and may be amended through negotiations between the LVCVA and
the insurance plan. Contribution requirements by active employees to the Primary Plan are established by, and may be
amended through, negotiations between the LVCVA and various employee groups. All LVCVA retirees are required to pay
100% of their premiums under the plan. Retirees enrolled in the Primary Plan receive no direct subsidy from the LVCVA;
however, retiree loss experience is pooled with active employee loss experience for setting rates, and the difference between
the true claims cost and the blended rate creates an implicit rate subsidy from the LVCVA, which is paid annually through
plan premiums and charges.

The LVCVA is required to pay the PEBP an explicit subsidy, based on years of service, for retirees enrolled in this plan. Retirees
were eligible for a subsidy after five years of service with a Nevada state or local government entity. The maximum subsidy
is earned after 20 years of combined service with an eligible entity. If the retiree worked for more than one eligible entity,
the subsidy is split based on the length of time with each entity. In FY 2023, the LVCVA’s cost per month per retiree ranged
from $9 to $760.

As of June 30, 2023, the LVCVA’s aggregate OPEB plan balances are as follows:

Primary Plan PEBP Total
Net OPEB assets administered through a qualifying trust S - S - S -
Net unamortized deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 8,660,702 121,749 8,782,451
Total OPEB liability 27,500,591 2,102,927 29,603,518
Net unamortized deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 27,270,079 - 27,270,079
OPEB expense (1,021,749) (449,456) (1,471,205)
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FUNDING STATUS

The LVCVA currently pays for post-employment healthcare benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis and has established an Internal
Service Fund to accumulate resources to be held in reserve to pay its future liability for postemployment benefits. Transfers
from the General Fund to the OPEB reserve fund have been incorporated into consideration during the annual budget
process. As of June 30, 2023, net discretionary transfers since inception, adjusted for investments earnings, total $2.2 million.
The annual funding considerations include biannual actuarial studies among other factors and conditions. The assets
accumulated for purposes of providing OPEB benefits through the Internal Service Fund are not administered through a trust
that meets the specified criteria as required by GASB standards and, therefore, are reported as assets of the LVCVA. An agency
fund is not required because the LVCVA does not hold any assets in a fiduciary capacity.

ACTUARIAL METHODS, ASSUMPTIONS, OTHER INPUTS, AND CHANGES

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the
probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality,
and the healthcare cost trend. Projections of benefits are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the
employer and plan participants) and include the types of benefits in force at the valuation date and the pattern of sharing
benefit costs between the LVCVA and the plan members. Bi-annual actuarial reports and mid-period adjustments to such
estimates reflect a long-term perspective and employ methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term
volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets. Changes in the assumptions and other inputs that
affected the measurement of the LVCVA’s total OPEB liability during the period from the last measurement date were as
follows:

The discount rate was updated from 2.16%, as of June 30, 2021, to 3.54%, as of June 30, 2022 (the actuarial measurement
date).

The total OPEB liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:

Primary Plan and PEBP

Measurement date June 30, 2022
Reporting date June 30, 2023
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal, level percentage of salary

Experience/Assumptions gains and losses are
amortized over a closed period of 13.9 average

Amortization method remaining service to expected retirement age
of active and inactive plan members (who have
no future service).

Asset valuation N/A, no assets in OPEB trust
2.16% (Beginning of the year)
3.54% (End of the year)
Discount rate source Bond Buyer 20-Bond GO Index
Salary increases 3% per annum

Discount rate

Pre-Medicare Medical & Rx Benefits - 6.5%
reduced 0.25% each year until reaching
ultimate trend rate of 4.0%.

Healthcare cost trend rates Medicare Benefits - 5.5% reduced 0.25% each
year until reaching ultimate trend rate of 4.0%.
Administrative Fees - 4.0%
Dental - 4.0%
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On June 30, 2022, the assumed per capita health claim costs are adjusted to reflect expected increases related to age and
gender. These increases are based on a 2013 Society of Actuaries study, with sample rates shown below.

Sample Age Males Females
45 4.6% 1.6%
55 5.4% 2.4%
65 1.7% 2.4%
75 1.2% 1.3%
80 0.8% 1.1%

Mortality rates were updated to utilize the Pub-2010 headcount weighted table with the MP-2021 improvement scales
(previously the RP-2014 with MP-2018 scales), applied on a gender-specific basis.

Termination rates are based on withdrawal assumptions based on the 2021 Nevada PERS Actuarial Valuation. The rate of
withdrawal for reasons other than death and retirement is dependent on an employee’s age and years of service. Sample
rates are provided below.

Years of Service General Rate

0 15.8%
5 6.5%
10 4.3%
15 2.3%
20+ 1.8%

Marriage rate assumptions were updated to reflect the most recent participant experience. Based on the current retiree
population, 30% of future retirees are assumed married with a spouse at retirement, eligible for plan benefits.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

Discount rate. The sensitivity analysis below indicates what the LVCVA’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated
using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.54%) or 1- percentage-point higher (4.54%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease in Discount Discount Rate 1% Increase in Discount

Rate 3.54% Rate
Primary Plan S 33,094,508 S 27,500,591 S 23,129,656
PEBP 2,360,918 2,102,927 1,887,934
Total OPEB Liability S 35,455,426 S 29,603,518 S 25,017,590

Health care cost trend rate. The sensitivity analysis below indicates what the LVCVA's total OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using a health care cost trend rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1- percentage-point higher than the current

rate:
1% Increase in Health

1% Decrease in Health

Health Care Trend

Care Trend Rate Rate Care Trend Rate
Primary Plan S 22,827,660 S 27,500,591 S 33,608,500
PEBP 1,896,934 2,102,927 2,308,920
Total OPEB Liability S 24,724,594 S 29,603,518 S 35,917,420
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CHANGES IN LIABILITY

During FY 2023, changes in the LVCVA’s total OPEB liability were as follows:

Primary Plan PEBP Total
Service Cost S 958,432 S - S 958,432
Interest on total OPEB liability 697,256 56,488 753,744
Differences between expected and actual experience (638,420) (148,053) (786,473)
Changes of assumptions or other inputs (4,502,852) (357,891) (4,860,743)
Benefit payments (671,540) (125,587) (797,127)
Net change in total OPEB liability (4,157,124) (575,043) (4,732,167)
Total OPEB liability, beginning of year 31,657,715 2,677,970 34,335,685
Total OPEB liability, end of year S 27,500,591 S 2,102,927 S 29,603,518

The LVCVA's reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB, as of June 30, 2023, were as follows:

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of
Resources Resources

Primary Plan
Differences between expected and actual experience S - S 19,080,196
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 7,820,711 8,189,883
Benefit payments subsequent to the measurement date 839,991 -
PEBP
Benefit payments subsequent to the measurement date 121,749 -
Total of All Plans
Differences between expected and actual experience S - S 19,080,196
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 7,820,711 8,189,883
Benefit payments subsequent to the measurement date 961,740 -

S 8,782,451 S 27,270,079

Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from benefit payments after the measurement date but before the
end of LVCVA's fiscal year totaling $961,740 will be recognized as a reduction of the total OPEB liability in the year ending
June 30, 2024.

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in OPEB
expense as follows:

For the Year Ended June 30, Total
2024 S 2,677,437
2025 2,575,184
2026 1,907,163
2027 1,907,163
2028 1,907,163
Thereafter 8,475,257

52



LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

NOTE 12. CLASSIFICATION OF NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCES:
FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS:

Fund balances are required to be reported in classifications based on the following definitions:

Nonspendable Fund Balance — Includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in spendable form or
(b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. These classifications include inventories, prepaid items, assets
held for sale, and long-term receivables.

Restricted Fund Balance — Includes constraints placed on the use of these resources that are either externally imposed by
creditors (such as debt covenants), grantors, contributors or other governments, or are imposed by law (through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation).

Committed Fund Balance — Includes amounts that can only be used for a specific purpose because of a formal action
(resolution or board approval, both of which are considered equally binding) by the LVCVA’s highest level of decision-making
authority, which is the LVCVA’s Board. Those constraints remain binding unless removed or changed in the same manner
employed to previously commit those resources.

Assigned Fund Balance — Includes amounts that are constrained by the LVCVA’s intent for specific purposes but do not meet
the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. The LVCVA Board has approved a policy that provides the authority to
the President/CEO and the CFO to make fund balance assignments. Constraints imposed on the use of assigned amounts can
be removed without formal Board action.

Unassigned Fund Balance — This is the residual classification of the General Fund. This is fund balance that has not been
reported in any other classification. The General Fund is the only fund that can report a positive unassigned fund balance.
Other governmental funds might report a negative balance in this classification, as a result of overspending for specific
purposes, for which amounts have been restricted, committed, or assigned.

SPENDING PRIORITIZATION IN USING AVAILABLE RESOURCES:

When both restricted resources and other resources (i.e. committed, assigned, and unassigned) can be used for the same
purposes, the LVCVA financial management policy considers restricted resources to be spent first.

When committed, assigned, and unassigned resources can be used for the same purpose, the flow assumption in the LVCVA's
budget is to spend in the sequence of committed resources first, assigned second, and unassigned last.

GENERAL FUND BALANCE POLICY:

Based on Nevada Administrative Code 354.650-660, a minimum fund balance of 4.0% of budgeted General Fund operating
expenditures must be maintained. The LVCVA begins each new fiscal year operating from beginning fund balance for six
weeks, based on the timing of the first “new” year’s room taxes collected. Six weeks is approximately 12% of budgeted
operating expenditures. Thus, in order to ensure that the LVCVA has sufficient cash on hand to meet all of its financial
obligations in a timely manner, and to ensure that essential services are not disrupted in times of fluctuating revenues, the
LVCVA'’s fiscal practice is to target an ending General Fund balance between 4% and 16% of expected expenditures for
potential variances in economic conditions without detriment to operations. FY 2023 ending fund balance was budgeted to
be 16.8% of expected expenditures and actualized at 50.7%.

The fund balances by component on June 30, 2023, were:
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LVCCD Capital LVCCD Debt Capital Projects Debt Service
General Fund Fund Service Fund Fund Fund

Non-Spendable

Inventory S 124,172 S - S - S - S -

Prepaid and other items 9,252,253 894,045 - 175,842 -
Restricted

Capital project programs - 151,393,787 - 13,020,989 -

Debt service programs - - 28,829,055 - 43,069,435

Promotional activity for destination weddings 72,526 - - - -
Committed

Capital project programs - 201,522,581 - 67,565,745 -

Debt service programs - - - - 1,698,916

Operating budget 20,869,130 - - - -
Assigned

Capital program 27,000,000 - - 3,534,491 -
Unassigned 68,768,157 - - - -

$ 126,086,238 S 353,810,413 S 28,829,055 S 84,297,067 $ 44,768,351

NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:

The LVCVA often carries cash and cash equivalents on deposit with financial institutions in excess of federally-insured limits,
and the risk of losses that may be sustained as a result of uninsured deposits in the event of a future failure of a financial
institution, if any, is not subject to estimation at this time.

ADVERTISING

R&R Partners (R&R) is the official advertising and marketing communications agency for the LVCVA. R&R develops marketing
plans for both long-term and short-term initiatives and works with the LVCVA in the areas of consumer marketing, business
and convention marketing, international marketing, and extended destination marketing. In July 2021, the Board approved a
four-year contract with an optional two-year extension, which can be terminated by either party with 90 days’ notice. The
contract amount is not to exceed $500 million, inclusive of R&R’s services fees (Agency Compensation), content creation
costs, and media purchases, which shall be capped through the LVCVA’s annual budget process. The annual Agency
Compensation is approximately $19.1 million for FY23.

At the same July 2021 meeting, LVCVA entered into a two-year agreement with an additional advertising company, Grey
Group (Grey), for social marketing services, with two optional two-year extensions. The contract amount is not to exceed
$160 million, inclusive of Grey’s services fees (Agency Compensation), content creation costs, and media purchases for social
platforms, which shall be capped through the LVCVA’s annual budget process. The FY23 annual Agency Compensation for the
Grey Group is approximately $8.4 million. In September 2021, the Board approved an additional, direct agreement with Grey’s
production arm, Townhouse, to enable quicker turnaround and flexibility for social production needs. The Townhouse
agreement is for a period of two years, with two optional one-year extensions. The Townhouse contract amount (not to
exceed $10 million) is included in Grey’s contract total (not to exceed $160 million cumulative).

The LVCVA, through R&R, also sponsors various special events and pays for media advertising of the destination and its
events, which bring people to Las Vegas. Some of these involve multi-year contracts. On June 30, 2023, these contract
commitments were $12.5 million for FY 2024, at the time of this report there are no future commitments beyond FY 2024.

LAS VEGAS BOWL

In April 2021, the Board approved the Sponsorship Agreement with ESPN Productions for the 2021-2025 Las Vegas Bowls in
the total amount of $8.5 million ($5.2 million remaining, as of June 30, 2023). The Las Vegas Bowl games will take place at
Allegiant Stadium between December 26 and December 30 of each year of the Sponsorship Agreement and broadcast on
ESPN or ABC.
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NATIONAL FINALS RODEO

Through Las Vegas Events, the LVCVA has an agreement with Professional Rodeo Cowboys Association (PRCA) to provide
annual payments of $2.2 million for the National Finals Rodeo and $250,000 annually to be the exclusive national sponsor for
the National Finals of Steer Roping, if not held in Las Vegas. The contract term is 10 years, ending in FY 2024.

NASCAR SPONSORSHIP

In March 2017, the LVCVA Board approved an agreement to sponsor two annual NASCAR races at the Las Vegas Motor
Speedway through 2024, with a possible three-year extension, for a total cost of $17.5 million. The required payment from
LVCVA was $2.5 million annually, which includes other ancillary marketing sponsorship benefits. In December 2020, the
LVCVA Board approved an additional $7.75 million to the Race Sponsorship Agreement, reducing the annual amount to $1.75
million per year and extending the term of the agreement through FY 2032. There is $14.9 million remaining for FY 2024
through FY 2032.

PROFESSIONAL BULL RIDERS

In December 2021, the Board authorized a five-year $6.4 million ($5.3 million remaining as of June 30, 2023) deal with
Professional Bull Riders LLC for a new team bull-riding championship series. The multi-event series will have its playoffs and
championships at T-Mobile Arena each year, 2022-2026.

SUPER BOWL

In January 2022, the Board authorized a sponsorship of Super Bowl LVIII in February 2024 with Las Vegas Super Bowl Host
Committee, LLC, in an amount not to exceed $40 million (approximately $38 million unspent, as of June 30, 2023). The Super
Bow! will be held at Allegiant Stadium located in Las Vegas, Nevada.

FORMULA ONE GRAND PRIX

In May 2022, the Board authorized a sponsorship agreement with Liberty Dice, Inc. to host an annual Las Vegas Formula One
Grand Prix race from 2023-2025 for $6.5 million per year. Additionally, in March 2023, the Board authorized the
CEOQ/President to purchase up to $7 million of race and hospitality tickets for the November 2023 Formula One for customers
and destination partners.

PAC-12 FOOTBALL CHAMPIONSHIP

In December 2022, the Board authorized a one-year sponsorship agreement extension with the Pac-12 in the amount of $1.4
million for Pac-12 Football Championship to be held at Allegiant Stadium in December 2023.

U.S. BOWLING CONGRESS OPEN CHAMPIONSHIPS

In January 2023, the Board approved an expenditure in the amount of $8.4 million to fund the United States Bowling Congress
Open Championships, Women’s Championships, and Category B Events in 2028-2039 at South Point Tournament Bowling
Plaza and other Las Vegas bowling centers.

INTERNATIONAL OFFICES

The LVCVA has contracts for international office representation, in the following locations: Canada, Mexico, Germany, South
Korea, and the United Kingdom. The current contracts expire on June 30, 2024, with a remaining one-year extension;
collectively, these agreements have an aggregate value of $6.5 million for FY 2024 through FY 2025, and can be terminated,
without cause, with a 30-day notice.

TERMINATION PAYMENTS AND COMMITMENTS IN CONTRACTOR AGREEMENTS

The LVCVA has an agreement with Cox Nevada Telcom (Cox) for telecommunications services at the Las Vegas Convention
Center (LVCC). Cox’s original agreement required Cox to invest at least $10 million in telecommunication infrastructure
improvements to the LVCVA’s facilities over the life of the agreement, which Cox fulfilled, and is fully amortized with no
remaining liability.

Also, as part of the Cox agreement, a neutral host digital antenna system (DAS) was installed in the LVCC with proceeds from
the cellular carriers that use the DAS. Under these agreements, all operating costs of the DAS are paid by the carriers, as well
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as monthly rent paid by the carriers to Cox. Cox pays a sub-license fee to the LVCVA, on a monthly basis. The DAS becomes
property of the LVCVA at the earlier of the end of the DAS agreement term (current date of November 2026 if the single 5-
year extension is not executed) or the termination of the Cox agreement. If the agreement with Cox is not extended past that
period, the LVCVA would assume the rights to the DAS assets and be responsible for executing the administrative function of
operating and maintaining the DAS, as defined in the agreement, through the remainder of the DAS contract term. This is
considered a contingent commitment and asset, which is not recorded in the LVCVA'’s financial statements as it is dependent
on potential future events.

Amendments to the agreement extended the contract through June 2024 and increased Cox’s investments by an additional
$13.7 million. The entire additional investment amounts have not yet been made but are contractually obligated to be
amortized over no more than a five-year period from when they occur. As of June 30, 2023, the maximum amount of LVCVA
payments for the transfer of these unamortized investments to LVCVA at the end of the lease, which is dependent on
investment project completion and contract termination dates, does not exceed $3.2 million.

Since January 2017, Sodexo Live! (Sodexo) has operated in the LVCC, under a Food and Beverage Concessions Lease, as the
exclusive provider of both retail and catered food and beverage products and services. The current lease concludes on June
30, 2027. Commission rates paid to the LVCVA are based on a tiered structure of gross receipts, adjusted annually for CPI.
Normal commission rates are 15.0% - 22.5%, with a 3.0% set-aside for replacement and maintenance. The contract also
amortizes a previously completed $16 million Sodexo investment, over the remaining life of the agreement. The LVCVA’s
buyout cost on June 30, 2023, if the contract were terminated early, would be $5.1 million. The current agreement also
includes $5 million in improvements for the West Hall expansion amortized over a period of seven years from the service
date, through December 2027. LVCVA’s buyout cost on June 30, 2023, if the contract were terminated early, would be $3.2
million. If the contract isn’t renewed past June 30, 2027, the payout at that time would be $300 thousand for the last 6
months of the amortization period, which approximates the estimated value of the assets provided to the LVCVA at that time.

OTHER OBLIGATIONS

The LVCVA has no long-term obligation to fund other organizations: for example, Las Vegas Events; however, there are some
organizations that engage in long-term sponsorship commitments with the LVCVA.

During FY 2018, the LVCVA entered into a naming rights agreement related to the Las Vegas Ballpark, which opened for the
2019 baseball season, and now houses the Las Vegas minor league baseball team that previously played at Cashman Center.
Site acquisition, all improvements, and operation of the park is the sole responsibility of the baseball team. The 20-year
agreement provides the LVCVA with exclusive naming rights, dominant sponsorship signage, and other marketing assets for
an annual fee of $4 million, commencing in FY 2019.

In June 2023, the Board authorized the CEO/President to amend an agreement with Western Management Group for the
operations and management of the Las Vegas Monorail System (Monorail) in the amount of $60 million for the period from
July 1, 2023, through June 30, 2026.

In June 2023, the Board approved an agreement with TBC — The Boring Company, dba Vegas Loop, for operations and
management of the Las Vegas Convention Center Loop for the period beginning July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024 in the
amount of $4.6 million

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT COMMITMENTS

The LVCVA is a party to several contracts and commitments relating to construction projects and services related to the
LVCVA'’s facilities and land. The Board has authorized up to $432.2 million with Hunt/Penta Joint Venture for the construction
of Phase Three of the LVCCD Program, On June 30, 2023, contracts in the LVCCD Capital Fund and the Capital Projects Fund
totaled approximately $180.5 million and $2.6 million, respectively, with an estimated remaining contractual commitment of
approximately $48.6 million and $1.7 million, respectively. Other outstanding commitment balances in the General Fund
totaled approximately $5.6 million. As of June 30, 2023, the LVCVA Board has approved staff to host future events in the
destination during FY 2024 for $2.9 million and $818 thousand beyond FY 2024, not previously disclosed.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The LVCVA is the named defendant or responsible party in various legal actions. It is the opinion of the LVCVA’s management
and legal counsel that such legal matters will not result in any material liabilities to the LVCVA, other than disclosed below.
The LVCVA does not accrue for estimated future legal and defense costs, if any, to be incurred in connection with outstanding
or threatened litigation and other disputed matters but, rather, records such as period costs when the services are rendered.

The LVCVA is involved in administrative matters with the Nevada Department of Environmental Protection (NDEP) related to
perchloroethylene (PCE) contamination in some parking areas of the Las Vegas Convention Center that requires remediation.
The LVCVA has recorded a $1,957,800 remediation liability in the government-wide financial statements using the expected
cash flow technique for future remediation costs. The estimate of remediation costs, which is based on ongoing analysis,
may change over time due to continued investigation, actual remediation actions performed, future regulator rulings,
changes in costs of goods and services, changes in remediation technology, or changes in laws and regulations governing the
remediation effort.

The LVCVA is also subject to certain pending and threatened litigation arising in the ordinary course of operation of the LVCVA.
It is the opinion of LVCVA’s counsel that the pending or threatened litigation will not result in final judgments against the
LVCVA which would, individually or in the aggregate, materially adversely affect the LVCVA’s financial position.

The LVCVA has an asset retirement obligation, with a June 30, 2023, liability of $16.2 million and a deferred outflow of $12.5
million, for the portions of the monorail system guideway and stations that are required by easements and a cooperative
agreement with Clark County, to be decommissioned when the Monorail ceases operation. The deferred outflow will be
amortized over the estimated remaining life of the Monorail capital assets, which is 7 years. There are no legally required
funding assurance provisions or restricted assets related to this obligation.

NOTE 14. ROOM TAX REVENUE:

The LVCVA’s primary revenue source is a portion of the 10.5% - 14% room tax imposed on lodging establishments in Clark
County, Nevada. The rate of taxes can only be modified by action of the Nevada State Legislature.

The tax for transient lodging in the County is distributed as follows:

LVCVA General Fund & Las Vegas Clark County School Clark County Taxing State of

Total * LVCCD Capital Fund Stadium Authority District Transportation Entity Nevada

Resort Hotels 12% - 14% 41/2%-51/2% 0% - 7/8% 15/8% 1% 0% - 2% 33/8%
Other hotel and motels 10% - 13% 21/2%-41/2% 0% - 7/8% 15/8% 1% 0% - 2% 33/8%

* The individual components of room tax have distinct geographical regions, and, therefore, each property pays varying room tax rates.

The LVCCD Capital Fund’s dedicated portion was provided by a 0.5% increase to transient lodging tax, which is legislatively
restricted to support Phases Two and Three of the LVCCD project and sunsets in 2049 without additional legislative action.

As provided for by NRS 244A.645, up to 10% of the total room taxes and gaming fees received by the LVCVA may be distributed
to the County and incorporated cities, excluding revenues generated from SB1 as those revenues are wholly restricted to
Phases Two and Three of the LVCCD project. Additionally, SB1 imposed a cap of $25.0 million on non-SB1 room tax and gaming
fees collection allocation. Any amount of the 10% exceeding the room tax and gaming fees collection allocation cap is
restricted to the LVCCD Capital Fund. The total collection allocation was $25.0 million in FY 2023, while $10.5 million was
transferred to the LVCCD Capital Fund, in compliance with SB1 requirements for the LVCCD project.

NOTE 15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The LVCVA issued taxable and non-taxable revenue bonds to support Phase Three of the LVCCD project. The bond sales
occurred on July 19, 2023, and closed on August 3, 2023. The par value of the non-taxable bonds was $136.1 million with a
premium of $14.6 million. The par value of the taxable bonds was $13.9 million. The combined true interest cost of both
bonds is 4.11%.
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The LVCVA is currently in the process of selling 10 acres of land located at Las Vegas Boulevard and Elvis Presley Boulevard to
65SLVB LLC for $125,000,000. The anticipated closing date is currently the middle or later portion of 2024. The Authority

anticipates that additional site excavation and compaction of the site may reduce the net proceeds of the sale by
approximately $10 million.
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED
RATIOS

Post-employment Benefits Other Than Pensions

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY

Pensions

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO PERS PENSION PLAN

Pensions

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

General Fund
This fund is the primary operating fund, which accounts for the accumulation of
financial resources of the LVCVA, except for those required to be accounted for in a
separate fund.



LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios'"!
For the Years Ended June 30, 2023 and the Last Nine Fiscal Years®

2023 2022 2021
Primary Plan PEBP Primary Plan PEBP Primary Plan PEBP
Service cost S 958,432 S - $ 1,058,336 S - $ 1,319,039 S -
Interest on total OPEB liability 697,256 56,488 689,151 58,437 1,019,430 129,222
Differences between expected and actual experience (638,420) (148,053) - - (7,408,429) (1,479,996)
Changes in assumptions or other inputs (4,502,852) (357,891) 261,100 32,886 8,095,690 431,417
Benefit payments (671,540) (125,587) (951,678) (115,158) (464,890) (141,776)
Net change in total OPEB liability (4,157,124) (575,043) 1,056,909 (23,835) 2,560,840 (1,061,133)
Total OPEB liability, beginning of year 31,657,715 2,677,970 30,600,806 2,701,805 28,039,966 3,762,938
Total OPEB liability, end of year $ 27,500,591 $ 2,102,927 $ 31,657,715 $ 2,677,970 $ 30,600,806 $ 2,701,805
Covered-employee Payroll $ 30,411,418 N/A®) $ 14,563,787 N/A® $ 37,602,218 N/A®)
Total OPEB liability, end of year as a percentage of covered payroll 90.43% N/A®) 217.37% N/A® 81.38% N/A®
2020 2019 2018
Primary Plan PEBP Primary Plan PEBP Primary Plan PEBP

Service cost $ 1,102,757 S - $ 3,175,322 S - $ 3,310,122 S -
Interest on total OPEB liability 988,506 136,815 1,688,014 151,889 1,401,247 130,455
Differences between expected and actual experience - - (19,810,975) (934) (189,570) 11,185
Changes in assumptions or other inputs 1,758,458 169,621 (4,105,043) (583,098) (5,870,369) (406,279)
Benefit payments (499,580) (157,535) (466,782) (171,691) (528,214) (183,295)
Net change in total OPEB liability 3,350,141 148,901 (19,519,464) (603,834) (1,876,784) (447,934)
Total OPEB liability, beginning of year 24,689,825 3,614,037 44,209,289 4,217,871 46,086,073 4,665,805
Total OPEB liability, end of year $ 28,039,966 $ 3,762,938 $ 24,689,825 $ 3,614,037 S 44,209,289 $ 4,217,871
Covered-employee Payroll $ 41,811,068 N/A® $ 40,956,955 N/A® $ 40,026,786 N/A®
Total OPEB liability, end of year as a percentage of covered payroll 67.06% N/A®) 60.28% N/A® 110.45% N/A®

W) The LVCVA's OPEB is not administered through a trust.

@ Fiscal year 2023 is the sixth year of implementation of GASB 75; therefore, only six years are shown. As it becomes available, this schedule will ultimately present information for the
ten most recent fiscal years.

) pEBP is a closed plan; therefore, there are no current employees covered by the PEBP.
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LVCVA proportion of net pension liability
LVCVA proportionate share of net pension liability
LVCVA's covered payrollm

LVCVA's proportionate share of the net pension liability as a
percentage of LVCVA's covered payroll

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension
liability

Statutorily required contribution

Contributions in relation to the statutorily-required
contribution

Contribution deficiency
LVCVA's covered payrollm

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll

LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the PERS Net Pension Liability
For the Years Ended June 30, 2023 and the Last Nine Fiscal Years'?

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

2020

2021

2022

0.54167% 0.55623% 0.56294% 0.55928% 0.56121% 0.53409%

$ 56,452,216 S 63,740,412 $ 75,755,148 $ 74,382,943 S 76,536,068 $ 72,828,495

0.44418%

$ 61,867,321

0.16107%

$ 14,688,717

0.37705%

$ 68,076,494

$ 32,046,157 $ 33,468,391 $ 34,395,199 $ 36,192,769 $ 37,303,296 $ 36,762,152 $ 30,885,583 $ 12,824,930 $ 26,540,803

57% 53% 45% 49% 49% 50% 50% 87% 39%

76% 75% 72% 74% 75% 77% 77% 87% 75%

LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Schedule of Contributions to PERS Pension Plan
For the Years Ended June 30, 2023 and the Last Nine Fiscal Years

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
$ 8,204,187 S 8618472 $ 9,617,946 $ 10,088,792 $ 10,444,920 $ 10,293,401 $ 9,008,626 $ 3,751,275 $ 7,885,050 $ 8,868,703

8,204,187 8,618,472 9,617,946 10,088,792 10,444,920 10,293,401 9,008,626 3,751,275 7,885,050 8,868,703
$ -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -
$ 32,046,157 $ 33,468,391 $ 34,395,199 $ 36,192,769 $ 37,303,296 $ 36,762,152 $ 30,885,583 $ 12,824,930 $ 26,540,803 $ 29,810,997

26% 26% 28% 28% 28% 28% 29% 29% 30% 30%

(ag required by implementation of GASB Statement No. 82, amounts were restated to reflect payroll on which contributions to the pension are based.

(Z)Only nine years of historical data available since the first year of GASB Statement No. 68 implementation.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts Actual Variance with
Original Final Amounts Final Budget
Revenues:
Room taxes and gaming fees S 306,200,000 S 306,200,000 S 355,324,940 S 49,124,940
Charges for services
Use of facilities 36,971,300 36,971,300 37,468,219 496,919
Ancillary 23,079,500 23,079,500 29,599,039 6,519,539
Other 3,128,700 3,128,700 2,388,746 (739,954)
Transportation services 21,000,000 21,000,000 25,154,208 4,154,208
Intergovernmental revenues (grant) 7,000,000 7,000,000 7,000,000 -
Federal grant subsidy 1,558,200 1,558,200 1,558,221 21
Interest and investment earnings 300,000 300,000 968,003 668,003
Miscellaneous 425,000 425,000 684,406 259,406
Total revenues 399,662,700 399,662,700 460,145,782 60,483,082
Expenditures:
Current:
General government 20,464,500 20,464,500 17,320,029 3,144,471
Marketing:
Advertising 94,000,000 95,490,000 92,491,982 2,998,018
Marketing and sales 34,564,300 33,074,300 24,735,165 8,339,135
Special events grants 27,528,275 27,528,275 23,624,955 3,903,320
Operations:
Facility operations 47,839,200 47,619,000 42,573,189 5,045,811
Transportation services 23,330,000 23,550,200 22,744,302 805,898
Community support:
Other community support 25,000,000 25,000,000 25,000,000 -
Capital outlay:
Leases - - 575,535 (575,535)
Debt service:
Principal - - 220,073 (220,073)
Interest - - 16,440 (16,440)
Total expenditures 272,726,275 272,726,275 249,301,670 23,424,605
Excess of revenues over expenditures 126,936,425 126,936,425 210,844,112 83,907,687
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 130,000 130,000 869,956 739,956
Transfers out (125,328,878) (165,328,878) (170,241,372) (4,912,494)
Issuance of lease obligation - - 575,535 575,535
Proceeds from the sale of assets 25,000 25,000 30,805 5,805
Total other financing sources (uses) (125,173,878) (165,173,878) (168,765,076) (3,591,198)
Net change in fund balance 1,762,547 (38,237,453) 42,079,036 80,316,489
Fund balance - beginning 84,007,202 84,007,202 84,007,202 -
Fund balance - ending S 85,769,749 S 45,769,749 S 126,086,238 S 80,316,489
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

NOTE 1. OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS:

On June 30, 2023, no assets were accumulated in a qualifying trust in which the assets contributed, and earnings thereon are
irrevocable, dedicated solely to pay postemployment benefits, and are legally protected from creditors.

Change of Assumptions:

The overall decrease in the liability of $4,732,167, comprised of a $4,157,124 decrease in the primary plan and $575,043
decrease in the PEBP plan, respectively, from June 30, 2022 to June 30, 2023, are primarily driven by the effect of the changes
in assumptions and other inputs, the difference between expected and actual experience that includes census data updates
and new per capita claims experience. This included employing an allocation-by-entity method where service costs, interest
cost, and schedule of outflows and inflows are allocated proportionally to each entity as a share of the total OPEB liability.
Updates were also made to the assumed discount rate, which was 2.16% as of June 30, 2021 and 3.54% as of June 30, 2022.
Changes to termination rates, marriage assumptions, and mortality rates are shown in Note 11 of the Notes to the Financial
Statements. Retirement rates, aging factors, and salary scales were the same as the prior year.

Additional information related to postemployment benefits other than pensions can be found in Note 11 to the financial
statements on pages 49 through 53 of this report.

NOTE 2: PERS PENSION PLAN:

For the year ended June 30, 2023, no significant events occurred that would have affected or changed the benefits provision,
size, or composition of those covered by the pension plan, or actuarial methods and assumptions used in the actuarial
valuation report dated June 30, 2022. Actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2022 valuation were based on the results
of the experience study from the period of July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2020.

Additional information related to pensions can be found in Note 10 to the financial statements on pages 45 through 48 of
this report.

NOTE 3. BUDGET INFORMATION:

The accompanying general fund schedule of revenues, expenditures, and change in fund balance presents the original
adopted budget, the final amended budget, and actual general fund data. The original budget was adopted on a basis
consistent with the LVCVA’s financial accounting policies and with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. All amendments made to the original budget were as prescribed by law and similarly consistent.

Additional budgetary information can be found in Note 3 to the financial statements on pages 32 through 33 of this report.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

INDIVIDUAL FUND INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

Governmental Funds
LVCCD Capital Fund
This fund accounts for all project costs related to LVCCD Phases Two and Three of
the expansion and renovation project, as well as accounting for transfers from the
general fund and tax revenues enacted and restricted by the Nevada legislature.

LVCCD Debt Service Fund
This fund accounts for the accumulation of resources and principal and interest
payments for debt issued in conjunction with LVCCD Phases Two and Three.

Capital Projects Fund

This fund accounts for capital expenditures for furniture, equipment, intangibles,
and routine improvements or additions to land and buildings financed by general
government resources. It also accounts for capital grants to other governments, which
are for the express purpose of capital construction activities by the other government.

Debt Service Fund
This fund accounts for the accumulation of resources and principal and interest
payments of the LVCVA’s long-term debt.

Proprietary Fund

Internal Service Fund

This fund is used to accumulate monies in reserve for future payment of other post-
employment benefits liabilities.



LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
LVCCD Capital Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts Actual Variance with
Original Final Amounts Final Budget
Revenues:
Room taxes S 31,415,000 S 31,415,000 S 36,529,040 S 5,114,040
Interest and investment earnings 1,500,000 1,500,000 5,031,066 3,531,066
Miscellaneous 120,000,000 120,000,000 7,034,204 (112,965,796)
Total revenues 152,915,000 152,915,000 48,594,310 (104,320,690)
Expenditures:
Capital outlay:
Construction in progress 152,000,000 162,000,000 26,511,146 135,488,854
Noncapitalized assets - - 6,723 (6,723)
Debt service:
Debt issuance costs 1,200,000 1,200,000 853,611 346,389
Total expenditures 153,200,000 163,200,000 27,371,480 135,828,520
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (285,000) (10,285,000) 21,222,830 31,507,830
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 60,660,000 70,660,000 76,004,080 5,344,080
Transfers out (39,674,053) (49,800,849) (49,800,848) 1
Issuance of debt 150,000,000 150,000,000 150,000,000 -
Premium on debt issuance - - 13,896,125 13,896,125
Total other financing sources (uses) 170,985,947 170,859,151 190,099,357 19,240,206
Net change in fund balance 170,700,947 160,574,151 211,322,187 50,748,036
Fund balance - beginning 142,488,226 142,488,226 142,488,226 -
Fund balance - ending S 313,189,173 S 303,062,377 S 353,810,413 S 50,748,036
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Revenues:
Interest and investment earnings
Total revenues

Expenditures:
Principal
Interest
Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance

Fund balance - beginning
Fund balance - ending

LVCCD Debt Service Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts Actual Variance with
Original Final Amounts Final Budget
S 40,000 S 40,000 S 470,582 S 430,582
40,000 40,000 470,582 430,582
1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 -
37,601,553 39,785,227 39,785,226 1
38,701,553 40,885,227 40,885,226 1
(38,661,553) (40,845,227) (40,414,644) 430,583
39,674,053 49,800,849 49,800,848 (1)
(40,000) (40,000) (471,586) (431,586)
39,634,053 49,760,849 49,329,262 (431,587)
972,500 8,915,622 8,914,618 (1,004)
19,914,437 19,914,437 19,914,437 -
S 20,886,937 S 28,830,059 S 28,829,055 S (1,004)
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Capital Projects Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts Actual Variance with
Original Final Amounts Final Budget
Revenues:
Interest and investment earnings S 500,000 S 500,000 S 1,136,997 S 636,997
Miscellaneous - - 1,251,541 1,251,541
Total revenues 500,000 500,000 2,388,538 1,888,538
Expenditures:
Capital outlay:
Land improvements 43,377,931 - 4,500 (4,500)
Buildings - 4,037,000 248,062 3,788,938
Transportation systems - - 1,010,576 (1,010,576)
Furniture and equipment - 2,575,621 1,886,919 688,702
Construction in progress 29,400,000 96,165,310 14,447,008 81,718,302
Noncapitalized assets - - 2,772,337 (2,772,337)
Total expenditures 72,777,931 102,777,931 20,369,402 82,408,529
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (72,277,931) (102,277,931) (17,980,864) 84,297,067
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 9,250,000 39,250,000 39,250,000 -
Total other financing sources (uses) 9,250,000 39,250,000 39,250,000 -
Net change in fund balance (63,027,931) (63,027,931) 21,269,136 84,297,067
Fund balance - beginning 63,027,931 63,027,931 63,027,931 -
Fund balance - ending S - S - S 84,297,067 S 84,297,067
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Debt Service Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts Actual Variance with
Original Final Amounts Final Budget
Revenues:
Interest and investment earnings S 130,000 S 130,000 S 890,386 S 760,386
Total revenues 130,000 130,000 890,386 760,386
Expenditures:
Debt service:
Principal 19,115,000 19,115,000 19,115,000 -
Interest 31,421,571 31,421,571 31,421,571 -
Total expenditures 50,536,571 50,536,571 50,536,571 -
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (50,406,571) (50,406,571) (49,646,185) 760,386
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 55,458,878 55,458,878 55,458,878 -
Transfers out (130,000) (130,000) (869,956) (739,956)
Total other financing sources (uses) 55,328,878 55,328,878 54,588,922 (739,956)
Net change in fund balance 4,922,307 4,922,307 4,942,737 20,430
Fund balance - beginning 39,825,614 39,825,614 39,825,614 -
Fund balance - ending S 44,747,921 S 44,747,921 S 44,768,351 S 20,430
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Position - Budget and Actual
Internal Service Fund

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts Actual Variance with
Original Final Amounts Final Budget
Operating revenues:
Charges for service S 700,000 S 700,000 S 503,617 S (196,383)
Total operating revenues 700,000 700,000 503,617 (196,383)
Non-operating revenues:
Interest and investment earnings S 10,000 S 10,000 S (9,183) S (19,183)
Total non-operating revenues 10,000 10,000 (9,183) (19,183)
Total revenues 710,000 710,000 494,434 (215,566)
Expenditures:
Services and benefits 700,000 700,000 503,617 196,383
Total expenditures 700,000 700,000 503,617 196,383
Change in net position 10,000 10,000 (9,183) (19,183)
Net position - beginning 2,167,856 2,167,856 2,167,856 -
Net position - ending S 2,177,856 S 2,177,856 S 2,158,673 S (19,183)
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Statistical Section
(unaudited)

Statistical schedules differ from financial statements because they usually cover several fiscal years and
may present non-accounting data. The statistical tables presented in this section reflect social and
economic data along with financial trends of the LVCVA. Certain tables recommended by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) are not included because property taxes are not a
source of revenue.

Financial Trends

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the LVCVA’s financial
performance and well-being have changed over time.

Revenue Capacity

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the LVCVA’s most significant local
revenue source, room tax.

Debt Capacity
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the LVCVA’s
current levels of outstanding debt and the LVCVA’s ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the
environment within which the LVCVA’s financial activities take place.

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the
information in the LVCVA'’s financial report relates to services the LVCVA provides and the activities
it measures.



LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
NET POSITION BY COMPONENT
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(amounts expressed in thousands (3))

(unaudited)
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Primary government
Net investment in capital assets § 170538 § 177524 S 189376 S 209,842 S 226,057 S 231567 $261,669 S 297,678 S 303,145 S 306,512
Restricted:
Debt service 46,900 49,605 51,144 51,199 184,348 188,249 173,846 33,992 34,665 43,069
LVCCD capital project - 13,716 46,026 62,866 44,797 - 151,394
Community support - 4,538 4,310 4,112 - - - -
LVCCD debt service - - 1,935 38,040 21,826 18,917 19,914 28,829
Other purposes - - - 579 36 9 165 755 - 73
Capital grants to other governments 19,244 18,487 17,882 - - - - - - -
Unrestricted: (284,541)  (263,118)  (231,870)  (204412)  (319,127)  (299,990) (263,438) (168,156) (71,415) (92,159)
Total primary government net position ® ¢ (47,859) $ (17502) $ 26533 $ 75462 $ 143585 S 224,853 $238864 $ 183,187 $ 286310 $ 437,718
® Retroactive restatement of balances for implementation of GASB No. 65and GASB No. 68 in FY 2014.
@ Restatement related to implementation of GASB No. 82in FY 2017.
® Amounts expressed in thousands may not foot due to rounding.
LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(amounts expressed in millions (2))
(unaudited)
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
General Fund
Nonspendable S 50 $ 48 $ 66 $ 51 § 53 § 40 $ 24§ 62 $ 38 § 9.4
Restricted 6.7 6.9 7.0 49 4.4 4.1 0.2 0.8 - 0.1
Committed 3.1 1.0 - 12.0 10.7 - 60.9 6.2 - 20.9
Assigned 18.0 15.9 25.0 13.4 8.0 7.0 - 25.0 24.0 27.0
Unassigned 1.9 5.0 14.3 20.3 10.6 26.2 35.2 30.1 56.2 68.8
Total general fund 34.7 33.6 53.0 55.8 39.0 41.3 98.6 68.3 84.0 126.1
All other governmental funds
Nonspendable 0.3 0.1 0.8 - 0.3 0.8 1.8 0.3 0.2 11
Restricted 96.3 97.5 68.3 65.1 414.8 690.8 378.0 65.8 55.6 236.3
Committed 42.1 573 65.2 74.4 1323 171.9 167.8 128.0 1914 270.8
Assigned 1.8 1.9 - 5.2 4.6 6.1 6.5 12.0 18.1 3.5
Total all other governmental funds 140.5 156.8 134.3 144.7 552.0 869.6 554.2 206.1 265.3 511.7
Total governmental funds $ 1752 S 1904 S 1872 $ 2006 S 5910 $ 9109 S 6528 S 2744 S 3493 § 637.8

@ This schedule uses the modified accrual basis of accounting.

@ Amounts expressed in millions may not foot due to rounding.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
CHANGES IN NET POSITION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(amounts expressed in thousands (©))

(unaudited)
Program Revenues 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Charges for Services
Marketing $ 2203 S 1348 $ 1507 $ 6302 $ 5433 $ 2350 S 2239 S 1095 $ 1,575 $ 1,410
Operations / Transportation 58,618 51,055 59,537 61,624 60,913 58,828 50,846 8,280 82,874 93,270
Community support and grants - - - - - - - - - -
Capital Grants and Contributions:
General government 4,752 4,746 4,774 4,711 4,664 4,615 4,552 1,558 1,556 1,558
Marketing - - - - - - - - - 7,000
Operations 358 86 - - - - - - - -
Total governmental activities program revenues 65,931 57,235 65,817 72,637 71,010 65,793 57,637 10,933 86,005 103,239
Expenses
Governmental activities:*®
General government'z' 15,016 15,075 16,704 20,895 21,535 20,376 17,296 11,488 12,703 16,378
Marketing:
Advertising 92,471 93,149 95,012 95905 106,726 100,316 81,184 52,041 75,769 92,492
Marketing and sales 29,015 35,909 37,769 46,561 40,857 38,677 28,882 8,420 13,236 24,085
Special events/grants € 8,571 8,766 11,665 12,196 12,552 15,316 15,771 9,679 25,892 23,625
Operations @7
Facility operations 65,679 60,244 62,433 60,313 59,032 60,314 61,294 43,272 69,573 80,708
Transportation services 7' - - - - - - - 7907 26615 28,887
Community support and grants:
Capital grants to other governments 402 785 671 17,754 192 4,595 4,905 - - -
Other community support 22,538 24,185 26,484 25,005 24,910 25,128 21,636 12,790 25,703 24,923
Interest and fiscal charges 32,894 31,924 33,127 34,139 37,515 61,720 74,983 64,636 63,850 68,548
Total governmental activities expenses 266,586 270,038 283,866 312,769 303,319 326,441 305,951 210,234 313,341 359,645
Net Expenses (200,655)  (212,803)  (218,049)  (240,132) (232,309) (260,648) (248,314) (199,301) (227,336) (256,406)
General R and Other Ch: in Net Position
Room taxes and gaming fees 225,382 241,854 264,844 296,626 313,294 318,992 238,537 141,108 333,500 390,997
Interest and investment earnings 624 630 1,201 1,014 3,736 21,397 22,546 2,011 (4,565) 7,848
Miscellaneous 796 677 855 1,329 2,022 1,528 1,242 506 1,524 8,970
Total general revenues 226,801 243,161 266,901 298,969 319,052 341916 262,324 143,625 330,459 407,815
Special item - - - (9,907) - - - - - -
Total general revenues and special items 226,801 243,161 266,901 289,062 319,052 341916 262,324 143,625 330,459 407,815
Change in net position 26,146 30,358 48,852 48,930 86,743 81,268 14,011 (55,677) 103,123 151,408
Net position - beginning (as previously reported) (2,522) (47,859) (17,502) 26,533 75,462 143,585 224,853 238,864 183,187 286,310
Adjustments ) (71,484) - (4,817) - (18,620) - - - - -
Net position - beginning (as adjusted) (74,006) (47,859) (22,319) 26,533 56,842 143585 224,853 238,864 183,187 286,310
Net position - ending S (47,859) $ (17,502) $ 26,533 $ 75462 $143585 $224,853 $238,864 $183,187 $286,310 $437,718

(1) This schedule uses the accrual basis of accounting under GASB 34.
(2) InFY 2017, the Information Technology department moved from Operations to General Government Division. In FY 2021, the Transportation Services section was established.
(3) Gains or losses on the sale of capital assets have been recorded as an expense of the Operations, Marketing, or General Government function, as appropriate.

(5) In FY 2017, Cashman Center property and land was transferred to the City of Las Vegas.

(6) Special events/grants was moved under Marketing beginning FY 2015, and prior years were adjusted for conformity.
(7) In FY 2021, the Transportation Services section was established for both expenditures and revenues

)
)
)
(4) Adjustments to beginning fund balance were the result of implementation of various GASB standards.
)
)
)
)

(8) Amounts expressed in thousands may not foot due to rounding.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS %)
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(amounts expressed in thousands %))

(unaudited)

Revenues 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Room taxes and gaming fees S 224,492 S 241046 S 261614 S 294229 $ 314,284 317,569 S 258,872 S 124,295 325,761 S 391,854
Charges for services 60,786 51,968 60,836 68,007 65,829 58,983 52,808 7,362 61,628 69,456
Interest and investment earnings 602 540 940 948 3,522 19,958 22,400 2,008 (4,419) 8,497
Transportation ! - - - - - - - 2,266 20,131 25,154
Intergovernmental revenues (grant) - - - - - - - - - 7,000
Federal grant subsidy 4,752 4,746 4,774 4711 4,664 4,615 4,552 1,558 1,556 1,558
Miscellaneous 796 677 855 1,329 2,022 1,528 1,242 506 4,524 8,970

Total revenues 291,428 298,977 329,018 369,224 390,321 402,653 339,874 137,995 409,181 512,490

Expenditures
General government @ 14,209 14,322 16,147 19,533 20,030 19,536 16,557 11,064 15,659 17,320
Marketing:

Advertising 92,471 93,149 95,012 95,905 106,726 100,316 81,184 52,041 75,769 92,492

Marketing and sales 28,243 34,725 36,537 45,095 39,814 38,221 28,463 8,196 15,847 24,735

Special events/grants ! 8,571 8,766 11,665 12,196 12,552 15,316 15,771 9,679 25,892 23,625
Operations: @

Facility operations 44,965 39,454 41,416 39,290 39,898 38,730 40,313 14,398 37,353 42,573

Transportation services ! - - - - - - - 5362 20,602 22,744
Community support and grants:

Capital grants to other governments 402 785 671 17,754 192 4,595 4,905 - - -

Other community support 22,449 24,105 26,161 25,000 25,000 25,000 23,480 11,267 25,000 25,000

Capital outlay 29,384 193,820 37,977 26,978 25,223 366,854 585,506 184,132 26,935 47,463

Debt service:

Principal 22,770 24,909 27,779 27,893 27,991 27,340 25,314 16,977 18,337 20,435
Interest 31,744 32,766 34,317 35,383 33,117 49,652 72,878 74,560 69,635 71,223
Principal retirement - 116,800 - 70,200 - 61,500 - - - -
Payment to refunded debt escrow agent - 66,009 - 69,200 - - - - - -
Debt issuance costs 1,455 1,205 - 1,014 2,695 2,373 1,843 137 418 854
Total expenditures 296,663 650,815 327,682 485,441 333,238 749,433 896,213 387,813 331,446 388,464
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures (5,235) (351,838) 1,336 (116,217) 57,084 (346,780) (556,339) (249,818) 77,735 124,025
Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 59,354 76,622 72,131 104,716 124,297 118,543 99,660 102,382 184,906 221,384
Transfers out (62,354) (80,122) (76,631) (115,216) (126,797) (118,643) (72,660) (102,382) (184,906) (221,384)
Proceeds from the sale of assets 80 636 46 24 105 168 75 20 41 31
Issuance of capital lease obligation 335 - - 379 - - 382 - - 576
Issuance of debt 50,000 368,805 - 192,080 397,860 673,360 245,230 21,500 38,970 150,000
Premium on debt issuance 745 16,018 - 13,870 22,424 29,497 25,716 - 2,779 13,896
Discount on debt issuance - - - - - - (142) - - -
Payment to refunded debt escrow agent - (14,931) - (66,316) (84,533) (36,281) - (132,445) (44,656) -
Total other financing sources (uses) 48,160 367,028 (4,454) 129,537 333,357 666,644 298,261 (110,925) (2,865) 164,502

Special item
Acquisition of monorail - - - - - - - (17,648) - -
Net change in fund balances 42,925 15,190 (3,118) 13,320 390,441 319,864 (258,078) (378,391) 74,869 288,528

Fund balance - beginning 132,240 175,165 190,356 187,237 200,557 590,998 910,862 652,784 274,393 349,263

Fund balance - ending S 175165 $ 190,356 S 187,237 S 200,557 $ 590,998 910,862 S 652,784 S 274,393 349,263 S 637,791

Debt service as a percentage of
noncapital expenditures 20.3% 12.6% 21.2% 13.8% 19.8% 20.0% 31.0% 48.7% 28.8% 26.7%

(1) This schedule uses the modified accrual basis of accounting.
(2) In FY 2017, the Information Technology department moved from Operations to General Government division.

(4) In FY 2021, the Transportation Services section was established for both expenditures and revenues
(5) Amounts expressed in thousands may not foot due to rounding.

)
)
@)
)
)

Special events/grants was moved under Marketing beginning FY 2015, and prior years were adjusted for conformity.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
GENERAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURES (V)
FOR ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(unaudited)

The schedule below details expenditures recorded in the General, Debt Service, LVCCD Debt Service, LVCCD Capital, and
Capital Projects funds, except nonrecurring expenditures. Nonrecurring expenditures include capital grants to other
governments, non-capitalized assets, debt issuance costs, payment to refunded debt escrow agent, principal retirements,
and other. Additionally, expenditures from any internal service funds are excluded.

Fiscal

Year
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

Fiscal

Year
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

Total Expenditures General Government @ Marketing/Sales Advertising
$ 293,544,284 $ 14,208,721 5% 28,242,821 9%| $ 92,470,992 31%
464,710,847 14,322,106 3% 34,725,317 8% 93,148,972 20%
324,410,023 16,146,746 5% 36,537,160 1% 95,012,365 29%
326,226,408 19,532,835 6% 45,094,547 14% 95,905,154 29%
328,977,140 20,029,693 6% 39,813,998 12% 106,726,431 32%
678,861,051 19,536,345 3% 38,220,616 6% 100,315,540 15%
883,926,667 16,556,545 2% 28,462,981 3% 81,183,541 9%
385,898,950 11,064,160 3% 8,195,538 2% 52,041,490 13%
310,759,299 15,658,529 5% 15,846,705 5% 75,768,693 25%
384,831,678 17,320,029 5% 24,735,165 6% 92,491,982 24%
Operatlc;r;sr V?c"la';a(r;:‘gortatmn Specé:;rl‘it\;ents Othe(; gzzr(rl:mlty Capital Outlay Debt Senice ©
$ 44,964,997 15%| $ 8,570,890 3% 22,449,149 8%| $ 28,122,603 10% 54,514,110  19%
39,453,977 9% 8,765,599 2% 24,104,565 5% 192,515,195 41% 57,675,117  12%
41,415,858 13% 11,665,284 4% 26,161,392 8% 35,375,192 1% 62,096,026  19%
39,289,787 12% 12,196,297 4% 25,000,000 8% 25,932,125 8% 63,275,663  19%
39,898,070 12% 12,551,768 4% 25,000,000 8% 23,848,709 7% 61,108,471 19%
38,729,965 6% 15,315,686 2% 25,000,000 4% 364,750,899 54% 76,992,000  10%
40,313,033 5% 15,770,524 2% 23,480,411 3% 579,968,035 66% 98,191,597  11%
19,759,533 5% 9,679,335 3% 11,266,867 3% 182,354,942 47% 91,537,086  24%
57,954,609 19% 25,892,489 8% 25,000,000 8% 25,003,764 8% 69,634,510  22%
65,317,491 17% 23,624,955 6% 25,000,000 6% 44,683,746 12% 91,658,310  24%

(1) This schedule uses the modified accrual basis of accounting.

(2) In FY 2017, the Information Technology department moved from Operations to General Government division. In FY 2021, Transportation

Services section was added.
(3) Includes debt service from capital project fund, debt senvice fund, and LVCCD debt service fund.
(4) In FY 2014, other miscellaneous expense was included in Operations, and beginning in FY 2015, it is included in General Government.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES BY SOURCE ¥

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(unaudited)

The schedule below includes revenues recorded in the General, LVCCD Capital, LVCCD Debt Service, Capital Projects, and
Debt Service funds, with the exception of nonrecurring items. Nonrecurring revenues include miscellaneous revenues,
revenues from any internal service fund, and federal grant subsidies.

_ ) Unrestricted Room | Restricted Room |  Charges for Services & .
Fiscal Total Revenues Total Room Tax @) @) i K Gaming Fees Interest
v Tax Tax SB1 Transportation Services
ear
2014 285,879,682 222,781,385 78%| S 222,781,385 | $ - S 60,786,406 21% 1,710,108 <1% 601,783 <1%
2015 293,554,369 239,318,802 82% 239,318,802 - 51,968,374 18% 1,726,843  <1% 540,350 <1%
2016 323,389,672 259,967,636  80% 259,967,636 - 60,835,567 19% 1,646,281 <1% 940,188 <1%
2017 363,184,487 292,635,690 81% 281,389,017 11,246,673 68,007,099 19% 1,593,600 <1% 948,098 <1%
2018 383,635,210 312,702,599 82% 283,540,300 29,162,299 65,829,400 17% 1,581,702 <1% 3,521,509 <1%
2019 396,510,218 315,948,898 80% 286,428,607 29,520,291 58,983,002 15% 1,620,485 <1% 19,957,833 5%
2020 334,079,685 257,462,003 77% 233,394,445 24,067,558 52,807,527 16% 1,409,666 <1% 22,400,489 7%
2021 135,932,006 122,867,541 90% 111,240,941 11,626,600 9628312 7% 1,427,732 <1% 2,008421 1%
2022 403,100,982 324,383,975 80% 294,024,289 30,359,686 81,759,032 20% 1,376,692 <1% (4,418,717) -1%
2023 494,961,226 390,484,763  79% 353,955,723 36,529,040 94,610,212 19% 1,369,217 <1% 8,497,034 2%
4 Y
Total Governmental Revenues
600
500 |- === e e e e
Q00 [ -----=-- === e e e oo oo -~
300 |-------eao--- --J - - - - - > B
200 = B B = = - > B
100 = = = = = - -- - - > B
0
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
B Unrestricted Room Tax M Other Revenue M Restricted Room Tax
A 4

(1) This schedule uses the modified accrual basis of accounting.
(2) This includes both Restricted and Unrestricted room tax.

(3) Includes gross room tax receipts, not affected by collection allocation transfers.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(unaudited)

Fiscal General Unam.ortized Capital Lease Total Primary Amount of
Year Obligation Bonds Revenue Bonds Pre'mlums & Obligations Government Debt per

Discounts Visitor
2014 S 405,445,000 S 218,280,000 S 7,636,790 S 228,907 631,590,697 15.36
2015 563,160,000 209,785,000 17,629,698 120,137 790,694,835 18.69
2016 552,365,000 192,915,000 14,362,280 5,698 759,647,978 17.69
2017 527,450,000 180,235,000 24,594,782 312,299 732,592,081 17.35
2018 828,245,000 172,710,000 43,863,396 185,998 1,045,004,394 2481
2019 765,965,000 784,570,000 67,153,932 56,041 1,617,744,973 38.04
2020 940,840,000 829,800,000 88,006,941 249,442 1,858,896,383 97.68
2021 795,370,000 847,470,000 82,361,092 127,399 1,725,328,491 53.53
2022 783,040,000 836,330,000 78,246,735 812,646 1,698,429,381 43.74
2023 775,695,000 973,460,000 84,641,824 861,322 1,834,658,146 n/a

(1) These ratios are calculated using the total number of visitors to Las Vegas on a calendar year basis.

(2) Information was not available as of the report issuance date.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
BOND COVERAGE

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(unaudited)

Nine of the LVCVA's eighteen outstanding bonds are general obligation bonds of Clark County, acting by and through the
LVCVA. They are primarily secured by ad valorem taxes and are additionally secured by net pledged revenues of the LVCVA,
represented basically by room taxes. The LVCVA has never resorted to the use of ad valorem taxes for debt service, using
only net pledged revenues derived from operations. In fact, as of June 30, 2023, no ad valorem property tax revenues are
allocated to the LVCVA for any purpose. No change in this practice is contemplated. There is one medium term bond, and the
eight remaining bonds are LVCVA revenue bonds.

Although the LVCVA's operations are not considered to be a business-type activity, its bond issues and related debt service
have characteristics similar to traditional revenue bonds, making this schedule relevant.

Gross revenues include interest income and miscellaneous fees and charges in the General, Debt Service, and LVCCD Debt
Service funds. Revenues from the Capital Projects and Internal Service funds have been excluded since these are not a
constant source of income. Revenues from LVCCD Capital Fund are excluded from Gross Revenue, but are included in
Expansion Tax Revenue, as those resources are restricted for Phases Two and Three of the LVCCD project and can only be
used to repay principal and interest on LVCCD bonds and are only included in the Debt Coverage with Expansion Tax ratio.
Maintenance expenditures are comprised of all expenditures except certain marketing, advertising, bond issuance costs,
capital improvement, and debt service. Principal and interest contain expenditures for debt service and LVCCD debt service.

FISCAL GROSS MAINTENANCE AVAILABLE FOR PRINCIPAL EXPANSION TAX SERVICE DEBT COVERAGE w/
YEAR REVENUES EXPENDITURES DEBT SERVICE AND INTEREST REVENUE COVERAGE EXPANSION TAX
2014 $ 285,749,837 $ 77,050,163 S 208,699,674 $ 55,149,034 S - 3.8 3.8
2015 293,340,228 78,998,994 214,341,234 57,554,480 - 3.7 3.7
2016 322,769,973 85,126,980 237,642,993 61,252,680 - 3.9 3.9
2017 351,597,011 88,906,226 262,690,785 62,892,859 14,625,224 4.2 4.4
2018 351,695,085 89,722,271 261,972,814 60,726,872 30,856,567 43 4.8
2019 348,678,491 88,534,195 260,144,296 66,201,008 47,923,879 3.9 4.7
2020 291,152,237 78,317,538 212,834,699 66,102,939 38,286,185 3.2 3.8
2021 120,392,051 36,874,492 83,517,559 71,907,150 12,929,486 1.2 1.3
2022 356,148,580 88,903,231 267,245,349 83,635,627 33,761,369 3.2 3.6
2023 427,303,310 101,062,486 326,240,824 89,122,444 52,563,182 3.7 43
e ™\

Revenues Available and Debt Service

Millions

Net Revenues Available

Debt Service

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

. 4
Wncludes principal and interest payments on senior lien bonds. Excludes interest payments due on the Subordinate Revenue Bonds of $371,334, $722,942, $299,970, $242,893, and
$402,899 in FY 2015, FY 2016, FY 2017, FY 2018, and FY 2019, respectively.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

COMPUTATION OF LEGAL DEBT MARGIN

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(unaudited)
APPROXIMATE TOTAL LVCVA DEBT LEGAL LEGAL DEBT

FISCAL ASSESSED BONDED APPLICABLE TO DEBT MARGIN TO THE
YEAR VALUATION ™Y DEBT LIMIT ¥ DEBT LIMIT ® MARGIN BONDED DEBT LIMIT
2014 $ 54715695579 S 2,735,784,779  $ 405445000 $ 2,330,339,779 85%

2015 62,901,949,671 3,145,097,484 563,160,000 2,581,937,484 82%

2016 70,522,285,405 3,526,114,270 552,365,000 2,973,749,270 84%

2017 77,201,273,046 3,860,063,652 527,450,000 3,332,613,652 86%

2018 82,657,420,456 4,132,871,023 828,245,000 3,304,626,023 80%

2019 88,652,518,662 4,432,625,933 765,965,000 3,666,660,933 83%

2020 97,788,043,990 4,889,402,200 940,840,000 3,948,562,200 81%

2021 104,932,420,502 5,246,621,025 816,770,000 4,429,851,025 84%

2022 109,558,221,371 5,477,911,069 804,340,000 4,673,571,069 85%

2023 120,429,026,349 6,021,451,317 796,895,000 5,224,556,317 87%

(W This is the net total assessed value for the secured and estimated unsecured property for Clark County, Nevada
(the County). It includes the assessed valuation of the redevelopment agencies. These values are included for
purposes of calculating the debt limit but are not subject to County taxation for the retirement of general
obligation bonded indebtedness. This valuation is used to determine the LVCVA’s debt margin since our debt is
issued in the name of the County as described below.

() State statute allows debt issued by the LVCVA to be issued in the name of the County. The LVCVA’s Board of
Directors is empowered to issue general obligation bonds, which are secured by the full faith and credit of the
County and are additionally secured by a pledge of revenues derived by the LVCVA. NRS 244A.653 states that the
County may not become indebted in excess of 5% of the total last assessed valuation of taxable County property
for the issuance of general obligation bonds designated for County recreational purposes. This requirement applies
to the LVCVA.

NRS 244A.059 limits the aggregate principal amount of the County’s general obligation debt to 10% of the County’s
total reported assessed valuation.

() The LVCVA’s outstanding general obligation indebtedness includes general obligation bonds and medium-term
obligations, as applicable.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
COMPUTATION OF DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT — CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JUNE 30, 2023
(unaudited)
OUTSTANDING ESTIMATED ESTIMATED SHARE
DEBT PERCENTAGE OF OVER-LAPPING
APPLICABLE DEBT
Direct Debt:
Las Vegas Convention and
Visitors Authority $ 1,834,658,146 100% $ 1,834,658,146
Overlapping Debt:
Clark County ©! 5,138,759,862 100% 5,138,759,862

Total S 6,973,418,008

(1) Advalorem taxes have never been used to repay these debts.

(2) The LVCVA's gross debt includes general obligation bonds, issued by the County on behalf of the LVCVA, revenue bonds, unamortized
premiums and discounts on bonds, and capital lease obligations.

(3) Source: Clark County Comptroller's Office.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS — CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JUNE 30, 2023
(unaudited)

Even though Clark County combines the exciting gaming and entertainment mecca of Las Vegas alongside rural living, it is not
much different from other counties of its size. There are parks, museums, libraries, and religious centers.

Clark County is the 14 largest county in the United States and provides
extensive regional services to more than 2 million citizens. The population T r mzlﬁ,
increased slightly in FY 2022 compared to FY 2021. Mompa B

The cities of Las Vegas, North Las Vegas, and Henderson total aggregate
population is 1,274,298, which makes up 55% of the total Clark County
population of 2,338,127. Labor force stands at 1,171,600, a modest growth
compared to FY 2022. The unemployment rate increased from 5.7% at June
30, 2022 to 6.0% at June 30, 2023.

. Square
. Incorporation 2022 .
Entity . Miles
Date Population
(approx.)

Unincorporated Clark County 1909 1,026,612 7,441
Las Vegas 1911 660,987 134
North Las Vegas 1946 278,671 100
Henderson 1953 334,640 105
Boulder City 1958 15,012 208
Mesquite 1984 22,205 32

Source: http://gisgate.co.clark.nv.us/gismo/gismo.htm

Further statistics that reflect the local economy are shown below:

ssor Joomumon | [ SREOET | [ [ PO [V e Tee o
JUNE 30 (A) DEC 31

(B) (B) (C) (D) INCOME (D) (D)
2013 2,031,723 1,006,971 10.00% 2012 S 39,909 36.2 S 50,962 311,238
2014 2,069,450 1,013,962 8.10% 2013 39,664 36.4 50,454 314,643
2015 2,118,353 1,034,657 7.00% 2014 41,773 36.8 50,274 318,040
2016 2,166,181 1,044,827 6.10% 2015 44,493 37.2 52,865 319,713
2017 2,193,818 1,067,289 5.60% 2016 45,450 37.5 54,307 320,559
2018 2,251,175 1,095,479 5.00% 2017 47,485 37.7 55,034 321,648
2019 2,293,391 1,123,100 4.80% 2018 49,678 37.9 57,946 319,917
2020 2,320,107 1,088,500 18.00% 2019 52,602 38.1 61,835 318,233
2021 2,320,551 1,135,700 9.60% 2020 55,406 38.3 61,943 305,109
2022 2,338,127 1,122,300 5.70% 2021 60,213 38.5 67,396 304,782
2023 n/a 1,171,600 6.00% 2022 n/a 38.8 70,241 298,106
Sources:

(A) Nevada Demographer - 2023 information is not available from NV Taxation Dept./ State Demographer at the time of printing.

(B) U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.

(C) U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis CAINC1 NV. New statistics for 2021; revised stats for 2012-2020 updated on November 15, 2022.
(D) Median age calculation includes entire population. All other statistics as of December 31 are from the Las Vegas Perspective.
n/a- Not available at time of printing
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
ASSESSED PROPERTY VALUE, CONSTRUCTION, AND DEPOSITS — CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

LAST TEN YEARS
(unaudited)
REAL PROPERTY PERSONAL PROPERTY ToTALY
NET ESTIMATED NET ESTIMATED NET ESTIMATED

FISCAL ASSESSED ACTUAL ASSESSED ACTUAL ASSESSED ACTUAL
YEAR VALUE VALUE VALUE VALUE VALUE VALUE

2014 S 49,809,243 S 143,312,124 S 4,906,452 S 14,018,435 S 54,715,695 S 157,330,559
2015 57,491,891 164,262,546 5,410,058 15,457,310 62,901,949 179,719,856
2016 65,063,984 185,897,097 5,458,301 15,595,147 70,522,285 201,492,244
2017 70,542,810 201,550,884 6,658,464 19,024,181 77,201,274 220,575,065
2018 75,393,978 215,411,367 7,263,442 20,752,692 82,657,420 236,164,059
2019 81,419,209 232,626,313 7,233,309 20,666,598 88,652,519 253,292,911
2020 89,852,896 256,722,561 7,935,148 22,671,850 97,788,044 279,394,411
2021 96,977,318 277,078,052 7,955,102 22,728,863 104,932,421 299,806,916
2022 101,114,085 288,897,384 8,444,137 24,126,105 109,558,221 313,023,490
2023 111,771,285 319,346,529 8,657,741 24,736,403 120,429,026 344,082,932

Source: Real & Personal Property - Clark County Assessor

@ Totals may not foot due to rounding.

The total net assessed value for FY 2023 represented 35% of the total estimated actual value. Residential Construction
includes only single family and multi-family units, not additions, upgrades, guest homes, or mobile homes.

NEW CONSTRUCTION (IN THOUSANDS) ¥

LAST TEN CALENDAR YEARS
HOTEL/MOTEL COMMERCIAL/PUBLIC RESIDENTAL
CONSTRUCTION CONSTRUCTION CONSTRUCTION
CALENDAR NUMBER NUMBER NUMBER TOTAL NEW
YEAR OF PERMITS VALUE OF PERMITS VALUE OF PERMITS VALUE CONSTRUCTION ?
2013 - S - 225 S 457,887 7,334 S 1,031,419 S 1,489,306
2014 - - 951 773,014 7,330 936,763 1,709,777
2015 - - 930 916,186 8,250 1,060,250 1,976,436
2016 5 31,305 296 598,732 9,067 1,482,868 2,112,905
2017 7 125,076 345 644,425 10,024 1,548,930 2,318,431
2018 9 434,139 942 2,755,163 10,847 1,874,903 5,064,205
2019 6 37,602 420 1,696,253 10,356 2,031,481 3,765,336
2020 2 8,120 337 1,702,809 11,846 2,198,141 3,909,070
2021 4 26,739 398 1,117,196 14,615 3,158,670 4,302,605
2022 6 89,097 374 1,398,355 11,005 3,110,436 4,597,888

Source: New Construction - Las Vegas Perspective

1 . . " . . .
) New construction information is only available on a calendar year basis.

@ Totals may not foot due to rounding.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
VISITOR ANALYSIS

LAST TEN CALENDAR YEARS
(unaudited)

In its role of promoting Las Vegas as a travel destination, the LVCVA contributes to the growth of the entire local economy.
The Las Vegas economy is heavily dependent on the tourism industry and continues to recover from the impacts related to
the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2022, our tourism industry recovered almost to pre-pandemic levels. As the industry built on the
momentum of 2021, travel and tourism steadily increased throughout the year. Total visitors to Las Vegas rebounded to 38.8
million, a 20.5% rise from 2021 but 8.7% below 2019. Convention delegates increased to 5.0 million in 2022, which was more
than twice as many attendees in 2021. In comparison to the 6.6 million attendees who set a record in 2019, attendance in
2022 was still 25% lower.

CALENDAR CONVENTION % OF TOTAL TOURISTS % OF TOTAL TOTAL VISITORS CHANGE
YEAR DELEGATES VISITORS VISITORS
2013 5,107,416 12.9% 34,560,805 87.1% 39,668,221 -0.1%
2014 5,194,580 12.6% 35,931,932 87.4% 41,126,512 3.7%
2015 5,891,151 13.9% 36,421,065 86.1% 42,312,216 2.9%
2016 6,310,616 14.7% 36,625,484 85.3% 42,936,100 1.5%
2017 6,646,200 15.7% 35,568,000 84.3% 42,214,200 -1.7%
2018 6,501,800 15.4% 35,615,000 84.6% 42,116,800 -0.2%
2019 6,649,100 15.6% 35,874,600 84.4% 42,523,700 1.0%
2020 1,727,200 9.1% 17,303,900 90.9% 19,031,100 -55.2%
2021 2,206,400 6.8% 30,024,200 93.2% 32,230,600 69.4%
2022 4,991,500 12.9% 33,837,800 87.1% 38,829,300 20.5%

Source: LVCVA - Research Center

Las Vegas tourism industry are driven by visitor spending on rooms, dining, shopping, local transportation, and other activities
and amenities during their stays. Indicators of the economic impact include total gaming revenues in Clark County and room
taxes collected on behalf of the LVCVA. In 2022, Clark County gaming revenues achieved a record year at $12.8 billion, a
11.8% increase over 2021.

GAMING ROOM TAX
GROSS LVCVA
CALENDAR YEAR | REVENUES ® | CHANGE || FISCAL YEAR R0OM Taxes @ | CHANGE || COLLECTED® | CHANGE
(In Thousands) (sans LVCVA)
2013 $ 9,674,404 | 2.9% 2014 $ 222,781,385 | 9.6% $ 341,216,176 | 9.8%
2014 9,553,864 -1.2% 2015 239,318,802 7.4% 366,546,705 7.4%
2015 9,617,671 0.7% 2016 259,967,636 8.6% 398,294,720 8.7%
2016 9,713,930 1.0% 2017 292,635,690 12.6% 445,138,728 11.8%
2017 9,978,503 2.7% 2018 312,702,599 6.9% 490,170,969 10.1%
2018 10,250,555 2.7% 2019 315,948,898 1.0% 532,817,513 8.7%
2019 10,355,663 1.0% 2020 257,462,003 -18.5% 399,905,136 -24.9%
2020 6,540,595 -36.8% 2021 122,867,541 -52.3% 211,788,136 -47.0%
2021 11,440,422 74.9% 2022 324,383,975 | 164.0% 514,936,662 | 143.1%
2022 12,786,627 11.8% 2023 390,484,763 20.4% n/a n/a

Source: LVCVA - Research Center
(6]

@)
@)

Prepared on modified accrual basis. This represents only the LVCVA portion of the county-wide room tax revenues.
From Nevada Department of Taxation's Transient Lodging Report.
Revised Gaming Revenue for 2021 is from LVCVA Research website as of 7/13/2023.

n/a - Not available at time of printing.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
USE OF FACILITIES
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(unaudited)

LAS VEGAS CONVENTION CENTER BUILDING UTILIZATION

PUBLIC FACILITIES
SPECIAL  INVITED TOTAL USAGE

FY CONVENTIONS ~ EVENTS ~ EVENTS  MEETINGS  ACTIVITIES  REVENUE
2014 47 12 1 3 63 $ 47,067,894
2015 50 11 6 3 70 40,605,461
2016 51 9 10 1 71 46,954,668
2017 50 12 7 4 73 50,282,592
2018 54 11 12 2 79 49,669,504
2019 56 13 19 5 93 47,217,503
2020 32 6 20 5 63 41,823,288
2021 6 2 2 2 12 4,692,657
2022 61 9 13 7 90 52,994,393
2023 49 11 17 6 83 56,238,218

CASHMAN CENTER BUILDING UTILIZATION
PUBLIC FACILITIES
SPECIAL  INVITED TOTAL USAGE

FY CONVENTIONS ~ EVENTS  EVENTS  MEETINGS  ACTIVITIES  REVENUE
2014 1 5 164 35 205 $ 1,708,593
2015 1 3 152 47 203 1,815,341
2016 1 8 165 62 236 1,997,769
2017 1 11 143 49 204 1,844,901
2018 - 3 128 29 160 1,270,436
2019% - - 44 - 44 346,109

Source: LVCVA - Research Center

Win May 2019, the LVCVA's operating agreement with the City of Las Vegas related to Cashman Center ended.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
SUMMARY OF AUTHORIZED POSITIONS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(unaudited)
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2009 2020 20219 20229 203"

GENERAL GOVERNMENT
Executive 16 16 16 17 13 13 9 9 10 10
Finance " 36 37 39 61 64 64 40 37 43 42
Human Resources 8 8 10 11 11 11 6 7 4 5
Public Affairs 20 20 18 18 18 18 7 7 8 7

80 81 83 107 106 106 62 60 65 64
MARKETING
sales® 38 33 35 37 37 38 18 15 15 17
Convention Services ¥ -- 15 15 15 15 14 - -- -- -
Marketing Systems / Digital Marketing 7 7 7 7 7 7 4 3 4 10
Global Sales / Intl PR 11 9 9 16 16 14 11 6 9 8
Leisure Sales 10 10 1 10 10 10 8 6 6 7
Registration ¥ - 4 4 4 4 4 - - - -
Research Center 6 7 7 7 7 7 4 4
Sports Marketing 2 1 1 1 1 3 3 3 3 3
Industry Relations /Event Design 4 7 8 8 8 8 4 2 2 3
Visitor Information - 17 17 17 17 17 - - - -
Brand Strategy ? 5 11 12 7 11 11 12 9 13 8
Customer Experience - 4 4 5 5 5 - -- - -

83 125 130 134 138 138 64 48 57 61
OPERATIONS
Client Services /Facility Services 112 112 112 112 108 108 88 87 91 100
Customer Experience / Guest Experience ) 4 - - -- - -- - -- 3 5
Convention Services 15 - - - - - 8 8 9 9
Registration 5 - - - - - 3 3 3 -
Visitor Information 19 - - - - - 2 2 - -
Engineering / Maintenance 100 92 94 96 92 92 54 51 69 68
Engineering Projects 4 4 3 2 4 4 5 5 4 3
Information Technology 13 21 21 - - - . - - -
Fire Prevention 5 5 5 5 5 5 3 2 5 5
Customer Safety 47 47 62 64 64 64 52 50 68 71
Traffic 23 28 19 21 21 21 17 16 2 3
Transportation - - - - - -- - 1 2 2

347 309 316 300 294 294 232 225 256 266
Unfilled / Pooled Positions -- -- -- -- - - 54 79 34 24
Filled Positions® 510 515 529 541 538 538 358 333 378 391
TOTAL AUTHORIZED POSITIONS 510 515 529 541 538 538 412 412 412 415

Winpy 2017, Information Technology was moved into the Finance department under General Government division.

@ n ey 2014, Brand Strategy was created within Marketing, and the Advertising personnel function was moved into the department.

B py 2014, Convention Center Sales and Convention Sales were merged into Sales.

i py 2014, Convention Services, Registration, and Visitor Information were moved to Operations but moved back to Marketing in FY 2015. They were moved back to Operations in FY 2020.

®npy 2015, Customer Experience was moved to the Marketing Division. In FY 2020, it was moved back to Operations.

© Methodology changed in FY 2020 forward, using a pooled list of authorized but unfilled positions not assigned to any particlar department as well as filled positions. Totals by department
included working and furloughed employees for FY 2020 and FY 2021.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

ACTIVITY MEASURES ©®
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(unaudited)
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Human Resources

# of active employees 500 505 510 530 517 473 358 333 348 411

# of new full-time employees processed 48 47 60 55 21 22 7 11 50 70
Public Affairs ¥

Media inquiries received 642 760 704 797 880 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Press releases distributed 37 28 33 40 23 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Video and photo placements 7,920 7,170 6,646 11,590 11,095 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Public Relations - International / MICE @@

Media inquiries received n/a n/a n/a 249 187 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Press releases distributed n/a n/a n/a 15 9 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Domestic media placements n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 2,061 3,843 n/a n/a n/a

Impressions from domestic media placements n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 4,558 6,648 n/a n/a n/a
Finance

Payroll checks/deposit advises issued 21,671 21,222 21,197 20,998 20,912 19,692 15,018 3,748 11,467 11,844

#of Invoices associated w/AP disbursements 20,705 19,319 20,400 19,359 18,850 17,724 13,853 4,513 7,924 10,267
Purchasing and Contracts

Contracts administered V! 419 363 363 269 265 211 208 69 196 1,031

Purchase orders issued 790 783 916 870 826 670 430 305 401 457
Materials

Packages shipped 43,449 37,572 35,208 30,117 28,052 23,621 12,684 4,947 435 1,017

Copies produced 0.8M 0.8M 0.7M 0.7M 0.5M 0.5M 0.1M N/A 37K 42K
Information Technology o

Computer training hours 132 109 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Call resolution time (average hours) 6.8 71 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 27 26 20

Total help desk calls fielded n/a 3,956 4,827 5,068 4,465 4,932 1,760 1,519 3,682 3,304

Network devices supported n/a 85 95 101 615 618 976 3,164 3,351 2,171

Computers supported at year-end n/a 450 469 451 519 509 104 255 291 311
Research Center

Statistical Reports and Publications produced 33 31 33 31 32 29 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Digital Marketing

Web site visits - combined LVCVA sites 18.5M 20.1M 17.3M 13.6M 9.1M 10.4M 8.7M n/a n/a n/a

Web site referrals - combined LVCVA sites ! 24M 2.0m 1.4M 12m 744,000 2.4M 21M n/a n/a n/a
Marketing @

Total leads distributed 3,636 3,977 4,625 4,625 4,142 4,697 3,430 1,634 2,634 3,514

Converted leads 1,411 1,421 1,499 1,506 1,392 1,752 1,438 348 818 1,439

In-person out of market sales calls 2,906 2,649 2,477 2,920 2,594 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Travel industry events attended 876 866 851 882 849 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Registration Services'!

Meetings and conventions supported 284 265 252 263 249 183 n/a n/a n/a n/a
call center ¥

Total calls managed 82,251 79,552 76,985 68,569 59,342 49,752 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Visitor Information ¥

Total visitor volume 185,965 164,182 143,002 136,017 118,411 78,088 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Client Services

Show support (man-hours) 15,777 14,376 14,220 13,902 13,120 14,465 10,620 1,356 11,716 14,508

Set/strike meeting rooms/halls (man-hours) 19,383 21,138 22,237 22,012 26,457 27,443 18,084 3,164 25,940 28,140
Facilities

Leased net square foot serviced (LVCC) 17,390,712 14,440,519 16,933,777 18,880,449 19,314,340 16,799,911 12,230,475 1,231,993 14,591,070 14,576,792

Building attendees supported (LVCC) 1,621,450 1,491,098 1,613,859 1,769,353 1,672,534 1,690,389 1,329,087 94,664 1,215,984 1,492,822
Security

Special events hours worked ¥ 447 261 1,588 1,048 1,418 1,142 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Percentage of lost items returned to owner *) 49% 49% 50% 49% 52% 61% 67% 54% 67% 67%

Patients treated in First Aid 2,378 1,848 1,577 1,850 1,796 1,846 585 112 1,853 2,019

(1) Revised the methodology for activity measures.

(2) In FY 2018, Public Relations - Leisure is now rolled into PA, and PR Business is included in whatis now known as Public Relations - International / MICE.
(3) In FY 2019, Digital Marketing transitioned web analytics platforms from Adobe Analytics to Google Analytics. Data prior to FY 2019 is not comparable due to a change in measurement methodology.

(4) N/A as these measures are no longer tracked.
(5) FY 2020 data through October 2019.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
CAPITAL ASSETS BY FUNCTION
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(unaudited)
. General . .
Fiscal Year Marketing Operations Total
Government
2014 76,624 569,329 485,560,723 486,206,676
2015 58,060 488,114 660,648,229 661,194,403
2016 27,523 449,187 678,601,011 679,077,721
2017? 1,427,363 652,766 675,285,497 677,365,626
2018 1,099,975 487,752 682,485,449 684,073,176
2019 870,531 322,421 1,030,481,328 1,031,674,280
2020 917,031 220,831 1,594,724,159 1,595,862,021
2021 417,396 140,723 1,766,181,126 1,766,739,245
2022 182,040 873,122 1,747,884,564 1,748,939,726
2023 450,446 510,192 1,748,871,154 1,749,831,792

(1) Totals are net of accumulated depreciation and amortization.

(2) In FY 2017, the Information Technology department moved from Operations to General Government division.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
CLARK COUNTY’S TEN LARGEST EMPLOYERS
MOST CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS PRIOR

(unaudited)
Industry ) Employees Percentage of County Employment
Leisure and Hospitality 298,600 26.47%
Trade, Transportation and Utilities 206,100 18.27%
Professional and Business Services 173,900 15.42%
Education and Health Services 123,700 10.97%
Government 108,700 9.64%
Construction 82,400 7.30%
Financial Activities 58,200 5.16%
Other Services 32,100 2.85%
Manufacturing 30,300 2.69%
Information 13,700 1.21%
Mining and Logging 400 0.04%
1,128,100 100.00%
|CIark County Employment as of June 30, 2023 |
|Industry W Employees Percentage of County Employmentl
Leisure and Hospitality 281,300 31.93%
Trade, Transportation and Utilities 160,700 18.24%
Professional and Business Services 116,900 13.27%
Government 92,600 10.51%
Education and Health Services 82,000 9.31%
Construction 44,500 5.05%
Financial Activities 43,400 4.93%
Other Services 25,900 2.94%
Manufacturing 21,100 2.40%
Information 12,200 1.38%
Mining and Logging 400 0.05%
881,000 100.00%

Clark County Employment as of June 30, 2014

W Industry statistics from United States Bureau of Labor Statistics for the metropolitan statistical area of Las Vegas-Henderson-
Paradise, Nevada. In the past, the Nevada Department of Employment, Training, and Rehabilitation (DETR) compiled a list of
the top employers in Clark County. In fiscal year 2019, DETR stopped providing the information, and the top employers listis
not available from another reliable source. Therefore, the information above is intended to provide the reader with alternate

data to consider customer concentration risk.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
PRINCIPAL ROOM TAXPAYERS

JUNE 30, 2023
(unaudited)

The primary source of revenue for the LVCVA is from room taxes imposed on hotels and motels in Clark County. The hotels
listed below represent the ten largest hotel properties in Clark County and generate the greatest volume of room taxes for
the LVCVA.

Approximate

Rooms at % of

Dec 31, 2022 total rooms V)

MGM Grand 4,997 3.1%
Luxor 4,400 2.7%
Venetian 4,029 2.5%
Aria 4,002 2.5%
Excalibur 3,981 2.5%
Bellagio 3,933 2.4%
Caesars Palace 3,794 2.3%
Circus Circus 3,763 2.3%
Resorts World 3,506 2.2%
Flamingo Las Vegas 3,446 2.1%
Total Top 10 Hotels 39,851 24.6%

Total Jean/Primm 2,635 1.6%
Other Hotels and motels 109,285 67.4%
Total Las Vegas metropolitan area 151,771 93.6%
Total Laughlin 8,752 5.4%
Total Mesquite 1,645 1.0%
Total inventory of rooms 162,168 100.0%

Note: Other Hotels and motels does not include timeshare properties.

W Percentage figures may not add due to rounding.

In 2022, there were 1,284 more available rooms than 2021, primarily due to the re-opening of Buffalo Bill’s in December
2022. The occupancy rate for the Las Vegas metropolitan area rebounded from the decline that it saw in 2020. In 2022,
compared to the national average, occupancy rate for Las Vegas is 16.5 points higher.

Average Number National

Total Rooms Occupancy of Rooms Average Occupancy

Calendar Year Visitor Volume  Inventory ") Percentage Occupied Daily Daily Rate Percentage
2013 39,668,221 150,593 84.3% 126,950 $110.72 62.2%
2014 41,126,512 150,544 86.8% 130,672 116.26 64.4%
2015 42,312,216 149,213 87.7% 130,860 120.67 65.6%
2016 42,936,100 149,339 89.1% 133,061 125.97 65.5%
2017 42,214,200 148,896 88.7% 132,071 127.35 65.9%
2018 42,116,800 149,158 88.2% 131,557 128.85 66.2%
2019 42,523,700 150,259 88.9% 133,580 132.62 66.1%
2020 19,031,100 145,308 42.1% 61,175 120.31 44.0%
2021 32,230,600 150,487 66.8% 100,525 137.37 57.6%
2022 38,829,300 151,771 79.2% 120,203 170.98 62.7%

W Total Las Vegas metropolitan areaincluding Jean/Primm properties.
Source: LVCVA Research Center

85



LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF INSURANCE IN FORCE
JUNE 30, 2023

(unaudited)
NAME OF POLICY EXPIRATION
Type INSURER NUMBER LIMIT DATE @
Property FM Global $1,000,000 8/1/2023
General Liability & Automobile Everest National Insurance Co. SI8ML02292231 Various 8/1/2023
Twin City Fire | Co.
Workers Compensation (DG, IL & wi) " City Fire Insurance Co 72WECAB1321  $ 1,000,000  8/1/2023
(Hartford)
Excess Workers Compensation Safety National Casualty Corp. SP4067194 $ 1,000,000 8/1/2023
Lead Excess Liability HDI Global Specialty SE 18EX3627 $ 5,000,000 8/1/2023
Excess Liability Layer Allianz Global Corporate & Specialty SE 23ABHX0040 $ 5,000,000 8/1/2023
Excess over $5 million Starstone Specialty Insurance Company CSX00045819P-04 $ 5,000,000 8/1/2023
Excess over $10 million Arch Specialty Insurance Company UXP1052774-00 $ 5,000,000 8/1/2023
Excess over $15 million Great American Assurance Company EXC5125914 $ 5,000,000 8/1/2023
Excess over $20 million Everest Indemnity Insurance SIBEX01397-231  $10,000,000  8/1/2023
Company
. Landmark American Insurance
Excess over $30 million LHA103675 $ 10,000,000 8/1/2023
Company
Excess Liability Layer Crum & Forster Specialty Insurance Cor TBD 8/1/2023
Excess over $40 million Navigators Insurance Co. LA23EXC878766IC $ 15,000,000 8/1/2023
Excess over $55 million Endurance American Insurance Co. EXC10007458808 $ 15,000,000 8/1/2023
Public Officials Liability ACE American Insurance Co. G21656589020 $ 10,000,000 8/1/2023
Global Medical Insurance ACE American Insurance Co. ADDN04986210 $ 250,000 8/1/2023
International Liability Hartford Fire Insurance Co. 72HIPBB3901 Various 8/1/2023
Alliant Insurance Crime Program
Crime (ACIP) - National Union Fire 013004282 $1,000,000 8/1/2023
Company of Pittsburgh, PA
Cyber Liability Syndicate 2623/623 at Lloyd's FN2313443 $ 5,000,000 3/17/2024
(Beazley Furlonge Ltd.)
Terrorism (Monorail) Lloyd's of London UTS257502823 $ 50,000,000 1/1/2024
Property Insurance (Monorail) American Internation Group (AIG) 018258113 $ 50,000,000 1/1/2024
Liability (Monorail) Mercer Insurance Co. 20000000458 $ 2,000,000 12/10/2023
Accidental Death & Di t
ccidental Dea ismemberment ¢ eral Insurance Co. 9912-02-43 $ 1,000,000  4/15/2024

(Volunteers)

(1) Insurance policies have been renewed, as appropriate, for the next year.
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Directors
Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority
Las Vegas, Nevada

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial
statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority (the “LVCVA”), as of and for the year ended
June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
LVCVA'’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated November 28, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the LVCVA 's internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the LVCVA’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the LVCVA’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com
9139 W. Russell Rd., Ste. 200 | Las Vegas, NV 89148-1250 | T702.304.0405 | F702.304.0415 | EOE
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the LVCVA 's financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

;’MALYQ

Las Vegas, Nevada
November 28, 2023
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Accountant’s Report

Board of Directors
Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority
Las Vegas, Nevada

Senate Bill 1 of the 30™ (2016) Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (the “Bill”), requires the Las
Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority (“LVCVA”) to provide the Oversight Panel established by the Bill
with an annual third—party examination. Sections 59 and 60 of the Bill require distribution to the LVCVA
of the resultant financing proceeds to be used by the LVCVA solely for the expansion and renovation of
the Convention Center and to pay the principal and interest on securities issued to fund the costs of
such project.

We have examined management of LVCVA’s assertion that LVCVA has complied with the applicable
criteria stated in Sections 56—60 of the Act (the “Criteria”), in all material respects, for the year ended
June 30, 2023 (the “Assertion”). The LVCVA’s management is responsible for its assertion. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assertion, based on our examination.

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the AICPA.
Those standards require that we plan and perform procedures to obtain evidence about management’s
assertion. The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, including
an assessment of the risks of material misstatement of management’s assertion whether due to fraud or
error. We believe that the evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

We are required to be independent and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
relevant ethical requirements relating to the engagement.

In our opinion, management’s assertion that LVCVA has complied with the applicable criteria stated in
sections 56-60 of the Act, in all material respects, for the year ended June 30, 2023, is fairly stated in all
material respects.

CZ,M,;L%’

Las Vegas, Nevada
November 28, 2023

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com
9139 W. Russell Rd., Ste. 200 | Las Vegas, NV 89148-1250 | T702.304.0405 | F702.304.0415 | EOE
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program; Report on Internal
Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance

The Board of Directors
Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority
Las Vegas, Nevada

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program
Opinion on the Major Federal Program

We have audited Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s compliance with the types of
compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could
have a direct and material effect on the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s major federal
program for the year ended June 30, 2023. Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s major federal
program is identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority complied, in all material respects, with the
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on the major
federal program for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Basis for Opinion on the Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority and to meet our
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal
determination of Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s compliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above.

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com
9139 W. Russell Rd., Ste. 200 | Las Vegas, NV 89148-1250 | T702.304.0405 | F702.304.0415 | EOE
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements
of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to Las
Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s federal program.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an
opinion on Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material
noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user of the report on compliance about Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s
compliance with the requirements of the major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e |dentify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s
compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

e Obtain an understanding of Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s internal control over
compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the
Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Las
Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
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that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,
in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is
less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material
weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal
control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

gz&,éﬁu@ LEVP

Las Vegas, Nevada
November 28, 2023
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Federal
Financial Amounts Passed-
Assistance Grant or Pass- Total Federal Through to
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program Title Listing Through Number  Financial Assistance Subrecipents
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
Passed Through Department of Nevada Tourism and Cultural Affairs:
Economic Development Cluster
COVID-19 American Rescue Plan Act State Travel, Tourism, and Outdoor
Recreation Grants (State Tourism Grants) Supplemental Disaster
Recovery and Resiliency Awards 11.307 07-79-07804 S 7,000,000 -
Total U.S. Department of Commerce, Economic Development Cluster $ 7,000,000 _
TOTAL FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE S 7,000,000 -

See Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

NOTE 1. REPORTING ENTITY:

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of Federal financial assistance programs
of the Las Vegas Convention and Visitor’s Authority (the “LVCVA”). The LVCVA’s reporting entity is defined in Note 1 to its
basic financial statements. All Federal financial assistance received by the LVCVA directly from Federal agencies as well as
Federal financial assistance passed through other government agencies is included in the schedule.

NOTE 2: BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the federal grant activity and is prepared on the
modified accrual basis of accounting. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). LVCVA received a single federal award indirectly through a pass-
through entity. LVCVA did not award any amounts to sub-recipients. Because the schedule presents only a selected portion
of the operations of the LVCVA, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position or
fund balance, or cash flows of the LVCVA.

NOTE 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Governmental fund types account for LVCVA’s federal grant activity. Therefore, expenditures in the Schedule of Expenditures
of Federal Awards are recognized on the modified accrual basis when they become a demand on currently available financial
resources. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in Subpart E — Cost Principles of the
Uniform Guidance. The LVCVA’s summary of significant accounting policies is presented in Note 1 in the LVCVA’s basic
financial statements. The LVCVA does not draw for indirect administrative expenses and has not elected to use the 10% de
minimis cost rate.

NOTE 4. RELATIONSHIP TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

Expenditures of Federal Awards reported in the LVCVA’s basic financial statements are in the General Fund in the amount of
$7,000,000.
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs — Federal Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Section | — Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X __No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified not

Considered to be material weaknesses Yes X__None reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes __ X No

Federal Awards
Internal Control over major program:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes __X__No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified not

Considered to be material weaknesses Yes X__None reported

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required
to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? Yes _ X __No

Identification of major programs:

Assistance Listing Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster

11.307 COVID-19 Economic Adjustment Assistance

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes X__No

Section Il — Financial Statement Findings

None noted.

Section lll — Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

None noted.
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

November 28, 2023

To the Board of Directors
Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority
Las Vegas, Nevada

We have audited the financial statements of Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated November 28, 2023. Professional standards
require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing Standards
and Government Auditing Standards and our Compliance Audit under the Uniform Guidance

As communicated in our letter dated September 11, 2023, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been prepared
by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of the financial statements does not
relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting
as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,
as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority solely for
the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal
control.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards as it relates to the audit of the Authority’s major
federal program compliance, is to express an opinion on the compliance for each of the Authority’s major
federal program based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. An audit of
major program compliance includes consideration of internal control over compliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, as a part of our major program compliance audit, we considered internal control over
compliance for these purposes and not to provide any assurance on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal
control over compliance.

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com 1
9139 W. Russell Rd., Ste. 200 | Las Vegas, NV 89148-1250 | T702.304.0405 | F702.304.0415 | EOE



We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional
judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are not
required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to communicate to you.

We identified no comments regarding internal controls during our audit, and communicated such in our
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards dated November 28, 2023. We have also provided our letter regarding compliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above and internal controls over compliance during our audit in our
Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance with Each Major Federal Program and Report on Internal Control
Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance dated November 28, 2023.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit
We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to you.
Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the engagement,
if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

Significant Risks Identified

As stated in our auditor’s report, professional standards require us to design our audit to provide reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement whether caused by fraud or error. In
designing our audit procedures, professional standards require us to evaluate the financial statements and
assess the risk that a material misstatement could occur. Areas that are potentially more susceptible to
misstatements, and thereby require special audit considerations, are designated as “significant risks”. We have
identified the following as significant risks:

e Management override risk — management override of internal controls
e Revenue risk — presumed risk that revenue may be improperly recognized
e GASB 96 implementation

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority is included in Note 1 to
the financial statements. As described in Note 1, the Authority changed accounting policies related to
accounting for leases to adopt the provision of GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information
Technology Arrangements. Accordingly, the accounting change has been retrospectively applied to the financial
statements beginning July 1, 2022. No matters have come to our attention that would require us, under
professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual transactions
and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of
authoritative guidance or consensus.



Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based
on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and experience about
past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly
sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future
events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements are:

e Other post-employment benefit plans’ actuarial accrued liabilities
e Pension plans’ actuarial accrued liabilities

Management’s estimate of the post-employment benefit plan and pension plan liabilities is based on actuarial
estimate. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the above mentioned estimates and
determined that it is reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Financial Statement Disclosures

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive because of
their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting Las Vegas Convention and
Visitors Authority’s financial statements relate to:

e The disclosures associated with the defined benefit pension plan and the other post-employment
benefits. These are sensitive because they represent a significant percentage of the liabilities presented
on the statement of net position.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the audit.
Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate them
to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also communicate the
effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of transactions, account
balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole.Uncorrected misstatements or matters
underlying those uncorrected misstatements could potentially cause future-period financial statements to be
materially misstated, even though the uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements
currently under audit. There were no uncorrected or corrected missstatements identified as a result of our audit
procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter,
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter,
which could be significant to Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s financial statements or the auditor’s
report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.



Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that affect
the form and content of our auditor’s report. As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, due to the
adoption of GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, the Authority
restated opening balances as of July 1, 2022. We have included an emphasis of matter in our report regarding
this restatement.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the management
representation letter dated November 28, 2023.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority, we
generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards,
significant events or transactions that occurred during the year, operating and regulatory conditions affecting
the entity, and operational plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the
matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s
auditors.

Other Information Included in Annual Reports

Pursuant to professional standards, our responsibility as auditors for other information, whether financial or
nonfinancial, included in Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s annual reports, does not extend beyond
the financial information identified in the audit report, and we are not required to perform any procedures to
corroborate such other information.

However, in accordance with such standards, we have read through the introductory and statistical sections and
considered whether such information, or the manner of its presentation, was materially inconsistent with its
presentation in the financial statements.

Our responsibility also includes communicating to you any information which we believe is a material
misstatement of fact. Nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that such information, or its
manner of presentation, is materially inconsistent with the information, or manner of its presentation,
appearing in the financial statements.



This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors and management of Las

Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other
than these specified parties.

@MAUD

Las Vegas, Nevada
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING
AGENDA DOCUMENTATION

MEETING
DATE: DECEMBER 12, 2023 ITEM NO. 3
TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS
FROM: CAROLINE BATEMAN  Docusianed by
: GENERAL COUNSEL Caroline Bafeman
SUBJECT: POLICY COMMITTEE REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS

RECOMMENDATION
The Policy Committee met on November 29, 2023, to discuss items A and B below.

The Policy Committee Chair will present a report and give the Committee’s
recommendations, if any, to the Board of Directors.

Item A. Review and Approval of Proposed Amendments to Board Policies
That the Board review and approve the proposed amendments to Board Policies as
recommended by the Policy Committee.

For possible action.

Item B. Policy Committee Charter Review and Evaluation of Committee
That the Board review and approve the proposed revisions to the Policy Committee
Charter as recommended by the Policy Committee.

For possible action.

FISCAL IMPACT

ITEMS A-B
None
DocuSigned by:
[Ex‘uw Hill
STEVE HILL
BOARD CEO/PRESIDENT

ACTION:
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING
AGENDA DOCUMENTATION

MEETING
DATE: NOVEMBER 29, 2023 ITEM A
TO: POLICY COMMITTEE
FROM: CAROLINE BATEMAN —Docusiand
' GENERAL COUNSEL Carobine Baternan

_ REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO BOARD

SUBJECT:
POLICIES
RECOMMENDATION

That the Policy Committee review, and approve for recommendation to the Board of
Directors, proposed amendments to Board Policies.

For possible action.

FISCAL IMPACT
None

DocuSigned by:

[Em Wil

AB348F0DESAT4:

STEVE HILL

COMMITTEE CEO/PRESIDENT
ACTION: APPROVED

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND

The Policy Committee’s Charter authorizes the Committee to evaluate amendments to the
LVCVA's Board Policies and to recommend approval of such amendments to the Board of
Directors.

Staff will present proposed amendments, if any, to the Board Policies it compiled through
discussions with individual members of the Committee.



BOARD POLICIES

LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
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PURPOSE OF BOARD POLICIES

Board policies are written rules, statements, principles, or directives for making
decisions and taking action. Their purpose is to serve as a guide when the Board carries
out its governance duties. They are not so specific as to eliminate management discretion
within their delegated authorities. Policies also establish a standard and recommended
way of acting in challenging situations. Board polices function as a protective mechanism
for the organization and individuals when a decision is questioned and, by pointing to an
approved policy, is the framework for explaining how a conclusion was reached. An
adequate, functioning, and appropriate set of guiding policies is not a substitute for
thinking and cannot eliminate mistakes, including simple oversights and poor judgment.

The CEO has the authority to formulate and implement policies, in addition to
these Board Policies, to conduct the LVCVA’s day-to-day business.

PREAMBLE

The nature and objectives of every organization materially affects its operations
and related governing policies. Accordingly, this “Preamble” to the Policies summarizes
the LVCVA mission and nature of its operations so that the Policies may be viewed in
proper context.

Unlike a local municipality that provides water and sewer services to its citizens
that have no alternative provider and virtually no promotion, advertising and public
relations costs, LVCVA is a destination marketing organization that also operates one of
the largest convention facilities in the world. The LVCVA competes for visitors with the
largest and finest visitor destinations and convention facilities in the United States and
around the world. As a marketing organization, it seeks and nurtures relationships that
directly affect Clark County’s revenues next month, next year, and for decades to come.

As the destination marketing organization for Clark County, Nevada, LVCVA's
mission is to attract an ever-increasing number of visitors to Southern Nevada. The
LVCVA is established by statute and is unlike a typical convention and visitor's bureau
in that it is not a membership-based organization. Although the LVCVA is a political
subdivision of the State of Nevada, the LVCVA Board is unique in that its 14 board
members include 6 representatives from the private sector sharing the LVCVA's unique
objectives. The LVCVA's Board oversees LVCVA's policies, internal and external audits,
executive compensation, the Las Vegas Convention Center District, and, through a Chief
Executive Officer referred to herein as the CEO, all other activities of the LVCVA. The
activities that the CEO oversees directly within budgetary constraints and powers and
duties delegated by the Board include, among others, marketing, operation of facilities,
human resources, finance, and public affairs.

[Adopted November 14, 2017. Rev. October 8, 2019]
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BOARD POLICIES
LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

ARTICLE I — INTERNAL ADMINISTRATION OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Policy 1.01 — Number of Members.

The Board shall consist of the number of members provided in Nevada Revised
Statutes (NRS) 244A.603.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005]

Policy 1.02 — Term of Office.

The Board members’ terms of office shall be as follows:

1. Elected Members: coterminous with each elected member’s term of office
unless otherwise provided by NRS 244A.603;

2. Members appointed from the Business Sector: two (2) years; or in the event
that the member is appointed to fill a vacancy, the remainder of the
predecessor’s term.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; Rev. October 8, 2019; Rev. July 13,
2021]

Policy 1.03 — Officers of the Board.

1.03.1 - Executive Committee

The officers of the Board shall be Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary and Treasurer. The
officers of the Board shall constitute the Board’s Executive Committee. The officers of the
Board shall all be members of the Board. The Board’s Officers shall be comprised of two
elected public sector Board members and two appointed business sector Board
members.

Board officers may only serve for two (2) consecutive terms in any specific office. A
term, for the purpose of this Section, shall comprise the period a Board member spends
in an office after being elected during the biannual reorganization outlined under Term
1.03.2 and it shall not include the period a Board member spends in an office filling a
prior vacancy in the office.

[NRS 244A.605, 244A.611. Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; June
10, 2008; November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019; July 13, 2021]
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1.03.2 - Reorganization of the Board; Officer Vacancies; Election Procedure

In January of each odd-numbered year, the Board shall undergo a reorganization
by electing its officers. Officers elected during Board reorganizations shall hold office for
the ensuring biennium or until their successors are elected and qualified. Officers elected
during reorganizations shall serve in their respective positions for two (2) years.

Any vacancy among the Board Officers shall be filled by the Board at its first
regularly scheduled meeting following the vacancy or during a special meeting at the call
of the Chair or, in the event of a vacancy in the office of Chair, at the request of the CEO
or 3 Board Members. The officers elected to fill any vacancies shall serve out the
unexpired terms of their predecessors.

The Board’s election of officers, both for the biannual reorganization and in the
event of an officer vacancy, shall be conducted in accordance with the following modified
Robert’s Rules of Order:

1) The Board Chair, or the Board member serving in the capacity of Chair
pursuant to Policies 1.07 and 1.08 (Authorized Chair), shall take officer
nominations from the floor in the following order: Chair; Vice-Chair; Secretary;
and Treasurer. Nominations shall be taken for one officer position at a time.

2) Once a Board member makes an officer nomination, the floor shall be closed
for nominations. The Chair or Authorized Chair shall permit time for
deliberation, if any, and call for the vote on the nominee. If a majority of the
Board members present approve the nomination, the nominee is deemed
elected and the election shall continue for the remaining officer positions, if
any. If a majority of the Board does not approve the nominee, the Chair or
Authorized Chair shall reopen the floor for nominations. The process outlined
herein shall continue until the reorganization or vacancy fulfillment is
complete

3) The sitting Board Chair, or Authorized Chair, shall preside over the election of
all officers before, if applicable, turning the meeting over to the newly elected
Chair.

All Board members may make nominations for any officer position and they may
nominate themselves.

[NRS 244A.605, 244A.611. Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; June
10, 2008; November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019; July 13, 2021]
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Policy 1.04 — Responsibilities of Board Members; Board Committees.

1. Board Policy Knowledge. Each Board Member shall obtain and maintain a sound
working knowledge of the Board Policies, his or her statutory responsibilities to
the Board and the LVCVA, and all ethical requirements as public officers, by
attending orientation with the General Counsel and the LVCVA'’s Executive Team,
and requesting additional training through the CEO, as necessary, and/or
consulting with the General Counsel.

2. LVCVA Mission Quersight Powers and Duties. The Board serves as the policy-
making body for the LVCVA. The powers and duties of the Board are enumerated
in statute and include the following:

a. Approval of the establishment, construction, purchase and/or other
acoquisition, reconstruction, improvement, extension and betterment of the
LVCVA’s exposition buildings and convention halls and related financing
thereof;

b. The sale, lease, exchange, transfer, assign, or other disposal of the LVCVA’s
real and personal property, and any interest therein acquired,;

c. The assignment, transfer, or licensure of trademarks, service marks and
other intellectual property of the LVCVA and

d. The solicitation and promotion of tourism and gaming generally, including:

1.  Theleasing of the LVCVA's facilities for conventions, expositions,
trade shows, entertainment, sporting events, cultural activities
or similar uses reasonably calculated to produce revenue for the
LVCVA and to enhance the local economy.

2. Advertising and promoting the entire Southern Nevada area
including facilites under control of the LVCVA and the
resources of the entire community or area, including tourist
accommodations, transportation, sporting events, cultural
activities, entertainment, and gaming. In its discretion, the
Board may enter into contracts for advertising, including
payment of a reasonable commission, with a private enterprise.

3. Provide annual grants in cash or in kind to the chambers of
commerce of the incorporated cities within the county which
represent the residents of those cities, or other nonprofit groups
or associations, as deemed necessary to solicit and promote
tourism.
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. Delegation of Powers and Duties. The Board delegates to the CEO the authority to
execute and amend individual agreements and financial transactions, or issue
change orders, valued under $250,000, per rolling contract year, including the
value of subsequent amendments, if any, except that the Board must approve all
acquisitions and dispositions of real property and the disposition of intellectual
rights. When exercising such delegated authority (‘CEO’s Signature Authority”),
the CEO's reasonable intentions must be to further the LVCVA's mission within
applicable budget constraints. No contracts, or amendments or extensions to
oontracts, executed under the CEQO’s Signature Authority, will exceed a cumulative
term of five (5) years unless presented, in advance, to the Board for approval.

The CEO’s Signature Authority shall be annually adjusted, on January 1, in
accordance with the Consumer Price Index, Western Region, All Urban Consumers
as published by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. [Annual adjustments to be
implemented starting January 1, 2025].

. Review of Delegated Powers and Duties. For contractual commitments that have
a dollar value that is less than the CEO’s Signature Authority, the Board shall
inspect quarterly lists of such contractual commitments over $50,000 for possible
questions and comments.

. Committees of the Board. Board Committees may be created including
establishing the number of members and membership by Board action with the
Commiittee Chair and members to be selected by the Board Chair, after first
soliciting the other Board Members' interest in serving in the various capacities
and considering their relevant expertise, and subject to ratification by the Board.
Each established committee shall have a separate charter approved by the Board
that summarizes the committee's duties and responsibilities. All Board members
must participate in at least one Committee, including all board committees. For
the purpose of each Board member’s required participation on at least one Board
Committee, participation on the Las Vegas Events Board shall qualify towards
that requirement.

The Board Chair is authorized to bring any matter delegated to a Board
Committee directly to the Board by placing the matter on the agenda of a Board
meeting.

. Performance and Compensation Reviews. Annually, the Board shall review the
performance and compensation of the CEO and General Counsel, and the
compensation ranges for other "E" level employees who are direct reports to the
CEO. The Board shall consider the recommendations of the Compensation
Committee in determining the appropriate compensation and benefits including,
but not limited to, bonuses. The Board shall further annually review and approve
the upocoming fiscal year goals for the CEO and General Counsel.
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7. Hining and termination of the CEQO. The Board shall have sole authority for all
decisions relating to the hiring and termination of the CEO.

8. Hining and termination of the General Counsel The Board shall have sole authority
for all decisions relating to the hiring and termination of LVCVA’s General
Counsel. In making such decisions, the input and recommendation of the CEO
will be considered. The Board may solicit and receive such other information as
it deems appropriate for this purpose.

9. Approval of the Expense Reports of the CEO and General Counsel
The Board Treasurer or appropriately skilled Board Member designee (selection
by the Chair) other than the Board Chair, shall review and approve the expense
reports of the CEO and General Counsel.

10. Approval _of Special Awards. The Board shall receive and approve
recommendations from its Compensation Committee related to management’s
policy related to special awards, including but not limited to service awards and
retirement gifts and approve the special awards policy. Prior Board approval is also
required for any exceptions to the policy.

11. Las Vegas Convention Center District. The Board shall approve the strategic plans
of the Las Vegas Convention District and all related development activities not
delegated to the CEO or oversight panels appointed in accordance with laws and

regulations.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019; November 29,
2023

Policy 1.05 — Board Travel

The purpose of Board Member travel is: (1) to help Board Members understand
the methods and processes used in LVCVA promotions to better discharge the policy-
making responsibilities imposed on them by statute; and (2) to conduct the business
purposes of the LVCVA by representing the LVCVA and the Clark County destination.
Direct observation is an effective method for acquiring such knowledge. Board Members
are encouraged to attend at least one LVCVA event held in Clark County annually.

Board Members are further encouraged to attend one event outside of Clark
County during their first term in office. The Board Chair, in consultation with the CEO,
may request additional attendance by Board Members at events outside of Clark County
when there is meaningful business purposes or relationship value from the Board
Member’s attendance. A Board Member who travels shall also report on the member's
participation at the event attended outside of Clark County at the next regularly
scheduled Board meeting.
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Board Members shall adhere to the same travel and expense report policies as
LVCVA’s management, staff, and non-staff event participants. Such policies define and
give examples and parameters of expenses that are reimbursable or not, incorporate the
concept that business expenses must be reasonable, ordinary and necessary to LVCVA’s
mission, specify how to handle exceptions, and the nature and extent of required
supporting documentation. Such policies also include the concept that travel is only
authorized for a reasonable, typically minimum number, of persons necessary to carry
out the business purpose and the route and mode of transportation must be consistent
with scheduling needs. Such determinations typically consider the most direct, cost and
time-efficient route, including, but not limited to, airfare and ground transportation
availability and costs, alternate airports options, departure and travel times and their
impact on work time, expediency, daily expenses, and similar measures of reasonable
travel conditions.

[Adopted October 8,2019]

Policy 1.06 — Responsibilities of the Chair of the Board.

The Chair shall:
1. Preside at all meetings of the Board and enforce the parliamentary rules.

2. Have the right to offer resolutions, and to discuss questions.
3. Have the power to vote on all matters.

4. Call special meetings of the Board whenever there is sufficient business to
come before the Board, or upon written request of three (3) members of the
Board.

S. Advise the CEO on agenda preparation for the meetings.

o. Sign all papers and documents as required by law or as authorized by
action of the Board.

7. Have the power to administer oaths or affirmations to witnesses at
personnel hearings.

8. Be an ex-officio member (non-voting) of any Board Committee.
0. Exercise such other powers as may be delegated to him/her by the Board.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; October 8, 2019]
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Policy 1.07 — Responsibilities of the Vice Chair of the Board.

The Vice Chair shall, in the absence of the Chair, serve in the capacity and assume
the duties of the Chair, taking action as appropriate to fulfill these responsibilities.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005]

Policy 1.08 — Responsibilities of the Secretary and Treasurer of the Board.

1. The Secretary. The Secretary, through LVCVA Board staff, shall cause to
be kept a full and accurate record of the proceedings of the Board.

The Secretary, through the General Counsel, shall be responsible to the
Board for all matters pertaining to the care of the Board’s records and
documents.

The Secretary, through LVCVA Board staff, shall ensure that members of
the Board are notified of meetings and that special meetings are called in
conformance to law.

The Secretary shall call Board meetings to order in the absence of the Chair
and the Vice-Chair, and serve in the capacity of the Chair and assume the
duties of the Chair.

The Secretary shall perform any additional duties that the Board delegates
or are required under NRS 244A.

2. The Treasurer. The Treasurer, through the LVCVA’s CEO and Chief
Financial Officer, shall ensure that LVCVA staff maintains permanent
records of all monies received by and disbursed for and on behalf of the
Board.

In the absence of the Chair, Vice-Chair, and Secretary, the Treasurer shall
call Board meetings to order and serve in the capacity of, and assume the
duties of, the Chair.

The Treasurer shall perform such other duties that the Board delegates or
are required under NRS 244A.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; November 14, 2017; October 8,
2019; July 13, 2021]

Policy 1.09 - Statutes and Policies Governing Board Action.
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1. The Board shall be governed by all applicable provisions of the law relating
to “local government” and NRS 244A.597 et seq., and by the Board Policies
adopted herein.

2. Policies:

The Board shall provide authorization and guidelines for the CEO.
Implementation of such policies is the responsibility of the CEO. The
formulation and adoption of written policies, particularly in regard to the
proper authorization of transactions, and performance evaluation of the
CEO constitute two methods, among others, by which the Board shall
provide direction for the operation of LVCVA.

The CEO shall make recommendations on Board Policy adoption and
revision of existing Policies. The Board Policies shall be collected and
compiled in a separate record and maintained by the office of the CEO.

3. Indemnification: LVCVA shall indemnify the Board and staff against any
and all costs incurred in legal actions that may be filed against such
individuals based upon their performance of duties on behalf of LVCVA.
The LVCVA shall maintain a sufficient amount of errors and omissions, or
similar coverage, insurance to protect and indemnify Board members.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; November 14, 2017; October 8,
2019]

Policy 1.10 - Types of Meetings.

The Board shall hold the following types of meetings:

1. Regular Meetings, which are held on the second Tuesday of each month
at 9:00 am. The meeting may be cancelled, or another date set, at the
discretion of the Chair.

2. Recessed Meetings, which may be held at the discretion of the Board.

3. Special Meetings, which may be called by the Chair whenever there is
sufficient business to come before the Board (or in the event of a vacancy
in the office of the Chair, at the request of the CEO), or upon written request
to the Chair by three (3) members of the Board. Special Meetings are not
official unless each member has been notified in writing of the time, place
and purpose of the meeting by personal delivery of the notice at least three
(3) working days before the meeting, or by notice deposited in the United
States mails at least three (3) working days before the meeting, and posting
notice as required by Nevada Open Meeting Law. Only those items of
business contained in the notice of Special Meeting may be discussed
and/or acted upon at such meeting,
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4, Emergency Meetings, without notice, pursuant to Nevada Open Meeting
Law.

S. Biennial Organization Meeting. At the first meeting in January of each
odd-numbered year, the Board meets and organizes by electing one of its
members Chair; another, Vice-Chair; and a third, Secretary/Treasurer.

6. Committee meetings, on call of Committee Chair on three (3) working days
notice to Committee members, and posting notice as required by Nevada
Open Meeting Law.
7. Budget meetings as required by the Nevada Revised Statutes.
[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; October 8, 2019]

Policy 1.11 — Meetings of the Board.

All meetings of the Board and Committees are open to the public, with the
exception of meetings, pursuant to the Nevada Revised Statutes, that the Board may
close to the public. It is the policy of the Board that members of the public shall have the
right to be heard at Board meetings.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005]

Policy 1.12 - Agenda.

Agendas for Board meetings shall be prepared by the CEO in consultation with
the Board Chair. Agendas for Board Committee meetings shall be prepared by the CEO
in consultation with the Chair of each respective Committee.

Each meeting agenda packet shall include supporting materials to provide Board
members time to give prior consideration to items calling for action.

Any Board member who wishes to place an item on a Board or Committee agenda
shall contact the office of the CEO.

The CEO may include a consent agenda portion to each Board meeting agenda.
Items qualify for the consent agenda if they are of a routine, procedural, and non-
controversial nature. Such items include, but are not limited to, recurring marketing and
sales event sponsorships, for the present or future fiscal years, so long as the proposed
expenditure is reasonably similar to the expenditure of previous years. The Board may
remove an item from the consent agenda for discussion during the Board action portion
of the meeting agenda.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; October 8, 2019; July 13, 2021]
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Policy 1.13 — Quorum.

In all meetings of the Board or Board Committees, a simple majority of the
members of the Board or Committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of
business. Every motion and resolution of the Board shall be adopted by at least a majority
of all the members of the Board or Committee present and constituting a quorum at each
meeting.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; October 8, 2019]

Policy 1.14 — Parliamentary Procedure.

Unless otherwise provided in these Board Policies, Board and Committee
meetings shall be conducted in compliance with Robert’s Rules of Order, latest edition,
with the exception that a second shall not be required for any motion to be put to a vote
of the members, and the Board Chair, or in his/her place and stead, the Authorized
Chair, may make a motion.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; October 8, 2019; July 13, 2021]

Policy 1.15 - Board and Committee Meeting Minutes; Recordings.

The minutes of all official meetings of the Board and Committees are to be
recorded and filed in the Board Office.

Meeting minutes shall include: the date, time, and place of the meeting; those
Board members who were present and those who were absent; the substance of all
matters proposed, discussed, or decided and, at the request of any member, a record of
each member’s note on any matter decided by vote; the substance of remarks made by
any members of the general public or the prepared written remarks of any members of
the general public if inclusion in the minutes is requested; and any other information
which a Board member requests included or reflected in the minutes.

The Board shall, for each of its meetings, whether public or closed, record the
meeting on audiotape or another means of sound production. The Board may substitute
its recording requirement by utilizing the services of a court reporter to transcribe its
meetings. The Board shall retain a copy of the recording or transcription for at least one
year following adjournment of the meeting.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; October 8, 2019]
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Policy 1.16 - Procedures for Contracts and Agreements Presented to Board.

All contracts and agreements entered into in the name of LVCVA are required to
have the approval (as to legality and form) of LVCVA’s General Counsel before being
presented to the Board for action, or, in the event the contractual value falls within the
CEOQO’s Signature Authority, before being presented to the CEO or his or her designee for
execution. The LVCVA’s consultants, advisors, and/or contractors, when acting as
agents of the LVCVA, shall obtain approval from the CEO prior to entering into any
contracts or agreements. Copies of all Board-approved contracts shall be lodged with the
Secretary of the Board for safekeeping through the Board office.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; July 10, 2012; October 8, 2019;
July 13, 2021]

Policy 1.17 — Public Expenditures.

1. Budget Requirements

No expenditures shall be approved by the Board for which provision has
not been made in the Budget. This shall not preclude such change or
amendment to the Budget as shall be lawful.

2. Grants to Entities

Annual grants for recreational purposes shall be used by such entities for
capital improvements of recreation facilities.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; October 8, 2019]
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BOARD POLICIES
LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

ARTICLE II - POWERS AND FUNCTIONS OF THE CEO

Policy 2.01 — Responsibilities of the CEO.

The CEO will formulate and implement policy in order to conduct LVCVA’s day-
to-day business within the budgetary and policy constraints set by the Board. The CEO
shall also implement and administer all policies, plans and procedures approved by the
Board. When necessary and appropriate, the CEO will bring policy recommendations
and changes to the Board for approval.

Subject to any requirements set forth elsewhere in these Policies or under
applicable law, the CEO shall:

1. Develop the operational objectives and annual business goals for the
LVCVA and submit said objectives to the Board for approval, adoption or
revision.

2. Manage and supervise the business and affairs of the LVCVA subject to

the budget and policies approved by the Board. Implement the policies
established by the Board.

3. Oversee management and operations of all departments of LVCVA, and
make salary adjustments, bonus and salary range adjustments for all
employees; provided that, the Board ultimately shall approve the
compensation, bonus and salary range adjustments of LVCVA’s General
Counsel, after receiving the evaluation and recommendation of the CEO
and Compensation Committee. The CEO shall recommend to the Board
for approval all title changes and salary range adjustments for “E” level
positions that report directly to the CEO.

4. Make recommendations to the Board regarding non-salary benefits that
are obtained for LVCVA’s employees.

5. Be responsible for establishing and adjusting car allowances for all LVCVA
employees, except for the CEO.

o. Ensure that LVCVA policies are uniformly understood and administered
by his/her subordinates.

7. Review, coordinate and submit to the Board all annual plans and
operating budgets as required.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Take a leadership role in the promotion of the cultural aspects of the Las
Vegas/Clark County community.

Analyze overall operating results of LVCVA departments relative to plans,
recognize achievement and ensure that appropriate steps are undertaken
to correct unsatisfactory conditions.

Provide leadership in maintaining and enhancing the good reputation of
LVCVA, and its favorable reputation with clients, employees, colleagues
and the public.

Establish the limits of subordinates regarding reimbursable expenses and
other expenditures, contractual commitments, and all other internal
operation and personnel policies not specified by the Board. Personnel
policies related to General Counsel are at the sole discretion of the Board.
(Rev. November 14, 2017)

Coordinate the efforts of all departments to ensure the most cost-effective
delivery of service to the Las Vegas convention and travel industry.

Attend all regular, recessed and special meetings of the Board and Board
Committees, whenever possible.

Unless otherwise directed by Board action, formulate and conduct any
and all lobbying efforts on issues that relate to or affect LVCVA and /or the
destination.

Prepare a draft agenda for each regular, recessed and special meeting of
the Board and Board Committees, submit such draft to the Board Chair
or Committee Chair, as applicable, for input and thereafter give notice of
such meeting together with the time, place and location, as required by the
Nevada Open Meeting Law.

Formulate and submit to the Board for approval building lease rates
schedule for the Las Vegas Convention Center. Negotiate and execute all
leases and fees for LVCVA property and transportation systems.

Establish and implement employee policies and procedures.
Recommend and implement an Investment Policy, as established by the
Board, and submit to the Board an annual investment review as set forth
in Section VI(C) of the Investment Policy at the annual budget meeting.

Recommend and submit for approval any changes to the Charters of
Commiittees established by the Board.
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20.

21.

Approve inter-fund budget transfers.

Make recommendations to the Board regarding the following items, all of
which shall require prior Board approval, subject to such exceptions
and/or additional approvals as may be set forth elsewhere in these Policies

or under applicable law:

@) Names of the organization or its facilities.

(b) Policies regarding minutes of Board meetings.

(© Policies regarding Board meeting frequency and location.

d) Bond covenants and other related documentation.

@] Budget Transfers within the requirements of the Nevada
Revised Statutes.

® The CEO’s annual evaluation, the CEO’s goals and the
CEOQ’s salary and benefits.

@ Write-offs individually in excess of $100,000. (Rev. 8/8/06)

(h) Collection distributions.

i) Grants and grant funding guidelines.

() Real property related activities, including purchases, sales
and permanent easements unless delegated to the CEO
herein. The Board delegates authority to the CEO to
negotiate and execute LVCVA property easements for other
governmental entities and utility companies. (Rev.
7/13/21)

k) Budget and Comprehensive Annual Financial Report(s).

1] Debt service payments.

(m) Independent Audit Firms, in consultation with the Board’s
Audit Committee.

n) Proposed Workers Compensation settlements over
$100,000. (Rev. 8/8/06)

(0) Any and all budget augmentations.
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19) Any document or action required by law to be approved by
the Board.

22.  Perform such other duties as the Board may from time to time assign to
the CEO.

[Adopted November 9, 2004. Rev. October 11, 2005; August 8, 2016; November 14,
2017; October 8, 2019; July 13, 2021]

Policy 2.02 — Compensation and Evaluation of CEO.

The Compensation Committee of the Board shall be responsible for performing
the annual evaluation of the CEO, and the Board, based on a recommendation of the
Compensation Committee, shall be responsible for determining the compensation and
benefits of the CEO, including, without limitation, the CEO’s bonus and goals.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019]

Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority Policies — Page 18 of 31
July 13,2021



BOARD POLICIES
LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

ARTICLE ITII - POWERS AND FUNCTIONS OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL

Policy 3.01 — Responsibilities of General Counsel.

Subject to any requirements set forth elsewhere in these Policies or under
applicable law, LVCVA’s General Counsel shall:

1. Act as the attorney the organization, and advise the Board, the CEO and
other members of LVCVA staff regarding legal questions arising in the
conduct of LVCVA’s operations, and have primary responsibility for
implementing of an effective legal compliance system under the oversight
of the Board.

2. Make recommendations for Board policies, resolutions and other

documents or procedures that are required for the Board and the LVCVA
to comply with statutory and legal obligations.

3. Attend all regular, recessed and special meetings of the Board and Board
Committees, whenever possible.

4, Assist the Board Chair, Committee Chairs, and the CEO in the
preparation of agendas for meetings of the Board and Board Committees
and the giving of notice required by the Nevada Open Meeting Law.

S. Review and approve as to form and legality all agreements, contracts,
leases, bonds, insurance policies, instruments and other documents to
which LVCVA proposes to become a party or otherwise bound.

o. Determine, in consultation with the CEO and professional advisers, as
appropriate, necessary actions related to the LVCVA’s intellectual property.

7. Manage all litigation and other legal proceedings involving the LVCVA and
provide quarterly update reports to the Board Chair.

8. Inform the Board and the CEO of any proposed legislation or other legal
matters that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
LVCVA.

0. Instruct Board Members regarding the Board Policies and statutory
responsibilities, through an orientation with the LVCVA’s executive team.
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10.  Manage the LVCVA’s legal affairs generally, and make recommendations
to the CEO regarding the hiring/firing, evaluation and compensation of
any associate or outside counsel attorneys and other legal personnel.

11.  Receive and address notifications of suspected violations of LVCVA’s
conflict of interest policy.

12. Make changes to LVCVA contracts with third parties when legally
necessary. Any such changes shall not materially change the scope of the
contract or change the monetary consideration under the contract. (Added
November 14, 2017)

13.  Consult with the LVCVA’s Chief Financial Officer, who serves as risk
manager of the LVCVA, and assist in the review of insurance policies and
coverage, the aoquisition of all insurance, and acquisition of risk mitigation
products or processes.

14.  Actasthe LVCVA'’s primary records coordinator. Ensure compliance with
the Nevada Public Records Act, the LVCVA's records retention policies, and
the records retention and archiving requirements of the State of Nevada’s
Library, Archives, and Public Records Division.

15.  Perform such other duties as the Board may from time to time assign to
LVCVA’s General Counsel.

LVCVA'’s General Counsel shall not engage in the private practice of law without
the Board’s prior approval, and then only upon such conditions as the Board may

Impose.
[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019]

Policy 3.02 - Reporting Relationship of General Counsel.

The following provisions shall govern the reporting relationship of the LVCVA’s
General Counsel:

1. On a day-to-day basis, LVCVA’s General Counsel shall report to the CEO
and shall take direction from the CEO on strategic and business matters
within the CEO’s authority, consistent with requirements of law, these
Policies and the current and future ethical standards of conduct adopted
by the Supreme Court of Nevada applicable to lawyers licensed to practice
law in Nevada.

2. In order to perform their obligations to LVCVA, Board members shall have
complete and open access to LVCVA’s General Counsel for legal advice
regarding policies, statutory duties, and ethical obligations.
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3. On a quarterly basis, unless required by these Board Policies to take place
sooner, LVCVA’s General Counsel shall report to the Board Chair
regarding any material legal matters relating to LVCVA. These matters
shall include, but are not limited to: (a) the status of any material legal
proceedings to which LVCVA is a party or in which LVCVA is otherwise
involved; (b) any significant issues or concerns relative to compliance with
applicable legal requirements, including potential or ongoing material
violations of law by, and breaches of fiduciary duty to LVCVA or violations
of these Policies by, LVCVA or any of its Board Members, officers and/or
employees; and (c) any matters of a legal nature which could result in a
material risk of loss or liability to LVCVA.

3. If the LVCVA’s General Counsel becomes aware of (a) any material
violation of law, breach of fiduciary duty or violation of these Policies or (b)
any other legal matter that may present an imminent substantial risk to
LVCVA’s interests, then LVCVA’s General Counsel shall report such
violation, breach or other matter to the Board Chair, or another member
of the Board’s Executive Team when General Counsel deems appropriate,
as soon as is reasonably practicable.

4. To assure independence and candor, reporting by LVCVA’s General
Counsel under Items 1, 2, and 3 above shall be protected from any
retaliation or interference in duties.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019]

Policy 3.03 — Compensation and Evaluation of General Counsel.

The compensation of LVCVA’s General Counsel is established by the Board. The
CEO shall perform an annual evaluation of LVCVA’s General Counsel, consistent with
LVCVA’s executive-level compensation program and practices, and based on such
evaluation, the CEO shall make a recommendation to the Compensation Committee
regarding the compensation of LVCVA’s General Counsel. The Compensation
Committee then shall perform its evaluation and make its recommendation to the Board
regarding the compensation of LVCVA’s General Counsel. The Board ultimately shall be
responsible for approving the compensation of LVCVA’s General Counsel after full
consideration of such evaluation and recommendation. The Board may solicit and
receive such other information as it deems appropriate for this purpose.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019]
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Policy 3.04 — Retention of Outside Legal Counsel.

LVCVA’s General Counsel, after consultation with the CEO, shall be authorized
to retain outside legal counsel, subject to ratification by the Board at its next meeting. At
the conclusion of each significant legal action, LVCVA’s General Counsel shall provide to
the Board a summary of the important aspects of the legal action, including a report on
the outcome of the legal action. Engagements of outside counsel to advise the Board, or
by a Committee of the Board, for special investigations or independent advice should be
made and structured to assure independence and direct reporting to the Board or the
Committee.

LVCVA’s General Counsel may utilize the services of Board-approved outside legal
counsel firms in excess of the CEO’s Signature Authority so long as the total expenditure
for outside counsel does not exceed the Board’s approved budget for the fiscal year.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019; July 13, 2021]
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BOARD POLICIES
LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

ARTICLE IV - INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

Policy 4.01 — Ownership.

LVCVA always shall be identified as the owner of trademarks or service marks
that LVCVA chooses to register, and LVCVA shall retain ownership of such marks.

[Adopted October 11, 2005]
Policy 4.02 - Registration.

LVCVA’s General Counsel, with input from the CEO shall make the
determination regarding whether particular trademarks and service marks should be
registered with any state or the federal Patent and Trademark Office.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019]

Policy 4.03 — Transfer.

Prior Board approval shall be required with respect to any permanent assignment,
transfer, or license of trademarks, service marks and other intellectual property owned by
LVCVA. Prior Board approval shall not be required if the license of such trademarks,
service marks or other intellectual property is limited to integrated promotions and the
CEO and General Counsel approve such license.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. August 8, 2006; November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019]

Policy 4.04 — Cease and Desist Letters.

LVCVA’s General Counsel, after consultation with appropriate professional
advisers, shall determine when cease and desist letters should be sent. Only LVCVA
(including its General Counsel) or outside legal counsel to LVCVA shall be authorized to
send cease and desist letters relating to LVCVA-owned trademarks, service marks and
other intellectual property.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019]
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Policy 4.05 - Litigation.

Board notifications shall be required prior to instituting litigation to enforce
LVCVA’s intellectual property rights, Board notification is not required to file and
prosecute an administrative action. In the rare case where such prior approval is
impractical, and delay would prejudice LVCVA’s interests, the CEO, with the concurrence
of LVCVA’s General Counsel, shall be authorized to initiate litigation, subject to ratification
by the Board at the first Board meeting thereafter.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019]
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BOARD POLICIES
LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

ARTICLE V — PROCUREMENT AND DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY

Policy 5.01 — Procurement.

1.

Real Property. Prior Board approval is required for any purchase or other
acquisition of real property.

Goods, Services, and Public Works. Prior Board approval is required for any
procurement of goods, services, (other than service provisions from regulated
utility providers), or public works, for any contract or agreement, including
amendments, over the CEO’s Signature Authority.

Emergency Contracts. The CEO is authorized to approve the procurement of
emergency contracts, in acocordance with NRS 332.112. The CEO or LVCVA’s
General Counsel shall be required to notify the Board at the first Board meeting
following the procurement of any such emergency contract.

Contingencies. The President/CEO is authorized to approve uses of Board-
approved contingency amounts by change order, or otherwise.

Amendments. The President/CEO is authorized to make amendments to Board-
approved contracts and agreements up to the CEO’s Signature Authority. Any
amendment that causes a contract or agreement to exceed the CEO’s Signature
Authority requires prior Board approval.

Authorization Basis. All contracts or agreements, combined with all related
amendments, shall be aggregated by a rolling annual vendor contract value to
determine authorization levels.

Reporting of CEO-Approved Contracts, Change Orders, and Amendments. The
CEO shall report to the Board quarterly all contracts, change orders, and
amendments approved over $50,000 under the CEO’s Signature Authority.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. August 8, 2006; November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019;
November 29, 2023

Policy 5.02 — Disposition of Property.

1.

Real Property. Prior Board approval shall be required for any disposition of real
property.
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2. Personal Property. Prior Board approval shall be required for any disposition of
personal property having an actual or estimated fair market value that is over the
CEO’s Signature Authority.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. August 8, 2006; November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019]
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BOARD POLICIES
LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

ARTICLE VI - CODE OF CONDUCT 8 CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS POLICY

Policy 6.01 — Code of Conduct & Conflicts of Interests Policy.

1. Purpose.

The public that LVCVA serves is entitled to fair, ethical and acoountable
government. To this end, the Board has adopted this Code of Conduct & Conflicts of
Interests Policy in effort to ensure that: the LVCVA’s Board Members, officers and
employees comply with both the letter and spirit of the Nevada Code of Ethical Standards.
On or before the date on which a Board Member swears or affirms his or her Oath of
Office, the Board Member shall execute and file an acknowledgment, with the
Commission on Ethics, of his or her statutory ethical standards.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019]

2. Act in the Public Interest.

Recognizing that stewardship of the public interest must be their primary concern,
LVCVA'’s Board Members, officers and employees shall work for the common good of the
public that LVCVA serves and not for any private or personal interest, and they shall
endeavor to ensure fair and equitable treatment of all persons, claims and transactions
coming before the Board.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019]

3. Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations.

In the performance of their duties, Board Members, officers and employees shall
comply with the laws of the United States and the State of Nevada and all applicable rules,
regulations, ordinances, codes and policies. If a Board Member, officer or employee has
any question about the applicability or meaning of any such law, rule, regulation,
ordinance, code or policy, he or she should consult with LVCVA’s General Counsel or
outside legal counsel retained by LVCVA, as appropriate.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019]
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4. Non-Disclosure of Confidential Information.

Except as required by law, no Board Member, officer or employee shall disclose
any confidential information relating directly or indirectly to LVCVA or use any such
confidential information for any purpose other than in connection with LVCVA business.
This prohibition on disclosure of confidential information shall survive the termination of
any Board Member’s, officer’s or employee’s service. For purposes of this Policy 8.01,
“confidential information” means information that is not subject to disclosure under the
Nevada Public Records Law.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019]

5. Conflicts of Interests.

The LVCVA’s Board Members, officers and employees shall be governed by the
Nevada Code of Ethical Standards in regard to conflicts of interests.

Board Members, officers, and employees shall not:

@) Seek or receive any gift, service, favor, employment, engagement, economic
opportunity, for themselves, or for any individual to whom they have a commitment in a
private capacity, which may improperly influence a reasonable person in their position to

depart from the faithful and impartial discharge of their duties.

(b) Use their position to secure or grant unwarranted privileges, preferences,
exemptions, or advantages for themselves, any individual to whom they have a
commitment in a private capacity, or any business entity in which they have a significant
pecuniary interest.

© Participate in the negotiation or execution of contracts between the LVCVA
and 1. any business entity in which they have a significant pecuniary interest; or 2. any
individual to whom they have a commitment in a private capacity.

(d) Accept any salary, expense allowance, or other unlawful compensation,
commission or personal profit from a private source, for themselves or any individual to
whom they have a commitment in a private capacity.

@] Use governmental time, property, equipment, or other facility to benefit a
significant personal or pecuniary interest of themselves or any individual to whom they
have a commitment in a private capacity unless the limited use of the governmental time,
property, equipment, or other facility is de minimis in nature and does not interfere with
the performance of their duties.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019]
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6. Disclosures and Recusals.

At the time the Board considers a matter, Board members shall disclose
information regarding the following: the acceptance of gifts or loans from any parties to
the matter; significant pecuniary interests in the matter; commitments in a private
capacity to the interests of others involved in the matter; or representation or counseling

provided to a private person for compensation before another agency in the matter
(‘Contlicts”).

Board members shall recuse from voting, and shall not advocate the passage or
failure of, any matter in which the independence of judgment of a reasonable person in
their situation would be materially affected by any Conflicts.

Board members with questions about their ethical responsibilities, including
disclosure and recusal requirements, shall consult with the General Counsel and, if
necessary, request an advisory opinion from the Nevada Commission on Ethics.

[Adopted October 8,2019]

7. Nepotism.

LVCVA Board Members, officers, and employees shall not hire any person within
the third degree of consanguinity or affinity of an LVCVA employee who works in the
following divisions/departments:  Executive Division, the Finance, Information
Technology, Purchasing and Security Departments.

Consanguinity is a blood relationship within a family. Affinity is a relationship by
marriage, adoption, or domestic partnership. Relationships within the third degree of
consanguinity or affinity include, but are not limited to, the following:

@) a person’s spouse, child, parent, sibling, half-sibling or step-relative in the
same relationship;

(b) the spouse of such person’s child, parent, sibling, half-sibling or step-
relative; and

© such person’s in-laws, aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, grandparent,
grandchild or first cousin.

Board Members, officers, and employees with questions about potential nepotism
violations shall consult with the General Counsel prior to making any hiring decisions.

[NRS 281A.400; 281A.065. Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 281A.310. Adopted
October 11, 2005. Rev. June 10, 2008; October 8, 2019]
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8. Financial Disclosure Statements.

Board Members who are subject to the requirements of Nevada law shall file
statements of financial disclosure with the Nevada Secretary of State.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. November 14, 2017; October 8, 2019]
9. Accuracy of LVCVA Records.

With respect to any records that he or she creates in connection with the
performance of his or her duties on behalf of LVCVA, each Board Member, officer and
employee shall endeavor to ensure that such records, including travel and expense
reports, are created in a truthful and accurate manner, reflecting the true nature of any
transactions that they record. The making of false or misleading entries in any record is
strictly prohibited. No Board Member, officer or employee shall make any payment or
establish any acocount on LVCVA’s behalf with the understanding that any part of such
payment or acoount is to be used for a purpose other than as described by the supporting
records. No Board Member, officer or employee shall use any fictitious entities, sales,
purchases, services, loans or other financial arrangements for any purpose relating to
LVCVA.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019]

10. Retention of LVCVA Records.

The LVCVA shall retain records in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and
regulations. All records that may be responsive to a subpoena or relevant to pending or
imminent litigation or governmental investigation or audit shall be retained until LVCVA’s
General Counsel or outside legal counsel retained by LVCVA, as appropriate, instructs
otherwise.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019]

11. Interference with or Retaliation for Disclosure of Improper Governmental
Action.

No Board Member, officer or employee shall directly or indirectly use or attempt to
use his or her official authority or influence to intimidate, threaten, coerce, command,
influence or attempt to intimidate, threaten, coerce, command or influence another Board
Member, officer or employee in an effort to interfere with or prevent the disclosure of
information concerning improper governmental action. For these purposes, use of
“official authority or influence” includes taking, directing others to take, recommending,
processing or approving any personnel action such as an appointment, promotion,
transfer, assignment, reassignment, reinstatement, restoration, reemployment,
evaluation or other disciplinary action.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019]
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12. Disciplinary Action for Violations.

Any person who violates the Nevada Code of Ethical Standards shall be subject to
disciplinary action, including, without limitation, reprimand or dismissal, in addition to
any applicable criminal, civil and administrative penalties.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019]

Policy 6.02 — Notification of Violations.

Any Board Member, officer or employee who becomes aware of any violation or
suspected violation of the Nevada Code of Ethical Standards shall report such alleged
violation either in writing to LVCVA’s General Counsel or, alternatively, through an
anonymous report to the LVCVA work place hotline. As appropriate, LVCVA’s General
Counsel shall report such alleged violation to the Board Chair, the full Board, or a
Committee designated by the Board to receive such reports, or the Chair of the Audit
Commiittee, in addition to any other notification required by law. Any violation or
suspected violation of Nevada Code of Ethical Standards involving LVCVA’s General
Counsel shall be reported directly to the Board Chair.

[Adopted October 11, 2005. Rev. October 8, 2019]
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LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY

POLICY COMMITTEE MEETING
AGENDA DOCUMENTATION

MEETING
DATE: NOVEMBER 29, 2023 ITEM B
TO:; POLICY COMMITTEE
FROM CAROLINE BATEMAN r—DocuSig‘nedby:
' GENERAL COUNSEL Carobine Baternan
SUBJECT: POLICY COMMITTEE CHARTER REVIEW AND EVALUATION OF
" COMMITTEE
RECOMMENDATION

That the Policy Committee perform its annual review of the Committee’s Charter and
evaluation of the Committee’s performance.

For possible action.

FISCAL IMPACT
None.

DocuSigned by:

[Em Wil

AG348F0DES474:

STEVE HILL

COMMITTEE CEO/PRESIDENT
ACTION: APPROVED

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND

The Policy Committee’s Charter (Charter) requires that the Committee annually review and
reassess its Charter.

The Charter also requires the Committee to evaluate its own performance on an annual
basis.



LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY
POLICY COMMITTEE CHARTER

l. Preamble

The Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority (“LVCVA”) Policy Committee
(“Committee”) is a special committee of the Board of Directors. As set forth below, the
Committee shall have the authority to recommend to the Board of Directors changes to
the LVCVA Board Policies and such other duties as the Board shall delegate.

[l. Organization

1. Charter. Annually, this Charter shall be reviewed and reassessed by the
Committee and any proposed changes shall be submitted to the Board of
Directors for approval.

2. Members.

A
ct 1 - ctt— ipnaw c o ctro— o= O C

change-committee-members-Members shall be appointed to the Committee

pursuant to LVCVA Board Policies. The Chair of the Board of Directors shall

automatically be a member of the Committee.

3. Meetings. In order to discharge its responsibilities, the Committee shall

annualy-establish-a-sehedule-ef-meetingsmeet at least one time per year upon

the call of the Committee Chair or upon the recommendation of the Chief

Executive Officer (CEQ). Additiohalmeetings-may-be-scheduled-asrequired-by

Page 1 of 3
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4. Agenda, Minutes and Reports. In consultation with the Committee Chair, the

President-CEO shall be responsible for establishing the agendas for meetings
of the Committee. An agenda, together with materials relating to the subject
matter of each meeting, shall be sent to members of the Committee prior to
each meeting. Minutes for all meetings of the Committee shall be prepared to
document the Committee’s discharge of its responsibilities. The Committee
shall make reports to the Board of Directors and seek Board approval for the

Committee’s recommendations.

Responsibilities

The following shall be the principal responsibilities of the Committee:

. LVCVA Board Policy Changes. In a public meeting, the Committee shall

consider, evaluate, and approve/reject changes, deletions or additions to the

LVCVA's Board Policies—Fhe-Committee-will-considerchanges,—deletions—or
addittons—to-the LVCVA Board-Policies_as recommended-proposed by the

members of the Board of Directors, members of the Policy Committee, the CEOQ

and-Legal-Ceunseland Staff.

. Board Approval: The Peliey—Committee will recommend to the Board of

Directors for approval any and all changes, deletions or additions to LVCVA

Board Policies approved by the Committee.

. Oversight of Policies. The Policy Committee shall oversee the development

and implementation of all LVCVA Board Policies.

. Committee Performance Evaluation. Annually, the Committee shall evaluate

its own performance.

. Access to Consultants. The Committee shall have the resources and authority

to discharge its duties and responsibilities as described herein.
Delegation. Committee may delegate any of its responsibilities to a
subcommittee comprised of one or more members of the Committee, the Board

or members of management.

. Other Duties. The Committee shall also carry out such other duties as may be

delegated to it by the Board of Directors-from-time-to-time.

Page 2 of 3
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IV. Adoption

The above and foregoing consisting of three (3) pages, including this page, were
duly and regularly adopted as the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority
Policy Committee Charter this day of , 20223.

Chair
Policy Committee

The above and foregoing consisting of three (3) pages, including this page, were
duly and regularly adopted as the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority
Policy Committee Charter this day of , 20223.

Chair
LVCVA Board of Directors
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Regular meetings of the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors
Authority (LVCVA) Board of Directors (Board) are scheduled for
the second Tuesday of each month at 9 a.m., or at the call

of the chair.

All Board meetings of the LVCVA are open to the general public.

Per NRS 354.596(4): The public hearing on the tentative budget
must be held by the governing body not sooner than the third
Monday in May and not later than the last day in May.

Agendas and approved minutes of the Board meetings are posted
on the LVCVA website at: www.lvcva.com/agenda.

Most meetings are held at the Las Vegas Convention Center in
the Board Room at 3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, Nevada
89109. Locations of meetings are subject to change.
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Audit Committee Meeting — March 13
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Introductory Message

It is my pleasure to present the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority’s
(LVCVA) Popular Annual Financial Report (PAFR) for the fiscal year (FY) ending June
30, 2023.

The PAFR summarizes the LVCVA's financial activities and performance results
gathered from our FY 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR). The
ACFR is prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP) and was audited by the firm of Eide Bailly, LLP, receiving an “unmodified” opinion. An unmodified
opinion is given when the auditor can state that the financial statements are accurately and fairly
presented, in all material aspects.

The PAFR, however, is an unaudited report and presented on a non-GAAP basis. It is a condensed and
simplified presentation and does not include all segregated funds, required presentations, all financial
statements, or notes to the financial statements. The PAFR is intended to simplify but not replace the
ACFR. Individuals desiring to view a full disclosure of our financials can obtain a copy of the ACFR at
http://www.lvcva.com/who-we-are/funding-and-finance or by contacting the Chief Financial Officer.

On behalf of the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority, | would like to thank you for taking the time
to read our PAFR. We hope this report will provide you with information about our financials and the
services we provide.

Ed Finger, CPA
Chief Financial Officer

To view this report and other financial information, including the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report, please
visit the LVCVA's website at
http://www.lvcva.com/funding-and-finance




About the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority

The LVCVA is a government agency, established by Nevada state law, primarily funded by room tax, and
governed by an autonomous board of directors. The LVCVA was created to directly drive tourism to
Southern Nevada, through ownership and operation of the Las Vegas Convention Center (LVCC), and to
enhance the marketing, sales, and advertising efforts of our resort and industry partners.

The LVCVA's board of directors serves on behalf of a broad cross-section of stakeholders within the local
tourism and business industry and includes 14 members representing Clark County and its incorporated

cities, as well as tourism, hospitality, and business leaders.

While resorts advertise and market their individual properties, the LVCVA is the marketing organization
for Southern Nevada, including the extended destinations of Laughlin, Mesquite, Boulder City, and Primm.

The LVCVA’s mission:

To attract visitors by promoting Las Vegas as the world’s most desirable destination for leisure and
business travel.

Las Vegas Strip

The LVCVA fulfills its mission though national and international advertising campaigns, sales efforts, public
relations, and special events, as well as owning and operating a convention center, which is unique to a
destination marketing organization.




Las Vegas Convention Center

The LVCC is one of the busiest convention facilities
in the world. The facility encompasses 4.6 million
square feet located within a short distance of more
than 100,000 guest rooms. The center is well
known among industry professionals for its
versatility. In addition to approximately 2.6 million
square feet of exhibit space, 200 meeting rooms
handle seating capacities ranging from 20 to 2,500.
Grand lobbies and registration areas link exhibit
halls and meeting rooms and allow simultaneous

set-up, break-down, and exhibiting of multiple events. The Wall Street Journal (WSJ) named the LVCC the
No. 1 convention center in the United States in 2023. The LVCC hosted 83 events in FY 2023.

Economic Indicators and Conditions

Room Tax

Tourism is the largest industry and economic driver in Southern Nevada. Las Vegas is the home of 18 of
the 20 largest hotels in the United States, and Southern Nevada has a hotel room inventory exceeding
160,000, with nearly 150,000 of those rooms located in the Las Vegas metropolitan area.

Top Ten Las Vegas Hotels by Number of Rooms

Estimated Rooms

12/31/22
» MGM Grand 4,997
> Luxor 4,400
> Venetian 4,029
> Aria 4,002
> Excalibur 3,981
> Bellagio 3,933
> Caesars Palace 3,794
» Circus Circus 3,763
> Resorts World 3,506
» Flamingo Las Vegas 3,446

In addition to the Las Vegas market, Laughlin has over 8,700 rooms, Jean/Primm provides over 2,600

rooms, and Mesquite has over 1,600 rooms.

22.IM

2032 Annual Total

% of Total
Rooms

3.1%
2.7%
2.5%
2.5%
2.5%
2.4%
2.4%
2.3%
2.2%
2.1%

45,694

2032 Annual Total




A 10.5%-14% room tax is imposed on lodging establishments in Clark County, Nevada, by the Nevada State
Legislature. Room tax collections are the LVCVA’s primary revenue source. However, the LVCVA benefits
from only a portion of all Southern Nevada room tax collections. The LVCVA has discretionary use of
slightly more than one-third of all room tax revenues generated, after considering collection allocation
and debt service payments for Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) projects.

Room tax is affected by the number of lodging rooms available,

ADR IMPACT occupancy rate, and average daily room rate (ADR). While room
Each $1 change in ADR changes inventory remained flat compared to FY 2022, occupancy
LVCVA room tax revenue percentage increased from 73.8% to 80.8% in FY 2023. The most

by more than $2 million annually volatile factor in calculating room taxes is ADR. ADR averaged

$155.74 in FY 2023, a 9.5% increase over $142.23 in FY 2022. This

resulted in actualized FY 2023 room tax and gaming fees of

$355.3 million, the highest level in the LVCVA's history, and an increase of $60 million, or 20.2% above the
prior year. The increase was driven by travel demand and higher ADR.

Conventions & Meetings

Facility revenues for Operations increased 9% compared to the prior year, totaling $68.1 million, as a
result of conventions rotation and the expanded exhibit space from the LVCCD Phase Two Expansion
utilized for the full fiscal year. Total expenses to operate the facility were $80.7 million, including
depreciation and amortization, an increase of 16% compared to FY 2022.

Transportation Services

Transportation services consists of the costs of the Las Vegas Loop and the Las Vegas Monorail operations.
Only the Las Vegas Monorail generates revenue, and this program revenue increased from $20.1 million
to $25.1 million in FY 2023, a 25% due to higher ridership and fare increases. Total expenses for
Transportation were $28.9 million, including depreciation and amortization, an increase of 9% compared
to FY 2022 due to increased management fees and professional services.

Financial Management and Accountability

Strategic planning is a key focus of the LVCVA. Finance staff updates long-term operating forecasts to
ensure alignment with the LVCVA's strategic objectives. Management remains vigilant to maintain fiscal
sustainability through conservative budgeting and continuous monitoring of actual financial results and
economic trends at the local, state, and national levels. The approach allows the LVCVA the ability to react
swiftly to changing conditions and sustain operations during challenging periods.

The LVCVA is dedicated to the preservation of adequate fund balances to meet operating cash flow
requirements and satisfy debt service obligations. Analysis of future intended outlays and anticipated
revenues enabled an assessment of overall financial implications, including additional funding
requirements, to be readily identified. A comprehensive, long-range pro forma, forecasting sources and
uses of funds through FY 2049 is also maintained.




Major Initiatives in FY 2023

Las Vegas Convention Center District

Currently, the most significant capital item is Phase Three of the LVCCD project, consisting of the
renovation, modernization, and addition to the existing facility to create consistency with the Phase Two
expansion which was completed in 2021. The estimated budget for Phase Three is $600 million. Phase
Three construction started in FY 2023, and is currently underway, with the most significant work occurring
between January 2024 and December 2025.

Transportation Services

The Las Vegas Monorail moved over 4.7 million passengers and generated over $25 million in revenue.

The Las Vegas Loop continues its construction of the fare-generating portion of the system, with the
Resorts World station complete and operating, and the Westgate and Encore spurs nearing completion,
all resorts with close proximity to the LVCC. Although privately owned, this connected transportation
system will support convention transportation to and from the LVCC. The LVCC portion of the Loop moved
approximately 1,000,000 passengers in its first two years of operation.

During the fiscal year, a new advertising campaign highlighted
Las Vegas as a grown-up destination, an escape from routine
and obligations. LVCVA also continued the campaign of “The
Greatest Arena on Earth,” as Las Vegas continues to add
unique sporting events to its future calendar, surrounded by
the backdrop of the Las Vegas Strip.

il A, @l The LVCVA also continued to drive the return of meetings and
Uﬂm APRORLES conventions through the “Vegas Means Business” campaign,

" i and carried out successful diversity, wedding, and extended
destination campaigns throughout the year. Special events in
the destination have continued, including returning events
such as NASCAR races, National Finals Rodeo, NFL Pro Bowl, and the Las Vegas Bowl. New events, such as
the NFL Super Bowl and Formula 1 Grand Prix, coming to the destination for the first time in FY2024.
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Principal Officials

Board of Directors

The Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority is governed by a Board of Directors consisting of fourteen
members. Eight members are elected officials of either Clark County or one of its incorporated cities. The
Las Vegas Metro Chamber of Commerce (CC) and Nevada Resort Association (NRA) nominate three each
of the remaining six members. As of June 30, 2023, members of the board included:

Commissioner Jim Gibson, Chair
Mr. Anton Nikodemus, Vice Chair

Councilwoman Pamela Goynes-Brown, Secretary

Mr. Scott DeAngelo, Treasurer
Councilman Cedric Crear
Mayor Carolyn G. Goodman
Mr. Brian Gullbrants

Ms. Jan Jones-Blackhurst
Commissioner Michael Naft
Mayor Michelle Romero
Ms. Mary Beth Sewald

Mr. Steve Thompson
Councilman Steve Walton
Councilman Brian Wursten

Senior Executive Team

Clark County

Resort Hotel Industry (NRA)
City of North Las Vegas
General Business (CC)

City of Las Vegas

City of Las Vegas

Resort Hotel Industry (NRA)
Resort Hotel Industry (CC)
Clark County

City of Henderson

Other Commercial Interests (CC)
Central Business District (NRA)
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What is the economic impact of the Las Vegas tourism industry?

544.9B

2022 Annual Total

$79.3B




Overall Financial Position

The following financial information includes a Statement of Net Position for governmental activities.
Governmental funds normally include the General Fund, Capital Funds, Debt Service Funds, Special
Revenue Funds, and certain Internal Service Funds. The LVCVA presents a General Fund, LVCCD Capital
Fund, LVCCD Debt Service Fund, Capital Projects Fund, Debt Service Fund, and Internal Service Fund. The
LVCVA does not have a special revenue fund. The General Fund is the primary operating fund for the
LVCVA. The information for revenues and expenditures is presented on a modified accrual basis.

Las Vegas Convention & Visitors Authority's
Statement of Net Position
As of June 30, 2023
Governmental Governmental
Activities Activities
FY 2022 FY 2023

ASSETS

Current and other assets S 427,881,725 || S 706,401,296

Capital assets 1,748,939,726 1,749,831,791
TOTAL ASSETS 2,176,821,451 2,456,233,087
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 42,650,935 75,517,450
LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 81,693,371 73,178,836

Noncurrent liabilities 1,768,570,583 1,956,974,347
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,850,263,954 2,030,153,183
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 82,898,484 63,879,388
NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 303,145,255 306,512,453

Restricted 54,579,329 223,364,802

Unrestricted (71,414,636) (92,159,289)
TOTAL NET POSITION S 286,309,948 S 437,717,966

The Statement of Net Position presents the LVCVA's financial position from a long-term perspective. It
reports all of the LVCVA’s assets and deferred outflows (what we have) and liabilities and deferred inflows
(what we owe), with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the LVCVA's financial position is
improving or deteriorating.




Net position is made up of three components: 1) Net investment in capital assets, which represents the
LVCVA’s investment in capital assets, less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets, 2)
Restricted net position, which reflects legal constraints from debt covenants or other restrictions that limit
the LVCVA’s ability to use those assets for day-to-day operations, and 3) Unrestricted net position,
representing accessible resources.

Explanation of Significant Differences:

Net position increased $151.4 million during FY 2023. Restricted net position increased $168.8 million,
primarily related to the issuance of $150.0 million in bonds for LVCCD Phase 3 renovation project.
Unrestricted net position deficit increased $20.7 million, primarily due to an increase in pension liabilities.

Where the Money Came From

The revenues presented below are from General Fund activities, the LVCVA’s primary operating fund. In
FY 2023, General Fund operating revenues represented 89.8% of total revenues. All amounts are reported
using the modified accrual basis of accounting, which means revenues are recognized when they become
measurable and available to pay current period liabilities. General Fund revenues increased 22% from
previous fiscal year.

General Fund
(Modified accrual basis)

REVENUES: FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 % Change
from FY 22
Room taxes $ 286,428,607 S 233,394,445 S 111,240,941 $ 294,024,289 S 353,955,723 20%
Gaming fees 1,620,485 1,409,665 1,427,732 1,376,692 1,369,217 -1%
Use of facilities 54,875,029 48,344,032 5,356,563 59,392,255 67,067,258 13%
Transportation - - 2,266,358 20,130,733 25,154,208 25%
Intergovernmental revenue - - - - 7,000,000 100%
Other fees & charges 4,107,973 4,463,495 2,005,391 2,236,044 2,388,746 7%
Interest & other 819,620 2,745,312 1,735,437 584,784 3,210,630 449%
$ 347,851,714 S 290,356,949 $ 124,032,422 $ 377,744,797 $ 460,145,782 22%

Room Taxes: Room tax revenues increased by $59.9 million, 20% above the previous fiscal year, and the
highest total room tax ever received. Occupancy percentage increased from 73.8% to 80.8% in FY 2023.
However, convention and international travel is still recovering and, although overall occupancy for the
destination continues its comeback, it remains 6.9% below pre-COVID-19 levels.

The most volatile factor in calculating room taxes is ADR. ADR averaged $155.74 in FY 2023, a 9.5%
increase over the $142.23 average for FY 2022, and 30.8% over FY 2019, the previous highest room tax
revenue year prior to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Use of Facilities: This category represents revenues generated by the operation of the LVCC. The increase
of 13% from FY 2022 is due to the continued return of convention and event activity, as well as the
expanded LVCC building space.

Transportation: This category represents revenues generated by the operation of the Las Vegas Monorail.
The increase of 25% from FY 2022 is due to both increased ridership and a rate increase during the fiscal
year.

Intergovernmental Revenue (Grant): In FY 2023, the LVCVA received a $7 million federal economic
development grant to market the destination through increased advertising. This is expected to be a non-
reoccurring event.




Other Fees & Charges: The combination of revenues from event participation, registration services,
wedding fees, and miscellaneous revenue, stayed consistent with the previous year.

Interest & Other: Interest and other includes investment interest, interest and penalties related to room
tax, and other revenues. The 449% interest increase from the prior year is primarily due to increases in
interest rates and higher cash balances from increased revenues and bond funds.

Where the Money Went

The operating expenditures presented in the following chart are from General Fund activities. The General
Fund is generally the largest source of current expenditures for the LVCVA. It is used for the general
operations and activities of the LVCVA and does not include capital, debt service, or the internal service
activities, which are accounted for in separate funds. The modified accrual basis of accounting is used for
the General Fund, which recognizes increases and decreases in financial resources only to the extent that
they reflect near-term inflows or outflows of cash.

General Fund
(Modified accrual basis)

EXPENDITURES: FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 f:/;;h::gzez
General government $ 19,536,345 $ 16,556,545 S 11,064,160 $ 15,658,529 S 17,320,029 11%
Marketing

Advertising 100,315,540 81,183,541 52,041,490 75,768,893 92,491,982 22%

Marketing and sales 38,220,616 28,462,981 8,195,538 15,846,705 24,735,165 56%

Special events grants 15,315,686 15,770,524 9,679,335 25,892,489 23,624,955 9%
Operations

Facility operations 38,729,965 40,313,033 14,397,759 37,352,645 42,573,189 14%

Transportation services - - 5,361,774 20,601,964 22,744,302 10%
Other community support 25,000,000 23,480,411 11,266,867 25,000,000 25,000,000 0%
Capital outlay - - - - 575,535 100%
Debt service - - - - 236,513 100%

$ 237,118,152 $ 205,767,035 S 112,006,923 $ 216,121,225 S 249,301,670 15%

General Government: Expenditures increased $1.6 million in FY 2023, primarily due to higher salary and
benefit costs, additional expenses for professional services, which including consulting and audit services,
and increased computer license and maintenance costs.

Marketing/Advertising and Special Events: Marketing showed an overall increase compared to the
previous fiscal year, and Advertising expenses increased 22% to continue promoting the destination. In FY
2023, special events grants decreased 9%, due to the rotation of events sponsored this year.

Electric Daisy Carnival — Special Event Allegiant Stadium in Las Vegas, NV




Operations/Transportation: Expenditures increased $5.2 million, primarily due to salaries and benefits
costs related to filling vacant positions, as well as increased utility costs. Transportation costs are related
to the operation of the Las Vegas Monorail and Vegas Loop. FY 2023 expenses increased 14%, compared
to FY 2022, resulting from management fees and other associated costs, which increased with the higher
usage of the transportation systems.

Other Community Support: Other Community Support remained the same as FY 2022. This expenditure
is collection allocation, which is a distribution of 10% of room and gaming tax revenue to the collecting
government agencies. However, state law caps the maximum funds for collection allocation returned to
the collecting entities at $25 million. Any collection allocation exceeding the cap is transferred to the
LVCCD Capital Fund in accordance with the law.

Capital Outlay and Debt Service: Capital outlay and debt service are new this fiscal year and are the result
of the implementation of GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology
Arrangements, which revised accounting and reporting of information technology contracts exceeding 12
months. The contract costs are considered capital outlay at the beginning of the contract term, and the
monthly fees are classified debt service expense.

Debt on June 30, 2023

The LVCVA issues general obligation bonds and revenue bonds to provide funding for the improvement,
acquisition, or construction of major capital assets. On June 30, 2023, the LVCVA had total outstanding
bonded debt of $1.7 billion.

Summary of Debt Instruments
(In thousands)

Revenue Medium Term
GO Bonds Total
Bonds Bonds
Principal balance, June 30, 2022 S 783,040 S 815,030 § 21,300 S 1,619,370
Principal payments (7,345) (12,770) (100) (20,215)
New issuances - 150,000 - 150,000
Principal balance, June 30, 2023 S 775,695 S 952,260 § 21,200 $ 1,749,155

Types of Debt

General Obligation (GO) Bonds: The LVCVA may issue general obligation bonds in the name of, and on
behalf of, Clark County. GO bonds are direct and general obligations of Clark County, and the full faith and
credit of the County is pledged for the payment of principal and interest, subject to certain Nevada
constitutional and statutory limitations. The GO bonds are additionally secured by a pledge of revenues
from the LVCVA. As a matter of practice, the LVCVA has never had to use property taxes for debt service,
using only net pledged revenues derived from operations.

Direct-Pay Bonds: One of the outstanding LVCVA bonds is considered a direct-pay bond, which is also
referred to as “Build America Bonds.” The LVCVA was able to obtain certain tax advantages when issuing
taxable obligations for capital projects that meet certain requirements of the U.S. Tax Code and U.S.
Treasury Regulations under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009.

Revenue Bonds: Under Nevada Law, the LVCVA may issue revenue bonds payable solely from the net
revenues derived from operations and room taxes. Revenue bonds are not general obligations of Clark
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County, and no ad valorem taxes may be levied to pay the debt service. The LVCVA’s direct placement
bond with a bank is also a revenue bond.

Medium-Term Bonds: One of the outstanding LVCVA bonds is a medium-term bond. Under NRS 350, the
LVCVA may issue negotiable notes, short-term bonds, or commercial paper with a maximum term of ten
years. These obligations are secured by all legally available funds of the LVCVA.

Bond Ratings: LVCVA bonds issued through Clark County are rated “AA+” by Standard and Poor’s (S&P)
and “Aal” by Moody’s. An “AA+” rating by S&P is equivalent to Moody’s “Aal,” an investment grade rating
reflecting a very strong capacity to meet financial commitments. LVCVA’s separate bond ratings, as of
June 30, 2023, were “AA-" by S&P and “Aa3” by Moody’s. Both ratings signify that the LVCVA is an issuer
of high quality with a low risk of default which impacts pricing and interest rates.

New and Upcoming Debt

The LVCVA issued two revenue bond series in FY 2023. In September 2022, the LVCVA issued $150,000,000
Series 2022 Revenue Bonds for the purpose of funding LVCCD Phase Three construction. The 2022B Bonds
have interest rates of 4.0-5.25%, with a final installment date of July 1, 2049. The 2022C Bonds have
interest rates of 3.5-4.25% with a final installment date of July 1, 2026.

In August 2023 (FY 2024), the LVCVA issued the final $150 million of LVCCD authorized debt in revenue
bonds, to be used for Phase Three construction.
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Kickoff of LVCCD Phase Three Renovation Project

Debt Policy

The Board of Directors has adopted a debt policy, which is applicable to all debt issuance activities of the
LVCVA. This policy establishes the requirements and procedures for ensuring compliance with federal laws
relating to issuance and post-issuance monitoring of tax-exempt bonds and taxable direct-pay bonds.

The LVCVA debt coverage ratio is 3.7x, measured as pledged revenues divided by debt service
requirements, more than double the 1.5x minimum coverage required. The LVCVA has budgeted revenues
sufficient to comply with the coverage ratios in the bond resolutions for the fiscal year ending June 30,
2024.
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Awards

PAFR

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) has given an Award
for Outstanding Achievement in Popular Annual Financial Reporting to the LVCVA for its Popular Annual
Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. The Award for Outstanding Achievement in
Popular Annual Financial Reporting is a prestigious national award recognizing conformance with the
highest standards for preparation of state and local government popular reports.

To achieve an Award for Outstanding
Achievement in Popular Annual
Financial Reporting, a government
unit must publish a Popular Annual

Financial Report (PAFR), whose G
contents conform to program g
standards of creativity, presentation,

understandability, and reader appeal. el ikl
An Award for Outstanding Award for
Achievement in Popular Annual Outstanding

Financial Reporting is valid for a period
of one year only. The LVCVA has
received a PAFR Award for the last

Achievement in
Popular Annual
Financial Reporting

sixteen consecutive years. We believe

our current PAFR continues to Prescited to

conform to the Popular Annual Lias Vegas Convention and Visitors Authorin
Financial Reporting requirements, and Nevada

we are submitting it to the GFOA for i
consideration. For e Fikeal Year Loded

ACFR dupe 3, 22

The LVCVA annual comprehensive Chctipte. P Mrnict

financial reports for the years ended s Dipeck
2019-2022, from which the
information on pages 7-11 has been
drawn, were awarded the Certificate
of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting by the
Government Finance Officers
Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA). The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form
of recognition for excellence in state and local government financial reporting. In order to be awarded a
Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR), whose contents conform to program standards. Such
ACFR must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. A
certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current ACFR
continues to conform to the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements, and we are submitting
it to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another Certificate.

We hope you found reading the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority FY 2023 PAFR both
informative and enjoyable, and we invite you to read our other financial documents along with this
document, by going to: http://www.lvcva.com/who-we-are/funding-and-finance.
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